University of Windsor Scholarship at UWindsor

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Theses, Dissertations, and Major Papers

2012

Design and Synthesis of Novel Discotic Liquid Crystals

Himadri Sekhar Kayal University of Windsor

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Kayal, Himadri Sekhar, "Design and Synthesis of Novel Discotic Liquid Crystals " (2012). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 4819.

https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/4819

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

Design and Synthesis of Novel Discotic Liquid Crystals

Ву

Himadri Sekhar Kayal

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies through the Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada

2012

© 2012 Himadri S. Kayal

Design and Synthesis of Novel Discotic Liquid Crystals

by Himadri Kayal

APPROVED BY:

K. Maly, External Examiner Wilfrid Laurier University

E. Maeva Department of Physics

J.R. Green Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry

Z. Wang Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry

S.H. Eichhorn, Advisor Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry

> Y.H. Tsin, Chair of Defense Department of Computer Science

> > March 30, 2012

Author's Declaration of Originality

I hereby certify that I am the sole author of this thesis and that no part of this thesis has been published or submitted for publication.

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, my thesis does not infringe upon anyone's copyright nor violate any proprietary rights and that any ideas, techniques, quotations, or any other material from the work of other people included in my thesis, published or otherwise, are fully acknowledged in accordance with the standard referencing practices. Furthermore, to the extent that I have included copyrighted material that surpasses the bounds of fair dealing within the meaning of the Canada Copyright Act, I certify that I have obtained a written permission from the copyright owner(s) to include such material(s) in my thesis and have included copies of such copyright clearances to my appendix.

I declare that this is a true copy of my thesis, including any final revisions, as approved by my thesis committee and the Graduate Studies office, and that this thesis has not been submitted for a higher degree to any other University or Institution.

Abstract

Columnar mesophases of discotic liquid crystals (DLCs) have attracted much attention as organic semiconductors and have been tested as active materials in light-emitting diodes, photovoltaic solar cells, and field-effect transistors. However, devices based on DLCs have shown lower performance than devices based on polymeric and small molecule glass semiconductors, despite their superior charge conducting and advantages self-organizing properties. Most DLCs also require relatively complex processing conditions for the preparation of electronic devices, which is another significant disadvantage. Consequently, new types of DLCs are sought-after to overcome these limitations and described in this thesis are new types of discotic materials and their synthesis.

Chapters 2 and 3 describe star-shaped discotic molecules for donor-acceptor columnar structures and as novel flexible core discotic molecules. Presented are the first examples of star-shaped heptamers of donor and acceptor discotic molecules which have six hexaalkoxy triphenylene ligands and a hexaazatriphenylene hexacarboxylate core or a hexaazatriphenylene hexaamide core. The hexaazatriphenylene cores were chosen because of their electron deficient character while the hexaalkoxy triphenylenes are known to be electron rich. Envisioned is the formation of super-columns in which the heptamers stack on top of each other and generate a material with electron acceptor and electron donor channels separated by aliphatic chains. This is an important difference to previously reported donor-acceptor star-shaped structures that were connected *via* conjugated linkers and do not form separate columnar stacks.

Star-shaped DLCs based on small aromatic groups linked together by short flexible spacers may represent a novel type of discotic core structure that does not require peripheral flexible chains. Softening of the core by the spacer group is expected to sufficiently lower melting points and not interfere with the columnar stacking as long as a disc-shaped structure can be adopted. Presented here are synthetic approaches towards novel hexa(thiophen-2-yl)alkyl)benzene derivatives as star-shaped hetero-heptamer discotic cores.

New ionic and polymerizable discotic liquid crystals based on the commercial dye tetraazaporphyrin are presented in Chapters 4 and 5. Both areas have been given little attention despite their importance for the preparation of stable films for devices. Tetraazaporphyrins containing azide and acetylene groups at the end of aliphatic spacers have been prepared and cross-linked by cycloaddition (click chemistry). Some derivatives form columnar mesophases and could be thermally cross-linked in their columnar mesophase and their copper catalyzed cross-linking in Langmuir and Langmuir-Blodgett layers was also successful.

Dedication

То

My father

Subodh Gopal Kayal

Acknowledgements

I feel overjoyed to acknowledge all the people who have been explicitly and implicitly involved in my life during my PhD.

First and foremost, I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Holger Eichhorn for being such a great Guide. Dr Holger is a wealth of knowledge. He always encouraged and inspired me with his intensive research capability. Dr Holger has contributed immensely in fostering my scientific point of view and enriching my research orientation. His constant direction has been significantly influential during my entire term of PhD. As an individual, he is a role model.

All the professors in the department of chemistry have held high esteem and always been encouraging to me. I am very thankful to Dr. James R. Green who helped me readily whenever I had synthetic chemistry related queries and Dr. Matthew J. Revington with NMR. The opportunity to study in University of Windsor has been magnificent. The labs had all the state of art resources and amenities one could ask for. The stay in Windsor is also very lovely and soothing.

The years spent in Windsor would not have been the same without my team mates Iqbal Mohamed, Shuai Chen and Mohammed Ahmida. They have been my friends and support during the rigorous academic endeavors. Iqbal was always there in the time of need.

It is with immense contentment I thank my family for being a pillar of support and leading me on the path of higher education in the field of Chemistry. It was my father's wish that I should go for the doctoral degree in Chemistry and I am extremely joyful to fulfill his dream. This is one of the initial stepping stone in achieving the ideals my father had in mind for me. I run out of words while expressing gratitude to my dear mother Mrs Dasabhuja Kayal who is in Kolkata, India who has been praying every moment for my wellbeing and success. I would not have been the same person that I am today without their devoted upbringing. I am also greatly indebted to the blessings and support of my uncle Hiralal Kayal and the unconditional love of my beloved sisters Raktima (BD) and Madhurima () throughout my life.

Last but not the least, I acknowledge the loving support of my wife Deepti, whom I met, courted and married during the strenuous PhD years. She was nice enough to keep up with my erratic time schedules and patiently waited for me till I reached home every day.

On a final note, I thank God for being such a positive influence throughout my life including my PhD years. In retrospect, I think of all the days of hard work that culminated this degree and end this note with a peaceful and content prayer.

Table of Contents

Author's Declaration of Originalityiii
Abstract iv
Dedication vi
Acknowledgements vi
List of Figuresxiii
List of Schemesxv
List of Tablesxix
List of Abbreviationsxx
1 Chapter 1: Introduction 1
1.1 What is a liquid crystal?1
1.2 Classification of Liquid Crystals2
1.3 Discotic Liquid crystals
1.4 Structure of Discotic Mesophases
1.5 Structures of Discotic Columnar Mesophases6
1.6 Characterization of Discotic Liquid Crystalline Phases
1.7 DLCs as Organic Semiconductors
Keterences
2 Chapter 2: Hole and Electron Conducting Star-Shaped Oligomers
2.1 Introduction
2.1.1 Star-Shaped Discotic Heptamers17
2.1.2 Hexaaztriphenylene core
2.1.3 Triphenylene Moiety
2.2 Objective
2.3 Synthesis of heteroheptamers 18a and 18b 29
2.3.1 Synthesis of hexamethyl dipyrazino[2,3-f:2',3'-h]quinoxaline-2,3,6,7,10,11-hexacarboxylate (4) 29

2.3.2	Preparation of mono functionalized triphenylene ligands 17 and 23	30
2.3.3	Synthesis of heptamer ester HE (18a).	33
2.3.4	Synthesis of 2-((9-aminononyl)oxy)-3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylene (25) and its	
amm	onia salt (23)	34
2.3.5	Synthesis of 2-((9-fluorononyl)oxy)-3,6,7,10,11-pentakis (pentyloxy) triphenylene, ammoniun	۱
salt (2	23)	36
2.3.6	Synthesis of heptamer amide (18b)	37
2.4	Mesomorphism of Heptamer ester (18a)	. 38
2.5	Conclusions	. 41
2.6	Experimental	. 41
2.6.1	Synthesis of 4-bromo benzene 1,2 diol (6) ⁹²	41
2.6.2	Synthesis of 4 bromo 1, 2 dipentyloxybenzene(7). ⁹³⁻⁹⁶	42
2.6.3	Synthesis of 3,4-dipentyloxybenzeneboronic acid(8). 97-98	42
2.6.4	Synthesis of 2-(3, 4-bis-pentyloxy-phenyl)-[1, 3, 2]-dioxaborinane(9). ^{13,99}	43
2.6.5	Synthesis of 1-pentyloxy-2-methoxybenzene(12). 24,78,100	43
2.6.6	Synthesis of 1, 2-dibromo-4-pentyloxy-5-methoxybenzene(13). 93-96	44
2.6.7	Synthesis of 4'-methoxy-3,3'',4,4'',5'-pentakis (pentyloxy)-1,1':2',1''-terphenyl (14). 39,78,100	45
2.6.8	Synthesis of 2-methoxy-3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylene (15). ^{39,78,100.}	46
2.6.9	Synthesis of 2-hydroxy,3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylene(16). ³⁹	46
2.6.1	0 Synthesis of 2-(9-hydroxynonyloxy)-3,6,7,10,11-pentakis (pentyloxy) triphenylene(17). ¹⁰¹	47
2.6.1	1 Synthesis of Star-shaped Heteroheptamer Ester (18a):	48
2.6.1	2 Synthesis of 1-azido-9-bromononane (20).	49
2.6.1	3 .Synthesis of tert-butyl (9-bromononyl)carbamate(21).	50
2.6.1	4 Synthesis of tert-butyl (9-((3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy) triphenylen-2-yl)oxy)nonyl)	
carba	mate (22)	51
2.6.1	5 Synthesis of heptamer amide(18b)	52
Refer	ences	. 56
<u>3</u> <u>C</u>	hapter 3: Inverted Discotic Liquid Crystals	62
3.1	Introduction	62
3.2	Objective	64
3.3	Synthesis of hexa(thiophenylalkyl)benzenes	65
3.4	Approach via [2+2+2] cylcotrimerization of di(thiophenylalkyl) substituted acetylenes 8	66
3.5	Outlook and Conclusions	76
3.6	Experimental	. 78
3.6.1	Preparation of (thiophen-2-yl) alkyn-1-ols (3a-f)	78
3.6.2	Synthesis of 5-(thiophen-2-yl) alkane-1-ol (4c)	80
3.6.3	Synthesis of 2-(5-bromopentyl)thiophene(5c)	81
3.6.4	Synthesis of 2-(4-bromobutyl)thiophene (5b) and 2-(3-bromopropyl)thiophene (5a)	82

3.6.5	Synthesis of 2-(alkyn-1-yl)thiophene (22a-c)	83
3.6.6	Synthesis of 1, 12-di(thiophen-2-yl)dodec-6-yne (8c)	84
3.6.7	Synthesis of 1, 4-dibromobut-2-yne	85
3.6.8	1, 4-bis (5-methylthiophen-2-yl) but-2-yne (8g)	86
Refere	nces	87

4 Chapter 4: Cross-Linking of Tetraazaporphyrins in Mesophases and at the Air-Water Interface by

Click Chemistry

4.1 Background	89
4.1.1 Mechanism of CuAAC based on DFT calculation	90
4.2 Synthesis of Tetraazaporphyrins (TAPs)	93
4.3 UV/VIS studies of TAPs	99
4.4 Cross-linking of Discotic Tetraazaporphyrin Dyes in Two and Three Dimensions by "click"	
Chemistry	100
4.5 Synthesis of TAPs	101
4.5.1 Synthesis of Maleodinitrile Derivatives	101
4.5.2 Synthesis of TAPs	105
4.6 Mesomorphism and Click Chemistry studies of 16 and 17 TAPs	107
4.7 Conclusions	112
4.8 Experimental	114
4.8.1 Synthesis of 1-bromoalkylazides 3a, 3b and 3c	114
4.8.2 Synthesis of 1,2-dicyano-1,2-bis(azido-alkylthio)ethylene (9a, 9b and 9c)	115
4.8.3 Synthesis of pent-4-yn-1-yl methanesulfonate (11a)	117
4.8.4 Synthesis of 2,3-bis(pent-4-yn-1-ylthio)maleonitrile (12a)	117
4.8.5 Synthesis of a mixture of (8-bromooct-1-yn-1-yl)trimethylsilane (13a) and 1,10-	
bis(trimethylsilyl)deca-1,9-diyne	119
4.8.6 Synthesis of 2,3-bis(oct-7-yn-1-ylthio)maleonitrile (12b)	120
4.8.7 Synthesis of octa-azide and octa-acetylene TAPs (16aH, 16bH, 16cH, 17aH, 17bH and 17cH)	122
4.8.8 Synthesis of octa-azide and octa-acetylene copper TAPs (16aCu, 16bCu, 16cCu 17aCu, 17bCu	and
17cCu) 127	
References	137
5 Chapter 5: Chromonics and Ionic Discotic Liquid Crystals	<u>141</u>

5.2	Objective	144
5.3	Synthesis of octaimidazolium TAPs	146

5.3.1	Synthesis of (Z)-3,3'-(((1,2-dicyanoethene-1,2-diyl)bis(sulfanediyl))bis(octane-8,1-diyl))bis(1-	
meth	yl-1H-imidazol-3-ium) bromide 6a and 2,3-bis((11-(1H-imidazol-1-yl)undecyl)thio)maleonitrile (5b
	146	
5.4	Synthesis of octa imidazole TAPs	. 147
5.5	Conclusions and Future Work:	. 148
5.6	Experimental	. 150
5.6.1	Synthesis of 2,3-bis((8-bromooctyl)thio)maleonitrile 5	. 150
5.6.2	Synthesis of (Z)-3,3'-(((1,2-dicyanoethene-1,2-diyl)bis(sulfanediyl))bis(octane-8,1-diyl))bis(1-	
meth	ıyl-4,5-dihydro-1H-imidazol-3-ium) bromide 6a	. 150
5.6.3	Synthesis of 11-(1H-imidazol-1-yl)undecan-1-ol 12	. 151
5.6.4	Synthesis of 11-(1H-imidazol-1-yl)undecyl methanesulfonate 13	. 152
5.6.5	Synthesis of 2,3-bis((11-(1H-imidazol-1-yl)undecyl)thio)maleonitrile 6b	. 153
5.6.6	Synthesis of TAPs	. 154
Refe	rences	. 156
<u>6</u> <u>C</u>	hapter 6: Conclusions and Future Work	<u>. 157</u>
Appe	endix	. 160
Chen	nicals	. 160
Instr	umentation	160
Conv	right Dormissions	167
	וואסוטוסוואסוטוסוואסוטוסוואסוטוסוואסוטוסוואסוטוסוואסוטוסוואסוטוסוואסוטוסוואסוטו	. 102
\ <i>!</i> :-		466
vita I	AUCTORIS	<u>. 166</u>

List of Figures

Figure 1-1: Different states of matter and molecular ordering. ⁶ 1
Figure 1-2: General classification of the different liquid crystalline phases. ⁶
Figure 1-3: General design of DLCs and first discotic liquid crystalline molecules reported by Chandrashekar
Figure 1-4: Typical linking groups between discotic core and flexible side-chains of discotic molecules.5
Figure 1-5: Examples of different central cores of known discotic liquid crystals. ¹⁹
Figure 1-6: Schematic representations of (a) hexagonal, (b) rectangular, (c) oblique, (d) hexagonal plastic, (e) helical, (f) lamellar and (g) tetragonal columnar mesophases. ¹⁸
Figure 1-7: Different types of Col, mesophases: a) Col, (P2 ₁ /a), b) Col, (P2/a) and c) Col, (C2/m). ⁶
Figure 1-8: Schematic view of charge migration in a hexagonal columnar mesophase. ¹⁸
Figure 1-9: Anisotropic charge conduction and alignment of DLCs. A) homogeneous (edge-on) or parallel alignment for devices such as FETs and TFTs; B) homeotropic (face-on) or vertical alignment for (opto)electronic devices such as OLEDs and photovoltaic cells. ²⁰
Figure 2-1: Examples of star-shaped discotic heptamers. ¹⁶⁻²⁰
Figure 2-2: Examples of electron rich (p-type) DLC's based on (30) triphenylenes, ¹⁶ (31) truxenes, ²¹ oxatruxenes ²² and thiatruxenes ²³ ; and (32) five or six fold (phenylethynyl) substituted benzene. ²⁴⁻²⁷ 19
Figure 2-3: Examples of electron acceptors based on hexaazatriphenylene cores (33-35); ^{16,28-30} perfluorotriphenylene (36); ¹⁶ 11,11,12,12-tetracyananthraoquinodimethane (TCAQ) (37); ³¹ and 7,7,8,8-tetracyanoquinodimethane (TCNQ) (38). ³²
Figure 2-4: Triphenylene core
Figure 2-5: Simplified cartoon of a photovoltaic device containing star-shaped heteroheptamers self- organized and self-aligned into nano-separated columns of acceptor hexaazatriphenylenes (red) and donor triphenylene ligands (grey)
Figure 2-6 :Phase behavior of 18a as determined by POM, DSC and XRD (Temperature in ^o C and enthalpy in kJ/mol). Pictures obtained from POM at 28°C
Figure 2-7 :Powder VT-XRD pattern of 18a. The y-axis has been shifted for clarity
Figure 2-8 :UV/VIS Spectra of thin films of 18a on quartz40
Figure 2-9: ¹ H-NMR of Heptamer Ester 18a (in CDCl ₃)54
Figure 2-10: ¹³ C NMR of Heptamer Ester 18a (in CDCl ₃)54
Figure 2-11: ¹ H-NMR of Heptamer Amide 18b (in CDCl ₃)55

Figure 2-12: ¹³ C NMR of Heptamer Amide 18b (in CDCl ₃)
Figure 3-1: Known star-like substituted hexaarylbenzene-based DLCs 28a-f, ¹¹ 29a-d, ¹¹ 30a-c ¹² and 31a-c. ¹²
Figure 3-2: Reported inverted discotic liquid crystals 32 and 33. Cartoon of a conventional macrocycle A that is unfavoured because of the large cavity within the macrocycle and the inverted macrocyclic structure B. ^{6, 13-16}
Figure 3-3:Proposed inverted discotic liquid crystals based on hexathiophenylalkyl substituted benzenes 24
Figure 3-4: General reaction mechanism for metal catalyzed [2+2+2] cycloadditions of substituted acetylenes. ³¹
Figure 4-1 :Uncatalyzed and catalyzed 1,3-dipolar cycloadditions of azides and alkynes. ¹² 89
Figure 4-2: Proposed mechanism of Cu mediated azide-alkyne 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition (CuAAC). ⁹ 90
Figure 4-3: Alteration of symmetrically substituted phthalocyanines via multi click chemistry. ⁴⁶
Figure 4-4: General structures of phthalocyanine, porphyrin and tetraazaporphyrin cores
Figure 4-5: Proposed reaction mechanism for the formation of TAPs from maleodinitriles in the presence of magnesium <i>n</i> -propanolate. ⁵⁹
Figure 4-6:Examples of different octakis(octylthio)tetraazaporphyrins96
Figure 4-7: Preparation of unsymmetrically substituted TAPs 21a-b, 22a-b and 23a-e and tetrapyrazino TAPs 24a-e. Reaction conditions: a.CrCl ₂ , trichlorobenzene, n-BuOH, 190 °C, 7 hrs; b. NBS, rt., CHCl ₃ , 15 mins; c. Pd(PPh ₃) ₄ , toluene, DMF, K ₂ CO ₃ ; d. AcOH; e. MX ₂ , DBU, n-C ₅ H ₁₁ OH
Figure 4-8: Preparation of octaphenyl tetrapyrazino TAPs 25 and triphenylene TAPs 26. Reaction conditions: a. AcOH; b. MX_2 , DBU, n-C ₅ H ₁₁ OH; c. VOF ₃ , BF ₃ / Et ₂ O, CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt., 45 mins; d. MCl ₂ , DBU, 2 methylbutan-2-ol, 72 hrs
Figure 4-9: Representative UV-VIS spectra of a copper metallated (solid) and a metal-free TAP (dashed). 99
Figure 4-10: Cross-linking of TAPs 16 and 17 by CuAAC in two dimensions (A) and structures of all synthesized TAPs
Figure 4-11:TGA graph of TAPs 16a-cCu
Figure 4-12: Phase behaviour of TAPs as determined by POM, DSC, and XRD. Transition temperatures are given in °C and enthalpies in kJ/mol. (POM) indicates that transition temperatures are obtained by POM and are not observed by DSC. Col _h and Col _r are columnar mesophases of hexagonal and rectangular

Figure 4-13: IR (film on KBr) of a 1:1 mixture of TAPs 16bH and 17aH (black) and of the same mixture as Langmuir film after cross-linking by CuAAC (0.638 x 10⁻³ M copper (II) acetate and 1.92 x 10⁻³ M sodium

symmetry, respectively, and soft crystal phase of columnar structure are designated as Col_{sc}......108

ascorbate) for 200 minutes (red) and transfer onto a KBr disk. The progress of CuAAC is monitored by the decrease of the N ₃ and C≡C stretching absorptions at 2100 cm ⁻¹ (arrow) and no further change was observed for reaction times long than 200 minutes. All L film work was performed by Mohamed M. Ahmida
Figure 4-14: Cartoon of cross linking patterns of octa-azide and -acetylene TAPs in a Langmuir Film110
Figure 4-15: IR spectra of a 1:1 mixture of TAPs 16aCu and 17aCu as thin film on a KBr disk after heat treatment at 65 °C for specific periods of time. No further change was observed for heat treatments longer than 48 hrs
Figure 4-16: Powder XRD patterns of a 1:1 mixture of 16aCu and 17aCu at 65 °C over 44 hours. The y-axis has been shifted for clarity
Figure 4-17: ¹ H-NMR of 16bH (in CDCl ₃)130
Figure 4-18: ¹³ C-NMR of 16bH (in CDCl ₃)
Figure 4-19: ¹ H-NMR of 16cH (in CDCl ₃)132
Figure 4-20: ¹³ C-NMR of 16cH (in CDCl ₃)133
Figure 4-21: ¹ H-NMR of 17aH (in CDCl₃)134
Figure 4-22: ¹³ C-NMR of 17aH (in CDCl ₃)
Figure 4-23: ¹ H-NMR of 17bH (in CDCl₃)
Figure 4-24: ¹³ C-NMR of 17bH (in CDCl ₃)
Figure 5-1: Examples of known chromonic molecules ⁵ 141
Figure 5-2: N and M phases of chromonics. ³
Figure 5-3:Examples of ionic discotic liquid crystals: 16) triphenylene-substituted imidazolium salts; ⁶ 143
Figure 5-4: Ionic liquid crystals that form thermotropic mesophases of columnar structure ¹²⁻¹⁵ 144
Figure 5-5: Electrostatic and LB Deposition of Polyionic TAPs. Cartoons of A. formation of monolayers B. alternating deposition of acidic and basic TAPs (15b and 14b) by LB monolayers. C. electrostatic layer- by-layer deposition by combination of TAPs 15a and 14a or TAPs 14b and 15b

List of Schemes

Scheme 2.1 Synthesis of HAT derivatives.	20
Scheme 2.2: Synthesis of liquid crystalline HAT derivatives, R=OC ₆ H ₁₃	21
Scheme 2.3:Synthesis of hexaazatriphenylenehexacarbonitrile and its derivatives	22
Scheme 2.4: Synthesis of dendritic HAT derivatives	23
Scheme 2.5: Synthesis of HAT derivatives with alternating electron donating and withdrawing substituents (8) and hexathioether substituents (9) ⁵⁹	23
Scheme 2.6:Synthesis of hexacarboxamido derivatives of HAT	24
Scheme 2.7:Synthesis of all aromatic HAT derivatives that form columnar mesophases	24
Scheme 2.8: Synthetic routes to prepare hexaalkoxytriphenylenes: a. Chloranil, H ₂ SO ₄ ; b. BBr ₃ or HBr RBr, base; d. TMSI, e. TBAF, RBr; f. MoCl ₃ or VoCl ₃ or FeCl ₃ , CH ₂ Cl ₂	r; c. 26
Scheme 2.9: Synthetic routes toward the formation of monohydroxy-pentaalkoxytriphenylenes: a. bromocatecholborane, b. lithium diphenylphosphide; c. FeCl ₃ , CH ₂ Cl ₂	27
Scheme 2.10: General scheme for both transesterification and amidation of 4	29
Scheme 2.11: Synthesis of hexamethyl dipyrazino[2,3-f:2',3'-h]quinoxaline-2,3,6,7,10,11- hexacarboxylate 4	30
Scheme 2.12: Synthesis of boronic ester derivative 9	31
Scheme 2.13:Synthesis of 1,2-dibromo-4-methoxy-5-pentyloxybenzene 13	31
Scheme 2.14: Synthesis of 2-methoxy-3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylene 15	32
Scheme 2.15: Synthesis of 9-((3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylen-2-yl)oxy)nonan-1-ol 17	32
Scheme 2.16: Synthesis of heptamer ester 18a	33
Scheme 2.17: Synthesis of tert-butyl (9-bromononyl)carbamate 21	34
Scheme 2.18: General mechanism for Mitsunobu reaction between carboxylic acid and alcohol	35
Scheme 2.19: Mechanism of azidation reaction of alcohol using DPPA	35
Scheme 2.20: Synthesis of 2-((9-fluorononyl)oxy)-3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylene,	36
Scheme 2.21:Synthesis of 9-((3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylen-2-yl)oxy)nonan-1-amine 25	537
Scheme 2.22: Synthesis of heptamer amide 18b	37
Scheme 3.1: Typical synthetic route to prepare hexa(thiophenylalkyl) substituted benzene derivative 24a-e. a) [2+2+2] cylcotrimerization of di(thiophenylalkyl) substituted acetylenes 8a-e and b) hexa-Sonogashira reaction followed by hydrogenation of alkyne groups to generate the final products 24a	e.
	66

Scheme 3.2: Synthesis of bromoalkyl thiophenes 5. Reaction conditions: a. PdCl ₂ (PPh ₃) ₂ , CuI, [CH ₃ (CH ₂) ₁₅] ₄ NCl, aq. 2-ethanolamine, THF, 60 °C, 14 hrs. ⁵ b. H ₂ , 10% Pd/C, MeOH, rt, 4 days; ⁵ c. PBr ₃ , THF, 0°C-rt, 5 hrs. Yields for 5a and 5b are based on two reactions67
Scheme 3.3: Confirmation of the formation of dilithium acetylene by trapping it with dimethyldichlorosilane to generate acetylenic dimethylchlorosilane (ADCS) and reaction scheme to prepare 1, 8-di(thiophen-2-yl)oct-4-yne 8a <i>via</i> dilithium acetylide reaction with 2.2 eq. of 5a.; Reaction conditions: a. 3 equiv. <i>n</i> BuLi, 1:1 Et ₂ O : THF, -78°C-rt, 12 hrs. b. 4 equiv. Me ₂ SiCl ₂ , Et ₂ O, 0 °C- rt, 8 hrs . ¹⁸
Scheme 3.4: Attempted conversion of 2-(3-bromopropyl)thiophene 5a with in situ formed propynyllithium 10 and subsequent alkyne metathesis. Reaction conditions: a. nBuLi 2.2 equiv., THF, -78 °C, 2 hrs ; b. (1) CeCl ₃ , -78 °C, 1 h; (2) 1 h, -78-20 °C; (3) aqueous saturated NH ₄ Cl; c. (1) aldehyde or Weinreb amide, 1 h, -78-20 °C; (2) aqueous saturated NH ₄ Cl; d. (1) ZnCl ₂ , -20 °C, 15 min; (2) 5 mol % Pd(PPh ₃) ₄ , 0 °C, 30 mins; (3) aqueous saturated NH ₄ Cl. ¹⁹ f. 10 mol% (^t BuO) ₃ W≡CCMe ₃ , toluene, 100 °C, 10 hrs. ²⁰
Scheme 3.5: Synthesis of 1, 4-bis(5-methylthiophen-2-yl)but-2-yne by substitution of 1,4-dibromobut-2- yne with thiophene metal salts
Scheme 3.6: Reaction conditions: a,b. TBDMSCl, imidazole, N,N-4-dimethylaminopyridine, DCM, rt., 3 hrs; c. BuLi, HMPA, 0 °C, d. TBAF, THF, rt.; e. PBr ₃ ,THF, rt.; f. thiophene, nBuLi, Et ₃ N, MgBr ₂ , -78 °C72
Scheme 3.7: Reaction conditions: a. Trimethylsilylacetylene, <i>n</i> BuLi, HMPA, THF, -78 °C; e. K ₂ CO ₃ , MeOH, rt, 24 hrs f. <i>n</i> BuLi, HMPA, 0 °C, 2.5 days72
Scheme 3.8: Some representative examples of [2+2+2] cyclotrimerization of acetylene derivatives. Reaction conditions: a. Me ₃ SiCl, 10% Pd/C, THF, refl. 96 hrs; ²¹ b. 5 mol% PdCl ₂ , 3 equiv. CuCl ₂ , MeCN, rt, 10 hrs; ²² c. 5 mol% PdCl ₂ , 2 equiv. CuCl ₂ , 2 equiv. NaOAc, benzene/nBuOH (50:3), 40°C, 4 hrs; ²³ d. 3 mol% PdCl ₂ (PhCN) ₂ , DME, 0°C - rt , 6 hrs; ²⁴ e. 5 mol% Co ₂ (CO) ₈ , dioxane, reflux; ¹² f. 8 mol% RhCl ₃ ·3H ₂ O, 30 mol % iPr ₂ NEt ₃ , isopropanol, refl., 24 hrs. ¹⁴
Scheme 3.9: Attempted cyclizations of 8c and 8g74
Scheme 3.10: Hexa Sonogashira reactions of hexabromo benzene with 4pentyne or 22a. Reaction conditions: a: PdCl ₂ (PPh ₃) ₂ , CuI, [CH ₃ (CH ₂) ₁₅] ₄ NCl, aq. 2-ethanolamine, THF, 60 °C , b: Pd (PPh ₃) ₄ , Et ₃ N, CuI, THF, refl.; c: PdCl ₂ (PPh ₃) ₂ ,CuI, (<i>i</i> Pr) ₂ NH, THF:toluene, refl. d: H ₂ , 10% Pd/C, EtOAc, rt. ^{17, 26-29}
Scheme 3.11: Proposed synthesis of 24d Reaction conditions: a. nBuLi, ZnCl ₂ ; b. Pd(PPh ₃) ₄ , Et ₃ N, CuI, THF, refl. c. H ₂ , 10% Pd/C, EtOAc, rt. ; d. 4 mol % PdCl ₂ (CH ₃ CN) ₂ , 8 mol % X-Phos, 3 mol CuI , (<i>i</i> Pr) ₂ HN, dioxane, 80°C77
Scheme 4.1: Synthesis of Maleodinitrile Derivatives 9a-c
Scheme 4.2: Synthesis of Maleodinitrile Derivatives 12a-c104
Scheme 4.3: Synthesis of TAPs with azide and acetylene end-groups

Scheme 5.1: Reaction of methyl imidazole with dibromo octane	147
Scheme 5.2: Preparation of octa imidazole and imidazolium TAPs	148
Scheme 6.1: Proposed synthesis of 24d Reaction conditions: a. nBuLi, ZnCl ₂ ; b. Pd(PPh ₃) ₄ , Et ₃ N, Cul, refl. c. H ₂ , 10% Pd/C, EtOAc, rt. ; d. 4 mol % PdCl ₂ (CH ₃ CN) ₂ , 8 mol % X-Phos, 3 mol Cul , (<i>i</i> Pr) ₂ HN, dic	THF, oxane,
80°C	158

List of Tables

Table 3.1: Different conditions that were tested for the synthesis of 1,8-di(thiophen-2-yl)oct-4-yne68
Table 3.2: Different conditions tested for the conversion of 5a with propynyllithium to form compound
11a
Table 3.3: Tested reaction conditions for the trimerization of compounds 8c and 8g. 75

List of Abbreviations

- ¹³CNMR carbon 13 nuclear magnetic resonance magnetic resonance
- ¹HNMR proton nuclear magnetic resonance magnetic resonance
- Ar aromatic
- br broad
- BOC tert-Butyloxycarbonyl
- BuLi butyllithium
- CDCl₃ chloroform-d
- $\mathsf{CHCl}_3\text{-}\mathsf{chloroform}$
- Col columnar phase
- Col_h hexagonal columnar phase
- Col_{hd} hexagonal disordered columnar phase
- Col_{ho} hexagonal ordered columnar phase
- Col_l lamellar columnar phase
- Col_{ob} oblique columnar phase
- Col_p plastic columnar phase
- Col_r rectangular columnar phase
- Col_{tet} tetragonal columnar phase
- CuAAC copper catalyzed azide-alkyne 1, 3-dipolar cycloaddition

°C - degrees of Celsius

- d doublet
- δ chemical shift in ppm
- dd doublet of doublet
- DCM dichloromethane
- DIAD diisopropyl azo dicarboxylate
- DLCs discotic liquid crystal
- DMF dimethyl formamide
- DMSO dimethyl sulfoxide
- DPPA diphenyl phosphoryl azide
- DSC differential scanning calorimetry
- eqiv. equivalent
- FET field effect transistor
- HAT hexaazatriphenylene
- HMPA hexamethylphosphoramide
- HPLC high performance liquid chromatography

hrs - hours

- iDLC ionic discotic liquid crystal
- IR infrared spectroscopy
- L Langmuir
- LB Langmuir Blodgett
- LCs liquid crystals
- LCD liquid crystal display
- LED light emitting diode
- m multiplet

mol.sieve - molecular sieve

- N* chiral nematic
- NMR nuclear magnetic resonance
- OLED organic light emitting diode
- p pentate
- Pcs phthalocyanines
- piDLC polyionic discotic liquid crystal
- POM polarizing optical microscopy
- PPh₃ triphenylphosphine
- ppm parts per million
- q quartet
- refl. reflux
- rt- room temperature
- SAM self assembled monolayer
- t-BOC tertbutoxycarbonyl
- TAPs tetraazaporphyrins
- Temp temperature
- TFA trifluoroacetic acid
- TFAA trifluoroacetic acetate
- THF tetrahydrofuran
- TLC thin layer chromatography
- TMSA trimethylsilylacetylene
- TP triphenylene
- tt triplet of triplets

XRD - x-ray diffraction

1 Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 What is a liquid crystal?

Liquid crystals (LCs) are materials that have both order and mobility on a molecular, supramolecular level as well as macroscopic level. They are best known as active components in liquid crystal displays (LCDs) but many other commercial applications exist. LCs form phases that are intermediate between crystalline phases and the isotropic liquid phase, which is why they belong to a class of materials called mesophases (Fig. 1.1). In conventional crystals all molecules are arranged in a defined pattern that has long-range three dimensional orientational and positional orders. In contrast, isotropic liquids have no long-range positional and orientational order. Liquid crystals have at least long-range orientational order in one dimension and do not have 3-dimensional long-range positional order. Consequently, the least ordered LC phase has no long-range positional but long-range orientational order in one dimension (nematic phase), while the most ordered LC phases have 2-dimensional long-range positional and orientational positional order but remain less ordered than crystalline phases, such as plastic crystal phases and lamellar (or smectic) crystal phases, are also categorized as mesophases but not as liquid crystal phases.¹⁻¹²



Temperature, mobility

Figure 1-1: Different states of matter and molecular ordering.⁶

1.2 Classification of Liquid Crystals

Because of their orientational order many liquid crystal phases show anisotropic properties, similar to many crystal phases, but flow like liquids that usually have isotropic properties. Since their first discovery in 1888, many different LC phases have been described and can be separated into two main groups, thermotropic and lyotropic LCs (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1-2: General classification of the different liquid crystalline phases.⁶

Thermotropic LCs may be pure or mixtures of compounds that form LC phases at specific temperatures and in the absence of any solvents. Lyotropic LCs are mixtures of at least one solute and one solvent that display LC phases depending on concentration and temperature. Thermotropic LCs are further subcategorized based on their molecular shape (calamitic or rod-like, discotic or disc-like, and bent-core or banana-like) and the supramolecular structure of their mesophases (nematic, smectic or

lamellar, columnar, and cubic). Hundreds of books and review articles have been published on LCs and the interested reader is referred to them for more details on synthesis, properties, and applications of mesophases not covered here.¹⁻¹⁰ The intention of the remaining parts of this introductory chapter is to provide the reader with a brief introduction into molecular design, mesomorphism, characterization, and electronic properties of discotic liquid crystals (DLCs). Synthesis and mesomorphism of the three classes of discotic compounds this thesis contributes to, discotic tetraazaporphyrins (TAPs), discotic starshaped oligomers, and ionic DLCs, will be introduced at the beginning of their respective chapters.

1.3 Discotic Liquid crystals

Indian scientist Sivaramakrishna Chandrasekhar and co-workers at the Raman Research Institute, India were first to report disc-like compounds (discotic) as LCs in 1977.¹³ They synthesized a number of benzene hexa-n-alkanoate derivatives and confirmed their LC properties employing optical, thermodynamic and X-ray studies. Chandrasekhar published... "....what is probably the first observation of thermotropic mesomorphism in pure, single component system of relatively simple plate like or more appropriately disk-like molecules" (Figure 1.3).¹³

The spontaneous self-organization behavior of disk-like (discotic) molecules opened up an entirely new class of LCs where molecules stack like plates to form 1-dimensional columns which are further self-organized into various two dimensional arrays. The third dimension remains void of any translational order. Generally, one can classify discotic mesophases into four major classes: Nematic, ¹⁴ smectic, ¹⁵ cubic ¹⁶ and columnar phases of which columnar mesophases are the by far most common discotic phases.^{15, 17-20} A few examples of nematic discotic mesophases exist while very few smectic and cubic discotic phases have been reported. A DLC usually displays only one of the aforementioned four types of discotic mesophases and very few DLCs are known that show two of these mesophases (e.g. hexaalkanoates and benzoates of truxene form columnar and nematic phases).^{18, 20, 21, 34, 36}



Figure 1-3: General design of DLCs and first discotic liquid crystalline molecules reported by Chandrashekar.

No single DLC has been reported to display more than two of these mesophases. However, DLCs that display more than one type of columnar mesophase are more common (columnar polymesomorphism).

1.4 Structure of Discotic Mesophases

A typical DLC has a central discotic core (usually aromatic) that is peripherally substituted by at least 3 flexible chains and the overall molecule often has two-, three-, four- and six-fold rotational symmetry. DLCs with lower symmetry and with non-aromatic cores have also been reported but are not common mainly because the synthetic approaches to these molecules are often more complex (Fig. 1.4).

The π - π stacking interactions between discotic cores often defines the weakly attractive stacking forces in columnar mesophases, although linking groups may play an important role if they engage in dipole-dipole interactions (e.g. carbonyl groups) or H-bonding (e.g. amide groups). The surrounding side-chains have two functions: they lower melting points and increase fluidity and they induce microphase segregation between cores and side-chains, which significantly promotes columnar stacking.



Figure 1-4: Typical linking groups between discotic core and flexible side-chains of discotic molecules.

Linking groups influence the properties of side-chains because they define the geometry and flexibility of their attachment but are usually considered to be a part of the core interactions.



Figure 1-5: Examples of different central cores of known discotic liquid crystals.¹⁹

A large number of discotic cores (Figure. 1.5) and linking groups have been reported while sidechains are mainly limited to aliphatic chains (linear and branched) and polyethers. Some examples with fluorinated side-chains²² have been reported and some side-chains have been functionalized, usually terminally, with groups such as OH, CN, and vinyl. ²³⁻³⁰

1.5 Structures of Discotic Columnar Mesophases

In fluid columnar discotic mesophases the molecules self-organize into 1-dimensional stacks on average but their exchange between columns, flipping within columns and rotation about the stacking axis remain fast and their intra-columnar stacking distances oscillate. If no reflection for the intracolumnar stacking is observed by X-ray diffraction these columnar mesophases have historically been called "disordered".



Figure 1-6: Schematic representations of (a) hexagonal, (b) rectangular, (c) oblique, (d) hexagonal plastic, (e) helical, (f) lamellar and (g) tetragonal columnar mesophases. ¹⁸

Increase of the size of the DLC and/or incorporation of additional intracolumnar intermolecular interactions slows down or freezes in molecular motion at a given temperature and the mesophases show higher stacking order. These changes occur gradually but the appearance of a reflection peak in

the wide-angle X-ray diffraction pattern has often been considered to be sufficient for calling the columnar mesophase "ordered".

The columnar stacks themselves self-organize into different 2D lattices shown in Figure 1.6. Most common is the least ordered uniaxial hexagonal columnar mesophase (Col_h) followed by biaxial rectangular (Col_r) and oblique columnar mesophases (Col_{ob}). Only few examples have been reported for plastic (Col_p), helical (H), square or tetragonal (Col_{tet}), and lamellar (Col_l) columnar mesophases.

Hexagonal packing of molecular columns is the typical feature of hexagonal columnar mesophases (Col_h). The planar space group of a Col_h mesophase is P6/mmm and sometimes the intracolumnar stacking order or disorder is denoted as Col_{ho} and Col_{hd} , respectively.^{31,32}



Figure 1-7: Different types of Col, mesophases: a) Col, (P2₁/a), b) Col, (P2/a) and c) Col, (C2/m).⁶

The columnar rectangular mesophases characterized by rectangular packing of molecular columns consist of aromatic cores that are titled with regard to the stacking axis. Three different planar space groups exist for rectangular columnar mesophases that are illustrated in Fig. 1.7. However, distinction between the three different phases based on X-ray diffraction data is often difficult because of insufficient numbers of observed reflections.^{33,34}

Another columnar mesophase with elliptic cross sections is the oblique phase Col_{ob} . The planar space group of a Col_{ob} mesophase is *P*1 and the required strong core-core interactions make this mesophase relatively rare. ^{35, 36}

In columnar plastic mesophases (Col_p) columns are packed in two dimensional hexagonal lattices where the molecules have the ability to rotate about the columnar axis, although they are distinguished by three dimensional crystal-like orders of the centre of mass of the molecules. Unlike Col_h , lateral and axial displacements of the constituent molecules are not found in Col_p mesophase. ^{31, 37}

The columnar helical phase (H) is displayed by only few triphenylene derivatives such as triphenylene ester derivatives and hexahexylthiotriphenylene, where intracolumnar helicoidal stacking of the triphenylene core is observed, keeping the helical period being disproportionate with the intracolumnar spacing. Also, frustration because of molecular interdigitation in triangular symmetry results in the formation of three column super lattices in the H mesophase.^{38, 39}

In the columnar lamellar phase (Col_L), columns of stacked discotic molecules are arranged in layers but the columns in different layers are devoid of any positional symmetry and the columns within layers can slide.^{40, 41}

Finally, the arrangement of upright columns in a square lattice is characteristic of the columnar square (or tetragonal) phase (Col_{tet}). This mesophase is displayed by a very small number of phthalocyanine derivatives and sugar molecules.^{42, 43}

1.6 Characterization of Discotic Liquid Crystalline Phases

Bulk behavior of discotic and all other mesogens is generally studied by polarized optical microscopy (POM), differential scanning calorimetry (DSC), and small and wide angle X-ray scattering (SAXS and WAXS). However, many other techniques such as solid state NMR, dilatometry, dielectric spectroscopy, and electron diffraction have significantly contributed to today's understanding of these materials. In POM the material is viewed in transmission or reflective mode under crossed polarized conditions while heated and cooled within a variable temperature stage.^{2, 16, 44} This method is particularly sensitive to phase transitions that are indicated by discontinuous changes in birefringence,

8

texture, and fluidity. Crystalline phases are recognized by their geometric shapes and hardness. Crystal mesophases may have a similar appearance as crystal phases but usually deform under pressure while liquid crystal mesophases appear more fluid like, although their viscosity can be high. Most of the aforementioned phases are bifringent while the isotropic liquid phase is not easily identified. POM requires 0.5 mg or less of the material and also helps with the identification of inorganic impurities (e.g. silica and dust) as well as remaining solvent and lower melting organic impurities. POM is usually performed as the first characterization step.

DSC can easily cover a wide temperature range -150°C to 550°C and provides information on transition temperatures and enthalpies.^{1-10,45-49} Glass transitions are also identified if sufficiently large. About 2 mg of sample is run in a small aluminum crucible and the quality of the obtained data depends on the sample preparation as well as the heating/cooling method. Several heating/cooling runs of different rates are usually conducted to probe reproducibility and find optimum settings. Molar enthalpies calculated from the integrated peaks reveal information about the two involved phases; a large transition enthalpy indicates major changes in the molecular arrangement and dynamic (e.g. crystalline to liquid crystalline) while small transition enthalpies are characteristic for transitions between different crystal phases or different liquid crystal phases.

Ultimate phase assignment often relies on X-ray diffraction data especially when different smectic and discotic mesophases are involved, because their differences in defect textures observed by POM are not sufficiently characteristic.^{6,16,50,51} However, the information provided by 1-dimensional X-ray diffraction of liquid crystal mesophases is often limited because only a small number of reflections are observed. 2-Dimensional X-ray diffraction of aligned samples is a common remedy as it retains some of the spatial information. Especially the phase identification of higher ordered columnar mesophases often requires 2-dimensional diffraction data of aligned samples.

9

1.7 DLCs as Organic Semiconductors

Incorporation of organic molecules as an active material in electronic devices has drawn enormous scientific and industrial attention. Organic compounds with semiconducting properties originating from conjugated materials are essential to the manufacturing of these devices. Most prominent are organic semiconductors based on π conjugated polymers and small molecule glasses, and commercial devices based on these materials are already on the market, albeit as niche products. Semiconductors based on π - π stacked discotic materials have been tested in different devices such as LEDs, FETs or photovoltaic cells, but their performance is not yet competitive despite their often better charge conducting properties.

Charge conduction preferentially occurs along the self-organized columnar stacks of discotic molecules and is mediated by overlapping π -systems (intracolumnar stacking distance around 3.5 Å). Charge carrier mobility values of >1 cm²v⁻¹s⁻¹ have been reported for both electrons and holes.^{6,18-20} Expectedly, transport of charge carriers orthogonal to the columnar stacks is much slower (at least by a factor of 10³) mainly because the columnar stacks are usually separated by "insulating" aliphatic side-chains (Fig. 1.8). The intercolumnar spacing is usually in the range of 20-40 Å, ^{6,18-20} which is too large for tunneling processes and requires high activation energy for charge hopping.



Figure 1-8: Schematic view of charge migration in a hexagonal columnar mesophase.¹⁸

This anisotropy of charge conduction requires an alignment of the columnar mesophase, which is one of the hurdles for commercial application of these materials. For devices such as FETs and TFTs the columns should be parallel to the substrate and orthogonal to the electrodes coated onto the substrate whereas in OLEDs and photovoltaic devices the columns must be orthogonal to the substrate to connect the two electrodes (Fig. 1.9). Both alignments are difficult to obtain over large areas and in high quality but alignment layers and coating methods (zone casting) exist for the homogeneous alignment while no generally applicable method has been developed for the homeotropic alignment.



Figure 1-9: Anisotropic charge conduction and alignment of DLCs. A) homogeneous (edge-on) or parallel alignment for devices such as FETs and TFTs; B) homeotropic (face-on) or vertical alignment for (opto)electronic devices such as OLEDs and photovoltaic cells.²⁰

However, large aligned monodomains of DLCs have been prepared by applying their selforganizing properties. Their fluid character also induces self-healing properties by repairing defect sites but the number of defect sites present at any given time is always larger than in single crystals. The ideal DLC displays a columnar mesophase at high temperatures that can be easily aligned and that crystallizes without significant changes to structure and alignment upon cooling. This type of material has not yet been realized.
References

- 1. Oswald, P.; Pieranski, P. *Liquid Crystals: Concepts and Physical Properties Illustrated by Experiments, Two Volume Set*; Taylor and Francis, **2006**.
- Collings, P. J.; Hird, M. Introduction to liquid crystals chemistry and physics; Taylor & Francis, 1997.
- 3. Gennes, P.-G. d.; Prost, J. *The physics of liquid crystals*; Clarendon Press, **1995**.
- 4. Collings, P. J.; Patel, J. S. Handbook of liquid crystal research; Oxford University Press, 1997.
- 5. Demus, D. Handbook of Liquid Crystals: Fundamentals; Wiley-VCH, 1998.
- 6. Kumar, S. Chemistry of discotic liquid crystals: from monomers to polymers; Taylor & Francis Group, **2010**.
- 7. Demus, D. Handbook of liquid crystals; Wiley-VCH, 1998.
- 8. Collings, P. J.; Patel, J. S. Handbook of liquid crystal research; Oxford University Press, 1997.
- 9. Gray, G. W.; Vill, V.; Spiess, H. W.; Demus, D.; Goodby, J. W. *Physical Properties of Liquid Crystals*; John Wiley & Sons, **2009**.
- 10. Kelker, H.; Hatz, R. Handbook of liquid crystals; Verlag Chemie, 1980.
- 11. Gennes, P.-G. d.; Prost, J. The physics of liquid crystals; Clarendon Press, 1995.
- 12. Collings, P. J. *Liquid crystals: nature's delicate phase of matter*; Princeton University Press, **2002**.
- 13. Chandrasekhar, S.; Sadashiva, B.; Suresh, K. Pramana 1977, 9, 471.
- 14. Oswald, P.; Pieranski, P. *Nematic and cholesteric liquid crystals: concepts and physical properties illustrated by experiments*; Taylor & Francis, **2005**.
- 15. Oswald, P.; Pieranski, P. *Smectic and columnar liquid crystals: concepts and physical properties illustrated by experiments*; Taylor & Francis/CRC Press, **2006**.
- 16. Dierking, I. Textures of Liquid Crystals; John Wiley & Sons, 2006.
- 17. Bisoyi, H. K.; Kumar, S. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2010, 39, 264.
- 18. Kumar, S. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2006, 35, 83.

- 19. Kaafarani, B. R. Chem. Mater. 2010, 23, 378.
- 20. Sergeyev, S.; Pisula, W.; Geerts, Y. H. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2007, 36, 1902.
- 21. Wu, J.; Pisula, W.; Müllen, K. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 718.
- 22. Terasawa, N.; Tanigaki, N.; Monobe, H.; Kiyohara, K. J. Fluorine Chem. 2006, 127, 1096.
- 23. Kumar, S. Molecular Crystals and Liquid Crystals Science and Technology. Section A. Molecular Crystals and Liquid Crystals **1996**, 289, 247.
- 24. Zelcer, A.; Donnio, B.; Bourgogne, C.; Cukiernik, F. D.; Guillon, D. Chem. Mater. 2007, 19, 1992.
- Kurihara, S.; Nonaka, T. Molecular Crystals and Liquid Crystals Science and Technology. Section
 A. Molecular Crystals and Liquid Crystals 1994, 238, 39.
- Zniber, R.; Achour, R.; Cherkaoui, M. Z.; Donnio, B.; Gehringer, L.; Guillon, D. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2002**, *12*, 2208.
- 27. Henderson, P.; Ringsdorf, H.; Schuhmacher, P. Liq. Cryst. 1995, 18, 191.
- 28. Kumar, S.; Naidu, J. J. Liq. Cryst. 2002, 29, 899.
- 29. Ichihara, M.; Suzuki, H.; Mohr, B.; Ohta, K. Liq. Cryst. 2007, 34, 401.
- Kreuder, W.; Ringsdorf, H.; Herrmann-Schönherr, O.; Wendorff, J. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1987, 26, 1249.
- 31. Prasad, S. K.; Rao, D. S. S.; Chandrasekhar, S.; Kumar, S. Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. 2003, 396, 121.
- 32. Bisoyi, H. K.; Kumar, S. J. Phys. Org. Chem. 2008, 21, 47.
- 33. Billard, J.; Dubois, J. C.; Vaucher, C.; Levelut, A. M. Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. 1981, 66, 115.
- Donnio, B.; Heinrich, B.; Allouchi, H.; Kain, J.; Diele, S.; Guillon, D.; Bruce, D. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
 2004, 126, 15258.
- 35. Destwde, C.; Tinh, N. H.; Mamlok, L.; Malthete, J. Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. 1984, 114, 139.
- Destrade, C.; Foucher, P.; Gasparoux, H.; Tinh, N. H.; Levelut, A. M.; Malthete, J. *Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst.* 1984, 106, 121.
- Simmerer, J.; Glüsen, B.; Paulus, W.; Kettner, A.; Schuhmacher, P.; Adam, D.; Etzbach, K.-H.;
 Siemensmeyer, K.; Wendorff, J. H.; Ringsdorf, H.; Haarer, D. Adv. Mater. 1996, 8, 815.

- 38. Voigt-martin, I. G.; Garbella, R. W.; Schumacher, M. Liq. Cryst. 1994, 17, 775.
- 39. Wu, J.; Watson, M. D.; Zhang, L.; Wang, Z.; Müllen, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 126, 177.
- Mery, S.; Haristoy, D.; Nicoud, J.-F.; Guillon, D.; Diele, S.; Monobe, H.; Shimizu, Y. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2002**, *12*, 37.
- 41. Ziessel, R.; Douce, L.; El-ghayoury, A.; Harriman, A.; Skoulios, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2000**, *39*, 1489.
- 42. Yasuda, T.; Ooi, H.; Morita, J.; Akama, Y.; Minoura, K.; Funahashi, M.; Shimomura, T.; Kato, T. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2009**, *19*, 411.
- 43. Vlad-Bubulak, T.; Buchs, J.; Kohlmeier, A.; Bruma, M.; Janietz, D. Chem. Mater. 2007, 19, 4460.
- 44. Scharf, T. Polarized light in liquid crystals and polymers; Wiley-Interscience, 2007.
- 45. Demus, D. Physical properties of liquid crystals; Wiley-VCH, 1999.
- Gray, G. W.; Vill, V.; Spiess, H. W.; Demus, D.; Goodby, J. W. *Physical Properties of Liquid Crystals*; John Wiley & Sons, **2009**.
- 47. Demus, D.; Goodby, J. W.; Gray, G. W.; Spiess, H. W.; Vill, V. *Handbook of Liquid Crystals, High Molecular Weight Liquid Crystals*; John Wiley & Sons, **2008**.
- Menczel, J. D.; Prime, R. B. Thermal analysis of polymers: fundamentals and applications; John Wiley, 2009.
- 49. Kasai, N.; Kakudo, M. X-ray diffraction by macromolecules; Kodansha, 2005.
- 50. Pecharsky, V. K.; Zavalij, P. Y. Fundamentals of powder diffraction and structural characterization of materials; Springer, **2005**.

2 Chapter 2: Hole and Electron Conducting Star-Shaped Oligomers

2.1 Introduction

Discotic liquid crystals (DLCs) are an alternative class of organic semiconductors that provide high and anisotropic charge carrier mobilities along self-organized columnar π - π -stacks.¹⁻⁷ Their selforganization into columnar stacks and formation of domains is particularly interesting for the preparation of bulk-heterojunction materials in photovoltaic devices that contain domains of electron acceptor and electron donor organic semiconductors. Unfortunately, mixtures of miscible donor and acceptor DLCs form mixed columns of charge-transfer stacks⁸⁻¹⁰ and mixtures of immiscible DLCs macrophase separate into two phases of small interfacial area.¹¹

One possibility of overcoming this dilemma is to link immiscible donor and acceptor DLCs together so that they cannot macrophase separate but form domains of just donor and just acceptor DLCs, similar to block co-polymers. Other advantages of main-chain oligomeric and polymeric DLCs as organic semiconductors are increased intracolumnar stacking order and temperature range of their columnar mesophases as well as the formation of glasses rather than crystal phases. However, linear oligomers of DLCs have been shown to resist all alignment attempts. Larger monodomains are obtained with monomers and dimers but trimers and longer oligomers are rich in defects, possibly because individual DLCs of one main-chain oligomer can be in the same columnar stack and in neighbouring columns.^{3,4,12-15}

Star-shaped oligomers of DLCs, in contrast, have been proposed to better align, especially if their structure matches the symmetry of a hexagonal columnar mesophase. The best match is obtained with star-shaped heptamers and the few previously reported systems are reviewed in the next part. Presented in this Chapter are star-shaped hetero-heptamers of DLCs that contain hexacarbonyl hexaazatriphenylene

as electron acceptor DLC in the centre and six hexapentyloxy triphenylenes as electron donor DLCs as ligands (Fig. 2.5). The syntheses of both hexaazatriphenylenes and mono-substituted hexapentyloxy triphenylenes will be briefly reviewed in sub-chapters 2.1.2. and 2.1.3.

2.1.1 Star-Shaped Discotic Heptamers

Ringsdorf and co-workers synthesized various star-shaped oligomers (heptamers) by linking six peripheral triphenylene fragments to central benzene,¹⁷ triphenylene ^{16,18} and azacrown cores. ¹⁸ (Fig. 2.1) All of these compounds display hexagonal columnar mesophases but probably not super-columns of stacked heptamers. Instead, the heptamers are probably shifted with regard to each other but still ensuring that each discotic core is part of a columnar stack. Formation of super-columns can only be expected for hetero-heptamers **26**, **28** and **29** but the two different discotic cores are apparently miscible and do not bias the formation of super-columns versus the entropically preferred shifted stacks of heptamers. Astonishing is the mixed orientation of heptamers **27** in Langmuir and Langmuir-Blodgett films that have the central core aligned face-on and the six peripheral cores edge-on.^{16,18}

Bisoyi and co-workers prepared star-shaped discotic heptamer **27d** with six triphenylene units linked to a central triphenylene core through alkylethers in lieu of the ester linkages used by Ringsdorf, but this did not significantly affect their hexagonal columnar mesomorphism.¹⁶ Zelcer *et al.* prepared another triphenylene based heptamer that had disiloxane units in the linking chains¹⁹ and Kumar and coworkers synthesized a hetero-heptamer **29** containing an electron deficient anthraquinone central core and six electron rich triphenylene peripheral units.¹⁶ Finally, Müllen *et al.* reported an even larger discotic heptamer based on six hexabenzocoronene units linked to a central hexabenzocoronene unit *via* aliphatic spacers.²⁰



Figure 2-1: Examples of star-shaped discotic heptamers.¹⁶⁻²⁰

The design of donor-acceptor discotic hetero-heptamers requires the use of electron acceptor and donor discotic building blocks. Examples of electron rich discotic molecules that could function as electron donors are shown in Fig. 2.2 (**30-32**) and examples of electron deficient discotic molecules that could function as electron acceptors are shown in Fig. 2.3 (**33-35**). Fig. 2.3 also depicts three acceptor molecules **36-38** that have been used for the formation of columnar donor-acceptor together with a donor DLC. The heteroheptamers presented herein are based on a hexaazatriphenylene central core and six triphenylene ligands and the synthesis and properties of these two cores is briefly reviewed in the following.



Figure 2-2: Examples of electron rich (p-type) DLC's based on (30) triphenylenes,¹⁶ (31) truxenes,²¹ oxatruxenes ²² and thiatruxenes²³; and (32) five or six fold (phenylethynyl) substituted benzene.²⁴⁻²⁷



Figure 2-3: Examples of electron acceptors based on hexaazatriphenylene cores (33-35);^{16,28-30} perfluorotriphenylene (36);¹⁶ 11,11,12,12-tetracyananthraoquinodimethane (TCAQ) (37);³¹ and 7,7,8,8-tetracyanoquinodimethane (TCNQ) (38).³²

2.1.2 Hexaaztriphenylene core

1,4,5,8,9,12-hexaazatriphenylene (HAT) derivatives are electron deficient heteroaromatic polycyclic discotic cores because of the higher electronegativity of N. Praeffcke *et al.* developed a general synthetic approach to hexa-substituted HAT derivatives that they expected to display columnar mesophases similar to the structurally related triphenylene derivatives.³³ Unfortunately, none of these

derivatives turned out to be liquid crystalline. Praeffcke's synthesis required the preparation of hexaaminobenzene from 1,3,5-trinitrobenzene, a listed military grade explosive, and its subsequent reaction with 3 eq. of 1,2-diketones to give the targeted HAT derivatives (Scheme. 2.1). This approach was not adopted by many other research groups because of its inherent risk. Roger and co-workers prepared the parent HAT core by condensation of glyoxal with freshly synthesized hexaaminobenzene,³⁴ and Bushby and co-workers reported the first liquid crystalline derivatives of HAT³⁵⁻³⁹(Scheme 2.2). The same and other groups also studied mixtures of non-liquid crystalline HAT derivatives with DLCs that show columnar mesophases over large temperature ranges as a result of alternating stacking based on complementary polytopic interactions.^{14,35-39}



Scheme 2.1 Synthesis of HAT derivatives.



Scheme 2.2: Synthesis of liquid crystalline HAT derivatives, $R=OC_6H_{13}$

Czarnik *et al.* developed a new synthetic approach to more electron deficient HAT cores starting with the preparation of hexaazatriphenylene-hexacarbonitrile by condensation of commercially available hexaketocyclohexane with 3 eq. of diaminomaleodinitrile (Scheme 2.3).^{40,102} Precursor **2** was successfully converted into numerous functionalized HAT derivatives such as hexaamide **3**, hexamethoxy carbonyl **4**, and hexaacid **41** and other groups used them as precursors to several novel DLCs.^{41,42}



Scheme 2.3:Synthesis of hexaazatriphenylenehexacarbonitrile and its derivatives.

Czarnik's HAT derivatives drew substantial attention not only from the liquid crystal but many other communities for their convenient synthesis, diverse peripheral functionality coupled with π complexation ability, co-ordination properties and electron deficient nature. Several of these HAT
derivatives have been used as n-type organic semiconductors, fluorescent dyes, magnetic materials,
self-assembled organogels, octapolar non-linear chromophores, etc.⁴³⁻⁵⁰ Several metal complexes of HAT
derivatives have also been prepared to study their co-ordination chemistry.⁵¹⁻⁵⁶ Recently, some new
liquid crystalline HAT derivatives have been reported. Meijer and co-workers prepared triimide HAT
derivatives shown in Scheme 2.4 that display columnar mesophases.⁵⁷



Chang *et al.* demonstrated that the cyano groups can also be partially replaced with alcohols and fully substituted with thiols to generate HAT derivatives (Scheme 2.5) of different acceptor strength.⁵⁸ Compound **43b** forms a hexagonal columnar mesophase whereas compounds 43**a** and **44a-e** do not form mesophases similar to their oxygen ethers analogues.⁵⁹



Scheme 2.5: Synthesis of HAT derivatives with alternating electron donating and withdrawing substituents (8) and hexathioether substituents (9)⁵⁹

Hydrogen bond assisted hexagonal columnar mesomorphism was observed for novel hexacarboxamido HAT derivatives of which compound **45c** displays the smallest reported stacking distance of only 3.18 Å (Scheme 2.6).^{60,61} Furthermore, its intercolumnar correlation length was found to be high with 120- 180 Å, extending over 40 to 55 disks, which both contribute to the observed high charge carrier mobility of 0.04 to 0.08 cm² V⁻¹s⁻¹ in comparison to similarly sized DLCs. Hexaamide derivative **45d** containing branched aliphatic chains exhibits multiple oblique columnar mesophases that are rare and its surface coating was also studied in detail.^{62,63}



Scheme 2.6:Synthesis of hexacarboxamido derivatives of HAT

Ishi and co-workers published an unusual set of HAT derivatives that show columnar mesomorphism because they lack any aliphatic side-chains but are substituted with aromatic peripheral substituents (Scheme 2.7).⁶⁴



Scheme 2.7:Synthesis of all aromatic HAT derivatives that form columnar mesophases

2.1.3 Triphenylene Moiety

One of the most studied symmetrically fused aromatic polycyclic systems in the field of DLCs are triphenylene (TP) derivatives (Fig. 2.4). Triphenylene was first separated from pyrolytic products of benzene by Schultz.⁶⁵ It was also synthesized from cyclohexanone and Zann *et al.* were first to introduce triphenylene as a novel discotic core.⁶⁶ Triphenylene derivatives have drawn immense attention among all liquid crystal researchers for their 1-dimensional charge and energy migration and have inspired many different synthetic approaches towards triphenylene based DLCs.⁶⁷⁻⁶⁹





Hexaalkoxy substituted TPs are among the best studied discotic mesogens. They are successfully used as the p-type (electron rich) semiconductors. Originally, hexaalkyoxy TP derivatives were prepared by alkylation of hexahydroxy TP which was synthesized by demethylation of hexamethoxy TP. Hexamethoxy TP is prepared by oxidative coupling of dimethoxy benzene in the presence of strong acid that forms three aryl-aryl bonds in a single operation. However, hexahydroxy TP is difficult to handle because of its low solubility and easy oxidation and a better approach to hexaalkyloxy TPs is based on an oxidative coupling of the corresponding dialkyoxy benzene in the absence of strong acid.⁷⁰⁻⁷² The cyclized products are enthalpically favored over linear products because of their aromatic character and the most commonly used oxidizing reagents are MoCl₃, VoCl₃, and FeCl₃ in mixtures of dichloromethane and nitromethane (Scheme 2.8).^{12,73-79}



Scheme 2.8: Synthetic routes to prepare hexaalkoxytriphenylenes: a. Chloranil, H₂SO₄; b. BBr₃ or HBr; c. RBr, base; d. TMSI, e. TBAF, RBr; f. MoCl₃ or VoCl₃ or FeCl₃, CH₂Cl₂.

TP derivatives with unsymmetrical substitution patterns are comparatively more difficult to prepare than their symmetrical analogues. Kumar is the pioneer in the preparation of several mono diand tri-functionalized triphenylenes from readily obtainable hexakis (pentyloxy) triphenylene by selective de-alkylation using bromocatecholborane or 9-Br-BBN.⁸⁰ The monohydoxy alkoxy-TPs are valuable precursors for discotic dimers, oligomers, and polymers^{39,80-86} as well as numerous discotic TPs containing five alkoxy substitutents and one different substituent. However, separation of monohydoxy pentapentyoxlytriphenylene from remaining hexakis(pentyloxy)triphenylene is tedious and requires highly efficient column chromatography. A better methodology selectively cleaves aryl methyl ether in the presence of five alkyl ethers with lithium diphenylphosphide to give the monohydoxy alkoxy-TPs in almost 70% yield.



Scheme 2.9: Synthetic routes toward the formation of monohydroxy-pentaalkoxytriphenylenes: a. bromocatecholborane, b. lithium diphenylphosphide; c. FeCl₃, CH₂Cl₂

The direct oxidative coupling of alkoxyphenol and tetraalkoxybiphenyl to afford monohydoxy pentaalkoxy-TPs has also been reported. This method works best for guaiacol, while alkoxyphenols with longer alkyl chains do not give satisfactory yields (Scheme. 2.9).^{14,39,87,89}

2.2 Objective

Presented here is the synthesis of star-shaped discotic heteroheptamers **18a,b** containing hexaazatriphenylene hexacarboxylate or hexaamide groups as the electron acceptor central core and six hexaalkoxy triphenylene ligands as electron donor cores. Envisioned is the formation of super-columns in which the heptamers stack on top of each other to generate a material with electron acceptor columnar stacks in the centre that are surrounded by electron donor columnar stacks. A cartoon of this supramolecular design and the incorporation of such a material into a bulk heterojunction photovoltaic device is shown in Figure 2.5.



Figure 2-5: Simplified cartoon of a photovoltaic device containing star-shaped heteroheptamers self-organized and self-aligned into nano-separated columns of acceptor hexaazatriphenylenes (red) and donor triphenylene ligands (grey).

Charge carriers (exciton) generated by photoexcitation are always close to the heterojunction between acceptor and donor columns where they are expected to easily disperse into two free charge carriers on two separated columns. The two charge carriers can now quickly move along the columns to the electrodes of opposite charge because of the applied voltage and the high charge carrier mobility of the columnar mesophases. However, recombination of hole and electron may compete with charge separation because of their close proximity on neighbouring coulmns.

2.3 Synthesis of heteroheptamers 18a and 18b

The final step of the heteroheptamer formations involves either hexa-transesterification or hexa-

amidation of 4 with 17 or 23, respectively (Scheme 2.10).



Scheme 2.10: General scheme for both transesterification and amidation of 4

2.3.1 Synthesis of hexamethyl dipyrazino[2,3-f:2',3'-h]quinoxaline-2,3,6,7,10,11hexacarboxylate (4)

The preparation of HAT derivative **4** follows Czarnik's procedure⁴⁰ that begins with a cyclocondensation of hexaketocyclohexane octahydrate **1** with diaminomaleonitrile to form triphenylenehexacarbonitrile **2**. Compound **2** was converted into the corresponding hexaamide **3** in the

presence of sulfuric acid and **3** was transformed into hexamethoxy carbonyl derivative **4** using Methanol and sulfuric acid (Scheme 2.11).



Scheme 2.11: Synthesis of hexamethyl dipyrazino[2,3-f:2',3'-h]quinoxaline-2,3,6,7,10,11-hexacarboxylate 4

2.3.2 Preparation of mono functionalized triphenylene ligands 17 and 23

Both mono-functionalized triphenylene ligands were synthesized *via* an ortho-terphenyl intermediate that is obtained by a double Suzuki cross-coupling of 1,2-dibromo-4-methoxy-5-(pentyloxy) benzene **13** with boronic ester **9** (Schemes 12-14).

Boronic ester **9** was obtained by starting with the demethylation of 4-bromo-1,2-dimethoxy benzene **5** with boron tribromide to quantitatively generate 4-bromo-benzene-1,2-diol **6**, which was successfully dialkylated with pentyl bromide in 80% yield (Scheme 2.12). 4-Bromo-1,2-dipentyloxybenzene **7** was subsequently converted into the corresponding boronic acid derivative **8** in 65% yield by reacting the in-situ generated Li salt with freshly distilled triisopropylborate. Distillation removes *iso*-propanol that is usually present in stored triisopropylborate and results in the formation of 1,2-dipentyloxybenzene **10** as side-product that can be separated from the boronic acid **8** by column

chromatography on silica gel with hexanes. Boronic acid **8** was then converted into boronic ester **9** by reaction with 1,3-propanediol in 60% yield because the boronic ester was found to give better yields in the subsequent Suzuki coupling than the boronic acid.



1,2-dibromo-4-methoxy-5-(pentyloxy)benzene **13** was obtained by dibromination of 1-pentyloxy-2-methoxybenzene **12** with Br_2 in more than 90% yield and **12** was obtained from commercially available guaicol **11** by alkylation with in 80% yield (Scheme 2.13).



Scheme 2.13:Synthesis of 1,2-dibromo-4-methoxy-5-pentyloxybenzene 13

Suzuki coupling of dibromo compound **13** with boronic ester **9** gave ortho-terphenyl **14** as a gellike material that could not be crystallized Consequently, purification of terphenyl **14** was difficult and avoided by performing the oxidative coupling to triphenylene **15** on the crude compound **14** (Scheme 2.14). FeCl₃ in 1:1 nitromethane and dichloromethane was used for the oxidative coupling and generated triphenylene **15** in 65% yield for both steps.



Scheme 2.14: Synthesis of 2-methoxy-3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylene 15

The methyl group of **15** was selectively cleaved with freshly prepared $LiPPh_2$ to form the corresponding hydroxyl derivative **16** in 85% yield (Scheme 2.15).



Scheme 2.15: Synthesis of 9-((3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylen-2-yl)oxy)nonan-1-ol 17

Finally, alkylation of the hydroxy group of triphenylene **16** with 9-bromononanol generated the ligand **17** in 62% yield. Chromatographic separation followed by recrystallization from MeOH was necessary to obtain analytically pure compound **17** that should be kept in a freezer under inert atmosphere to avoid slow decomposition over time.

2.3.3 Synthesis of heptamer ester HE (18a).

Heptamer ester **18a** was successfully synthesized by reacting 15 eqiv. of **17** with hexamethoxy carbonyl HAT **4** in the presence of titanium(IV) isopropoxide at 200 °C for 4 days. Size-exclusion gel chromatography was performed to remove excess of **17** from **18a** and the crude product heptamer was subsequently purified by preparative TLC on silica gel followed by recrystalization from CH₂Cl₂/MeOH (1:1) (Scheme 16). The yield after purification based on **4** was 50%.



Scheme 2.16: Synthesis of heptamer ester 18a.

2.3.4 Synthesis of 2-((9-aminononyl)oxy)-3,6,7,10,11pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylene (25) and its ammonia salt (23)

Synthesis of triphenylene ligands **23** and **25** for the preparation of the hexaamide heptamer requires the preparation of a bromoalkyl chain with amine or ammonium end group as a conversion of the hydroxyl group of triphenylene **17** appears to be a less valid approach.

We found that Mitsunobu-type exchange of an alcohol group with an azide group followed by a single step conversion of the azide to a BOC-protected amine is the most suitable and straightforward method for the synthesis of **21** from commercially available terminal bromo alcohols.^{89,90} 9-bromo-1-nonanol **19** was reacted with diphenylphosphoryl azide (DPPA) in the presence of diisopropyl azodicarboxylate (DIAD) and triphenylphosphine in THF at 0 °C to afford compound **20**. The bromide group, essential functionality for the alkylation remained unaffected (Scheme 2.17). Compound **21** was obtained by a one pot conversion of the azido group of **20** to a BOC-protected amine group. A solution of compound **20** and BOC anhydride in ethyl acetate was added to a dihydrogen saturated suspension of Pd/C in ethyl acetate. Presaturation of Pd/C with dihydrogen was found to be essential to avoid the formation of side products due to dehydrogenation of the amine, since Pd/C also serves as a dehydrogenation catalyst for conversion of amines to nitriles, and the combined addition of compound **20** and BOC anhydride is important to prevent the formation of unprotected amine.

 $\begin{array}{c} \text{Br}(\text{CH}_2)_9\text{OH} & \xrightarrow{\text{PPh}_3, \text{ DIAD, DPPA}} \text{THF, 0°C, 12 hrs} & \text{Br}(\text{CH}_2)_9\text{N}_3 & \underbrace{(\text{BOC})_2\text{O}, 5\% \text{ Pd/C}}_{\text{EtOAc, r.t, 15 hrs}} & \text{Br}(\text{CH}_2)_9\text{NHBOC} \\ \hline \end{array}$

Scheme 2.17: Synthesis of tert-butyl (9-bromononyl)carbamate 21

The Mitsunobu reaction occurs under comparatively milder condition (0 °C to room temperature) in neutral environment. Various functional groups can be utilized in these kinds of mild reaction conditions and the only essential requirement is a sufficient acidity of the nucleophile to be 34

deprotonated by the betaine intermediate (pKa 13). A general mechanism of the Mitsunobu reaction is shown in Scheme 2.18 based on a carboxylic acid as nucleophile. Several other nucleophiles, such as acidic alcohols, azides, thiols, amides, sulfomamides and imides, have also been used for this reaction.



Scheme 2.18: General mechanism for Mitsunobu reaction between carboxylic acid and alcohol

Here, the acidic nucleophile is HN_3 but the usage of this highly sensitive compound was avoided by using DPPA as an azide source for the substitution of the hydroxyl group. However, the reaction of DPPA with bromoalcohol **19** generates HN_3 in situ, which then protonates the betaine (Scheme 2.19).



Scheme 2.19: Mechanism of azidation reaction of alcohol using DPPA

2.3.5 Synthesis of 2-((9-fluorononyl)oxy)-3,6,7,10,11-pentakis (pentyloxy) triphenylene, ammonium salt (23)

Alkylation of compound **16** with **21** in the presence of potassium carbonate gave compound **22** in 60% yield. Deprotection of the Boc group with 1 M tetrabutyl ammonium fluoride (TBAF) solution in THF generated ammonium salt **23** as a stable compound. It is necessary to maintain absolutely dry conditions for the deprotection of the BOC group; otherwise this method is ineffective and low yielding. Most other deprotection methods for BOC protected amines require the use of strong acids, such as HCl and trifluoroacetic acid, that also cleave the pentyl ether bonds (Scheme 2.20).



Scheme 2.20: Synthesis of 2-((9-fluorononyl)oxy)-3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylene, ammonium salt 23

we also tested another synthetic pathway to the unprotected amine **25** that has previously been reported by Paraschiv *et al.*⁹¹ Alkylation of **16** was carried out with azide **20** to obtain compound **24** which was finally reduced using triphenyl phosphine or hydrogen in presence of Pd/C to give the unprotected amine **25** (Scheme 2.21). This approach gave reasonably good yields (50%) but was abandoned because amine **25** is rather sensitive to air and moisture in contrast to its hydrofluoride salt





36

Scheme 2.21:Synthesis of 9-((3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylen-2-yl)oxy)nonan-1-amine 25

2.3.6 Synthesis of heptamer amide (18b)

Heptamer amide **18b** was synthesized by reacting 20 eq. of **23** with hexamethoxy carbonyl HAT **4** in the presence of triethylamine at 120° C for 4 days (Scheme 2.22). Size exclusion chromatography removed excess **23** and **25** but remaining impurities, that probably included decomposition products of **25**, had to be removed by preparative TLC on silica gel and several recrystalizations from CH₂Cl₂/MeOH (1:1). ¹³C- and ¹H-NMR spectra of **18b** confirmed the formation of **18b** but still contain absorption peaks of impurities.



Scheme 2.22: Synthesis of heptamer amide 18b

2.4 Mesomorphism of Heptamer ester (18a)



Col_h <u>197.10 (-68.86)</u> 195.24 (52.40) iso

Figure 2-6 :Phase behavior of 18a as determined by POM, DSC and XRD (Temperature in ^oC and enthalpy in kJ/mol). Pictures obtained from POM at 28°C.

Variable temperature POM measurements of **18a** revealed a birefringent phase at 25 °C that cleared into an isotropic liquid at 198°C (Fig. 1). The texture was focal conical and large homeotropic domains were observed on glass substrates upon slow cooling (at 0.1 °C/min) from isotropic state. No textural changes occurred in the monitored temperature range.

Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) of **18a** confirmed the reversible Col_h phase to isotropic transition at 197.1 °C. Its unusually high molar transition enthalpy of 69 kJ/mol can be reasoned with the contribution of seven discotic units per molecule. DSC also confirms the absence of any crystallization down to -50 °C. It is likely that the material undergoes a glass transition at about 55 °C because a softening is observed by POM but no glass transition was resolved by DSC even at scan rates of 30 °C/min.

X-ray diffraction patterns of **18a** reveal a hexagonal columnar packing at two length scales (Fig. 2). The reflection at 1.7 nm consistent with (10) reflections usually observed for Col_h phases of hexapentyloxy-

triphenylene while the reflections at 4.4 nm and 2.6 nm are interpreted as the (10) and (11) reflections of the hexagonal packing of the heptamers.



Figure 2-7 : Powder VT-XRD pattern of 18a. The y-axis has been shifted for clarity.

The reflection of the intracolumnar stacking order at about 0.34 nm remains of high intensity even at 170 °C and is split into two reflections for the material as precipitated from solution. This splitting could be explained with different packing distances between the hexaazatriphenylene cores and the triphenylene ligands in the super-column but only one reflection of intermediate peak position is observed after heating the material to 170 °C.



Figure 2-8 :UV/VIS Spectra of thin films of 18a on quartz .

The formation of the super-column is independently verified by UV-Vis spectroscopy on thin films of **18a** and mixtures of a hexaazatriphenylene and a triphenylene on quartz (Fig. 3). A 1:6 mixture of the hexaazatriphenylene hexamethyl carboxylate and the hexapentyloxy triphenylene shows a weak absorption at around 550 nm that is absent in the individual compounds and interpreted as a charge transfer band. This absorption is absent in the film of **18a**, which confirms the absence of columnar stacks that contain both types of cores.

2.5 Conclusions

A feasible synthetic pathway to heptamer ester **18a** and heptamer amide **18b** has been developed but purification was successful only for the heptamer ester. The heptamer amide was more difficult to purify because of its H-bonding amide groups and decomposition products of triphenylene **25**. Most promising for further purification is the use of GPC stationary phases with smaller exclusion volumes while chromatographic separations on silica are limited by the strong aggregation of **18b**. Phase behavior of **18a** as determined by POM, DSC and XRD confirms the formation of super-column. Furthermore, the structure of **18b** must be confirmed by MS and EA measurements before their mesomorphism is studied by polarized optical microscopy, thermal analysis, X-ray diffraction, and variable temperature UV-Vis and IR spectroscopy.

2.6 Experimental

2.6.1 Synthesis of 4-bromo benzene 1,2 diol (6)⁹²



To a stirred solution of 4 bromo 1,2 dimethoxy benzene (20 g, 92.1 mmol) in 100ml dry dichloromethane, BBr₃ (16 ml, 94 mmol) was added drop wise under argon gas at -78°C over a 5 minute. Then the stirred solution was allowed to warm up to room temperature overnight. The mixture was cooled to 0 °C again and 0.1M HCl (300 mL) was added drop wise until it became clear. The mixture was extracted with (50 mL X 3) diethyl ether and dried using anhydrous MgSO₄, concentrated in vacuo. Flash

chromatography on silica using 2:1(ethyl acetate:hexanes) to give 4-bromo benzene 1,2 diol (20 g, 98%) as a white powder.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 5.0 (s, 2H), 6.7-7.0 (m, 3H) (consistent with reported values⁹²)

2.6.2 Synthesis of 4 bromo 1, 2 dipentyloxybenzene(7). 93-96



To a 500 mL round bottom flask equipped with magnetic stirrer, 4-bromo benzene 1,2 diol (20 g, 105 mmol) , 1-bromo pentane (264 mmol, 39.9 g), potassium carbonate (264 mmol, 36.4 g) and DMF (250 mL) were added. The mixture was stirred under argon at 100 °C for 24 hrs. The reaction mixture was filtered and brown colored solution was concentrated *in vacuo* to get a brown oily residue. The residue was purified by column chromatography on neutral aluminum oxide eluting with hexanes to yield 4-bromo-1, 2-dipentyloxybenzene as a colorless oil (31 g, 90%).

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 0.97 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 6H), 1.4 (m, 8H), 1.8 (m, 4H), 3.9 (t, J = 6.0 Hz, 4H), 6.7 -7.0 (m, 3H); (consistent with reported values⁹³⁻⁹⁶)

2.6.3 Synthesis of 3,4-dipentyloxybenzeneboronic acid(8). 97-98



To a 250 mL round bottom flask equipped with magnetic stir bar, was added 4-bromo-1,2dipentyloxybenzene (10 g, 30.3 mmol). Distilled THF (50 mL) was added to it and the mixture was stirred at -78°C .To it 1.6(M) nBuLi (20 mL, 32 mmol) was added drop wise under argon atmosphere. Once the addition was complete the mixture was kept stirring for 3 hrs at -78°C .Distilled isopropylborate (10.4 42 mL, 8.47 g, 45.4 mmol) was added drop wise to it over 15 minutes .The mixture was allowed to reach room temp and stirred for 12 hrs.The mixture was cooled to 0°C and 0.1M HCl (100 mL) was added to it and stirred for 2 hrs. Mixture was extracted with diethyl ether (3 X 50 mL) and dried using anhydrous MgSO₄, concentrated *in vacuo*, recrystallized from hexanes to give 3,4-dipentyloxybenzeneboronic acid (5.6 g, 63%) of a white solid.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ):, 0.9 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 6H), 1.4 (m, 8H), 1.8 (m, 4H), 4.0 (t, J = 6.2 Hz, 4H), 4.5 (broad, 2H), 7.0– 7.8 (m, 3H); (consistent with reported values⁹⁷⁻⁹⁸)





To a 250mL round bottom flask 3,4-dipentyloxybenzeneboronic acid (5 g, 17 mmol), 1,3propanediol (2.6 g, 34 mmol) and 100 mL hexanes were added. The mixture was stirred at room temperature for 5 hrs. The mixture was then extracted with diethyl ether (3 X 50 mL), dried with anhydrous MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The resulting pale yellow oily residue was purified by fractional distillation at 210°C to yield 2-(3,4-bis-pentyloxy-phenyl)-[1,3,2]-dioxaborinane as a colorless oil (3.58 g, 63%)

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 0.9 (t, J= 7.0 Hz, 6H), 1.4 (m ,8H), 1.8 (m,4H), 2.0 (m ,2H), 4.0 (m, 4H), 4.1 (t, J= 6.3 Hz, 4H), 6.8– 7.3 (m, 3H); (consistent with reported values^{13,99})

2.6.5 Synthesis of 1-pentyloxy-2-methoxybenzene(12).^{24,78,100}



Guaiacol (20 g, 0.161 mol), 1-bromopentane (36.479 g, 0.242 mol), potassium carbonate (fine powder, 33.446 g, 0.242 mol) were added to 200 mL of DMF (filtered through Al_2O_3 of activity 1) and heated to 100°C for 15 hrs. The mixture was filtered, combined with toluene (200 mL) and extracted with water (4 x 200 mL) dried using anhydrous MgSO₄ and concentrated in vacuo The brownish organic layer was concentrated in vacuum and filtered through a short column of Al_2O_3 (activity 1) to give a pale yellow solution. Toluene was removed and the remaining pale yellow oil was distilled under vacuum to give 1-pentyloxy-2-methoxybenzene as a colourless liquid. (24.815 g, 79%)

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 0.9 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 1.4 (m , 4H), 1.8 (m, 2H), 3.8 (s, 3H), 4.0 (t, J = 6.3 Hz, 2H), 6.9 (m, 4H); (consistent with reported values^{24,78,100})

2.6.6 Synthesis of 1, 2-dibromo-4-pentyloxy-5-methoxybenzene(13). ⁹³⁻⁹⁶



1-methoxy-2-pentyloxy benzene (20 g, 106 mmol) was dissolved in 250 mL dichloromethane and cooled to 0°C .To it Br₂ (2.1 equiv, 223 mmol, 35.7 g, 11.5 mL) was added using a dropping funnel, purging with argon, trapping HBr in 5(M) KOH solution in Erlenmeyer flask .The reaction system was left to warm upto room temperature gradually to complete the reaction for 24 hrs. The reaction mixture was washed with 10% aqueous Na₂CO₃ (3 X 100 mL) and finally with water (3 X 100 mL) to get rid of excess HBr. The organic layer was dried using anhydrous MgSO₄, concentrated *in vacuo* to obtain dark yellow solid which was recrystallized from methanol to yield 1,2-dibromo-4-pentyloxy-5-methoxybenzene as a pale yellow crystals (34.32 g, 92%)

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 0.9 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 3H), 1.4 (m, 4H), 1.8 (m, 2H), 3.8 (s , 3H), 3.9 (t, J = 6.1 Hz, 2H), 6.9 (s , 2H); (consistent with reported values⁹³⁻⁹⁶)

2.6.7 Synthesis of 4'-methoxy-3,3",4,4",5'-pentakis (pentyloxy)-1,1':2',1"-terphenyl (14). ^{39,78,100.}



To a 250 mL round bottom flask with a magnetic stir bar, 1,2-dibromo-4-methoxy-5-pentyloxy benzene (4 g, 9 mmol), 2-(3,4-bis-pentyloxy-phenyl)-[1,3,2]-dioxaborinane (8 g, 24 mmol), Cs₂CO₃ (7.82 g, 24 mmol) were added. Then the flask was purged with argon and palladium(0)tetrakis triphenyl phosphine (500 mg, 22 mmol) was added to it. To this mixture 200 mL DMF was added, heated to 100°C and stirred for 24 hrs. The reaction mixture was then cooled to room temperature and 200 mL distilled water was added, extracted with (3 X 100 mL) diethyl ether and dried using anhydrous magnesium sulfate then concentrated *in vacuo* to obtain yellowish oil. The yellowish oil was further purified by column chromatography on silica using 2:1 hexanes: diethyl ether as an eluent to yield crude 4'-methoxy-3,3'',4,4'',5'-pentakis(pentyloxy)-1,1':2',1''-terphenyl as about (4.975 g, 7.2 mmol, 80%) pale yellow oil which was used for the next step without further purification.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 0.9 (t, J= 6.0 Hz, 15H), 1.5 (m, 20H), 1.9 (m, 10H), 3.7 (t, J= 6.0 Hz, 4H), 3.9 (s, 3H), 4.0 (d, J= 6.0 Hz, 4H), 4.1 (t, J= 6.0 Hz, 2H), 6.6 (m, 2H), 6.7 (m, 4H), 6.9 (s, 2H). (consistent with reported values^{39,78,100}).

2.6.8 Synthesis of 2-methoxy-3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylene (15).^{39,78,100.}



To a stirred solution of 4'-methoxy-3,3",4,4",5'-pentakis(pentyloxy)-1,1':2',1"-terphenyl (4.975 g, 7.2 mmol) in 200ml 1:1 mixture of MeNO₂ : dichloromethane, FeCl₃ (3.440 g, 21.6 mmol) was added portion wise using a solid additional funnel over 10 minutes under an argon atmosphere at 0°C. The mixture was stirred for 20 minutes at 0°C. Then 150 mL anhydrous MeOH was added drop wise to precipitate out the product.The mixture was kept at 5°C for 4 hrs and filtered to get white solids which were recrystallized from methanol to give 2-methoxy-3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylene as white solid (3.472 g, 70%).

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 0.9 (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 15H), 1.5 (m, 20H), 1.9 (m, 10H), 4.1 (s, 3H) , 4.2 (t, J = 6.1 Hz, 10H), 7.7 (s, 6H); (consistent with reported values^{39,78,100}).

2.6.9 Synthesis of 2-hydroxy, 3, 6, 7, 10, 11-pentakis (pentyloxy) triphenylene (16).³⁹



46

To 20 mL of dry THF were added under argon 0.6 mL (2.9 mmol) of diphenylphosphine and 1.7 mL (2.7 mmol) of *n*BuLi (1.6 M solution in THF) and the mixture was stirred for 30 min at room temperature. 2-methoxy-3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylene (500 mg, 0.7 mmol), dissolved in 5 mL of dry THF, was added to the deep red solution *via* a syringe. The mixture was stirred for 24 h at room temperature, quenched with 10 mL of 0.1 M HCl and poured into 25 mL of diethyl ether. The ether phase was washed with water (3 x 25 mL), dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. Column chromatography (silica gel, 4:1 hexane/diethyl ether) and recrystallization from EtOH gave 2-hydroxy,3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylene (0.393 g, 83%) as an off-white solid.

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 0.9 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 15H), 1.3 - 1.5 (m, 20H), 1.8 - 1.9 (m, 10H), 4.2- 4.3 (m, 10H), 5.9 (broad, 1H), 7.7 - 7.9 (m, 6H); (consistent with reported values³⁹)

2.6.10 Synthesis of 2-(9-hydroxynonyloxy)-3,6,7,10,11-pentakis (pentyloxy) triphenylene(17).¹⁰¹



To a 200 mL round bottom flask equipped with a magnetic stir bar was added 2hydroxy,3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylene (300 mg, 0.44 mmol), bromononanol (150 mg, 0.67 mmol), potassium carbonate (93 mg, 0.67 mmol) and 80 mL of dried DMF. The reaction was heated to 80°C and stirred for 48 hours. Then 25 mL of 0.1 M HCl (aq.) was added to the DMF and the solution was washed with DCM (3 x 25 mL). The organic layers were collected and rotovaped to near dryness. The product was recrystallized from 95% EtOH to give 240 mg of an off-white product (67%). ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 0.97 (t, J= 7.19 Hz, 15H), 1.3 - 1.59 (m , 32H), 1.95 (p, J = 6.9 Hz, 12H), 3.63 (t, J=6.9 Hz, 2H), 4.0 (t, J= 6.5 Hz, 1H) 4.23 (t, J= 6.5 Hz, 12H), 7.83 (s, 6H).

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 14.24, 22.69, 25.87, 26.28, 28.48, 29.25, 29.56, 29.72, 32.93, 69.80, 107.42, 123.72, 149.078. (consistent with reported values¹⁰¹)





To 10 mL r.b flask equipped with a magnetic stir bar was added hexaazatriphenylene 2,3,6,7,10,11hexakis(methyl ester) (18 mg, 0.031 mmol) and 2-(9-hydroxynonyloxy)-3,6,7,10,11pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylene (200 mg, 0.24 mmol). The flask was then transferred to the glovebox where titanium (IV) isopropoxide (18 mg, 0.062 mmol) was added. The flask was then sealed, removed from the glovebox and placed under a constant stream of nitrogen. The slurry was then heated to 160°C and left to stir for 48 hours. The slurry was then allowed to cool to room temperature and water (5 mL) was added to quench the remaining titanium (IV) isopropoxide. The crude product was dissolved in EtOAc and run through a column of size-exclusion gel to remove small impurities. The crude product was
then dried under vacuum and then dissolved in a small amount of DCM (5 mL) and run through a column of silica gel with DCM to remove the excess triphenylene side chain. The heptamer was then eluted with diethyl ether. The solvent was removed under vacuum and finally crude product was recrystallized from $CH_2Cl_2/MeOH$ (1:1) solution to yield 82 mg (50%) of dark purple product.

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 0.97 (t, J= 6 Hz, 90H), 1.44 - 1.55 (m , 192H), 1.94 (broad, 72H), 4.21 (broad, 72H) , 4.53 (broad, 12H), 7.78 (s, 36H).

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 14.15, 22.62, 25.86, 26.24, 28.42, 29.20, 29.59, 67.46, 69.69, 107.31, 123.56, 141.28, 146.84, 148.99, 163.90.

2.6.12 Synthesis of 1-azido-9-bromononane (20).

Br(CH₂)₉OH
$$\frac{PPh_3$$
, DIAD, DPPA}{THF, 0°C, 12 hrs} Br(CH₂)₉N₃

In an oven dried round bottom flask, 9-bromononan-1-ol (5.580 g, 25 mmol) was dissolved in 150 mL of THF. To this mixture PPh₃ (7.200 g, 27.5 mmol) was added and the solution was stirred for 15 minutes at 0°C in an ice bath. Then, diisopropylazodicarboxylate (DIAD) (6 mL, 27.5 mmol) was added via pipette over 1 minute, followed by diphenylphosphorylazide (DPPA) (6.53 mL, 27.5 mmol) via pipette, over 1 minute. The resultant yellow cream colored mixture was allowed to warm up to room temperature and stirred over night. The crude mixture was concentrated to half of its volume and 25 mL of dry diethyl ether along with 10 mL of hexanes were added to the solution, producing a white cloudy precipitate. The flask was then chilled in the freezer for 1 h to allow excess PPh₃ and generated OPPh₃ to precipitate out. The mixture was filtered and the collected precipitate was washed with dry diethyl ether. The collected filtrate was concentrated to a quarter of the original volume. A clear yellow/orange

viscous oil formed as a separate phase and was purified by column chromatography (silica gel, ethyl acetate: hexane 1:4) to yield the pure 1-azido-9-bromononane as a yellow oil (4.033g, 65%).

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.30-1.41 (m, 10H), 1.55-1.58 (m, 2H), 1.84(p, J=5.1Hz, 2H), 3.25(t, J=3.6Hz, 2H), 3.40 (t, J=3.9Hz, 2H)

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 26.78, 28.21, 28.75, 28.92, 29.14, 29.37, 32.88, 34.12, 51.57.

MS [HR-CI]: Theoretical: 205.0592 [M - N₂]; Found: 205.0587 [M - N₂]⁺.

2.6.13 .Synthesis of tert-butyl (9-bromononyl)carbamate(21).

Br(CH₂)₉N₃
$$\xrightarrow{(BOC)_2O, 5\% \text{ Pd/C}}$$
 Br(CH₂)₉NHBOC
EtOAC, r.t,15 hrs

A suspension of 5% Pd/C (10 mg) in 100mL EtOAc was bubbled with hydrogen for 25 mins. To this, mixture of 1-azido-9-bromononane (2.482 g, 10 mmol) and di-*t*-butyldicarbonate (2.615 g, 12mmol) in EtOAc were added; the resulting solution was stirred under hydrogen at room temperature until disappearance of azide as monitored by TLC. The reaction mixture was then filtered, Subjected to the addition of NaOH (10 mL, 1 M), and 20 mL MeOH, and stirred for 15 hrs at room temperature to remove unreacted (BOC)₂O. The mixture was extracted with EtOAc and washed with water several times until neutral, dried using MgSO₄, and concentrated in vacuo. The resulting solid was purified using column chromatograph on silica gel eluting with 2:1 Hexanes: EtOAc to give tert-butyl (9-bromononyl)carbamate as a white solids (1.827 g, 55%)

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.29 (s, 9H), 1.43 (s, 12H) 1.84 (p, J=6.9Hz, 2H), 3.06-3.12 (m, 2H), 3.4(t, J=6.82Hz, 2H), 4.48 (broad, 1H)

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 26.78, 28.17, 28.48, 28.71, 29.2, 29.37, 30.11, 32.84, 34.01, 40.65, 78.08, 156.03

130.05

MS [HR-CI]: Theoretical: 321.1303; Found: 321.1309.

2.6.14 Synthesis of tert-butyl (9-((3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy) triphenylen-2yl)oxy)nonyl) carbamate (22).



To a 200 mL round bottom flask equipped with a magnetic stir bar was added **16** (300 mg, 0.44 mmol), tert-butyl (9-bromononyl) carbamate (216 mg, 0.67 mmol), potassium carbonate (93 mg, 0.67 mmol) and 80 mL of dried DMF. The reaction was heated to 100°C and stirred for 15 hours. Then 25 mL of 0.1 M HCl (aq.) was added to the DMF and the solution was washed with DCM (3 x 25 mL). The organic layers were collected dried using MgSO₄, concentrated in vacuo. Crude product was recrystallized from MeOH to give pure tert-butyl(9-((3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylen-2-yl)oxy)nonyl)carbamate as a white solid (270 mg, 67%).

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 0.99 (t, *J*= 6.0 Hz, 15H), 1.33 (s ,3H), 1.43-1.58 (m, 38H), 1.95 (p, J=6.6Hz, 12H), 3.09-3.11 (m, 2H),4.23 (t, J=6.6 Hz, 12H), 4.49 (br, 1H), 7.83 (s, 6H)

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 14.24, 22.68, 26.29, 26.96, 28.48, 29.24, 29.41, 29.58, 29.69, 30.21, 40.74,
69.78, 107.40, 123.71, 149.06, 156.09.

MS [HR-CI]: Theoretical: 915.6588; Found: 915.6561.

2.6.15 Synthesis of heptamer amide(18b)



To a stirred solution of tert-butyl (9-((3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylen-2yl)oxy)nonyl)carbamate (917 mg, 1 mmol) in 100 mL THF, 3 mL 1(M) tetrabutyl ammonium fluoride solution in THF was added at room temperature. Then the mixture was heated to reflux for 10 hrs. Reaction progress was monitored by proton NMR. THF was removed under reduced pressure and mixture was extracted using (3 X 50 mL) DCM . The organic layer was dried using anhydrous MgSO₄ and concentrated *in vacuo*. The crude product was precipitated out from mixture using MeOH (669 mg, 80%) which was used for the next reaction without further purification.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1 (t, J= 5.3 Hz, 15H), 1.36- 1.95 (m, 42H), 1.95-2.26 (m, 2H), 2.94- 3.00 (m, 2H), 4.03 (m, 3H), 4.23 (t, J= 6.68 Hz, 12H), 7.84 (s, 6H)

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 14.20, 19.76, 20. 53, 22.73, 26.39, 27.13, 28.41, 29.18, 29.73, 37.19, 52.41, 69.75, 107.43, 123.58, 123.68, 149.06.

MS [HR-CI]: Theoretical: 815.6064; Found: 815.6043.



To 50 mL r.b flask equipped with a magnetic stir bar was added hexaazatriphenylene 2,3,6,7,10,11hexakis(methyl ester) (18 mg, 0.031 mmol),9-((3,6,7,10,11-pentakis(pentyloxy)triphenylen-2yl)oxy)nonan-1-aminium fluoride (518 mg, 0.62 mmol)and 2 mL Et₃N . The flask was then sealed and placed under a constant stream of nitrogen. The mixture was then heated to 120°C and left to stir for 96 hours. To the mixture 20 mL DCM was added and washed with water (3 X 20 mL). The organic layer was dried using anhydrous MgSO₄ and run through a column of silica gel to remove the excess triphenylene side chain. The heptamer was then eluded with pyridine. Pyridine was removed under reduced pressure and the resultant solid was dissolved in 50 mL of DCM washed with 2(M) acetic acid (3 X 20 mL) finally with distilled water (3 X 20 mL).The organic layer was dried using anhydrous MgSO₄ and concentrated *in vacuo* to give Heptamer Amide as a purple solid (82 mg, 50%).

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 0.9 (broad, 90H), 1.44-1.61 (m, 204H), 1.94 (broad, 72H), 3.49-3.74 (m, 6H), 4.21 (broad, 72H), 7.79 - 7.82 (m, 36H)

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 14.17, 22.64, 28.44, 29.20, 29.75, 40.49, 62.79, 69.72, 107.37, 123.62, 129.78, 138.55, 149.01.





Figure 2-10: ¹³C NMR of Heptamer Ester 18a (in CDCl₃).



Figure 2-11: ¹H-NMR of Heptamer Amide 18b (in CDCl₃)



Figure 2-12: ¹³C NMR of Heptamer Amide 18b (in CDCl₃).

References

- Chandrasekhar, S.; Balagurusamy, V. S. K. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 2002, 458, 1783.
- Lemaur, V.; da Silva Filho, D. A.; Coropceanu, V.; Lehmann, M.; Geerts, Y.; Piris, J.; Debije, M. G.; van de Craats, A. M.; Senthilkumar, K.; Siebbeles, L. D. A.; Warman, J. M.; Brédas, J.-L.; Cornil, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 3271.
- 3. Boden, N.; J. Bushby, R.; Clements, J.; Movaghar, B. J. Mater. Chem. 1999, 9, 2081.
- 4. Boden, N.; Bushby, R. J.; Clements, J.; Donovan, K.; Movaghar, B.; Kreouzis, T. *Physical Review B* **1998**, *58*, 3063.
- van de Craats, A. M. 'Charge Transport in Self-Assembling Discotic Liquid Crystalline Materials', TU Delft, Delft 2000.
- van de Craats, A. M.; Schouten, P. G.; Warman, J. M. Journal of the Japanese Liquid Crystal Society 1998, 2, 12.
- 7. Warman, J. M.; Kroeze, J. E.; Schouten, P. G.; van de Craats, A. M. *Journal of Porphyrins and Phthalocyanines* **2003**, 7, 342.
- Möller, M.; Wendorff, J. H.; Wert, M.; Spiess, H. W.; Bengs, H.; Karthaus, O.; Ringsdorf, H. *Liq. Cryst.* **1994**, *17*, 381.
- Praefcke, K.; Singer, D.; Kohne, B.; Ebert, M.; Liebmann, A.; Wendorff, J. H. *Liq. Cryst.* **1991**, 10, 147.
- 10. Praefcke, K.; Singer, D.; Demus, D.; Goodby, J.; Gray, G. W.; Spiess, H. W.; Vill, V. In *Handbook of Liquid Crystals*; Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH: 2008, p 945.
- 11. Thiebaut, O.; Bock, H.; Grelet, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2010, 132, 6886.
- 12. Boden, N.; Bushby, R. J.; Cammidge, A. N. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1994, 465.
- 13. Boden, N.; Bushby, R. J.; Headdock, G.; Lozman, O. R.; Wood, A. Liq. Cryst. 2001, 28, 139.
- 14. Boden, N.; J. Bushby, R.; N. Cammidge, A.; El-Mansoury, A.; S. Martin, P.; Lu, Z. *J. Mater. Chem.* **1999**, *9*, 1391.
- 15. van de Craats, A. M.; Warman, J. M.; Müllen, K.; Geerts, Y.; Brand, J. D. *Adv. Mater.* **1998**, *10*, 36.
- 16. Bisoyi, H. K.; Kumar, S. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2010, 39, 264.

- 17. Maliszewskyj, N. C.; Heiney, P. A.; Josefowicz, J. Y.; Plesnivy, T.; Ringsdorf, H.; Schuhmacher, P. Langmuir **1995**, *11*, 1666.
- 18. Plesnivy, T.; Ringsdorf, H.; Schuhmacher, P.; Nüutz, U.; Diele, S. Liq. Cryst. 1995, 18, 185.
- 19. Zelcer, A.; Donnio, B.; Bourgogne, C.; Cukiernik, F. D.; Guillon, D. *Chem. Mater.* **2007**, *19*, 1992.
- 20. Zhi, L.; Wu, J.; Müllen, K. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 5761.
- 21. Foucher, P.; Destrade, C.; Tinh, N. H.; Melthete, J.; Levelut, A. M. *Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst.* **1984**, *108*, 219.
- 22. Destwde, C.; Tinh, N. H.; Mamlok, L.; Malthete, J. Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. 1984, 114, 139.
- 23. Cayuela, R.; Nguyen, H. T.; Destrade, C.; Levelut, A. M. Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. 1989, 177, 81.
- 24. Kumar, S.; Varshney, S. K.; Chauhan, D. Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. 2003, 396, 241.
- 25. Grafe, A.; Janietz, D.; Frese, T.; Wendorff, J. H. Chem. Mater. 2005, 17, 4979.
- 26. Janietz, D.; Hofmann, D.; Reiche, J. Thin Solid Films 1994, 244, 794.
- 27. Janietz, D. Chem. Commun. 1996, 713.
- 28. Ong, C. W.; Liao, S.-C.; Chang, T. H.; Hsu, H.-F. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 3181.
- Lehmann, M.; Kestemont, G.; Gómez Aspe, R.; Buess-Herman, C.; Koch, M. H. J.; Debije, M. G.; Piris, J.; de Haas, M. P.; Warman, J. M.; Watson, M. D.; Lemaur, V.; Cornil, J.; Geerts, Y. H.; Gearba, R.; Ivanov, D. A. *Chemistry A European Journal* 2005, *11*, 3349.
- 30. Pieterse, K.; van Hal, P. A.; Kleppinger, R.; Vekemans, J. A. J. M.; Janssen, R. A. J.; Meijer, E. W. *Chem. Mater.* **2001**, *13*, 2675.
- 31. Gómez, R.; Segura, J. L.; Martín, N. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 47, 6445.
- 32. Milián, B.; Pou-Amérigo, R.; Viruela, R.; Ortí, E. Chem. Phys. Lett. 2004, 391, 148.
- 33. Kohne, B.; Praefcke, K. Leibigs Ann. Chem. 1985, 522.
- 34. Rogers, D. Z. J. Org. Chem. 1986, 51, 3904.
- 35. Arikainen, E. O.; Boden, N.; Bushby, R. J.; Lozman, O. R.; Vinter, J. G.; Wood, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2000**, *39*, 2333.
- 36. Arikainen, E. O.; Boden, N.; Bushby, R. J.; Lozman, O. R.; Vinter, J. G.; Wood, A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2000**, *39*, 2333.
- 37. Boden, N.; Bushby, R. J.; Headdock, G.; Lozman, O. R.; Wood, A. Liq. Cryst. 2001, 28, 139
- 38. Lozman, O. R.; Bushby, R. J.; Vinter, J. G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 2001, 1446.
- 39. Henderson, P.; Ringsdorf, H.; Schuhmacher, P. Liq. Cryst. 1995, 18, 191.

- 40. Rademacher, J. T.; Kanakarajan, K.; Czarnik, A. W. Synthesis 1994, 378.
- 41. Beeson, J. C.; Fitzgerald, L. J.; Gallucci, J. C.; Gerkin, R. E.; Rademacher, J. T.; Czarnik, A. W. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1994**, *116*, 4621.
- 42. Aumiller, W. D.; Dalton, C. R.; Czarnik, A. W. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 728.
- 43. Ishi-i, T.; Murakami, K.-i.; Imai, Y.; Mataka, S. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 5752.
- 44. Ishi-i, T.; Murakami, K.-i.; Imai, Y.; Mataka, S. Org. Lett. 2005, 7, 3175.
- 45. Kim, Y.-K.; Kim, J. W.; Park, Y. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2009, 94, 063305.
- 46. Secondo, P.; Fages, F. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 1311.
- 47. Gao, B.; Liu, Y.; Geng, Y.; Cheng, Y.; Wang, L.; Jing, X.; Wang, F. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2009**, *50*, 1649.
- 48. Salomon, E.; Zhang, Q.; Barlow, S.; Marder, S. R.; Kahn, A. J. Phys. Chem. C 2008, 112,9803.
- 49. Zhao, W.; Salomon, E.; Zhang, Q.; Barlow, S.; Marder, S. R.; Kahn, A. *Phys. Rev. B: Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **2008**, 77, 165336
- 50. Cho, B. R.; Lee, S. K.; Kim, K. A.; Son, K. N.; Kang, T. I.; Jeon, S. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.***1998**, 39, 9205.
- 51. Furukawa, S.; Okubo, T.; Masaoka, S.; Tanaka, D.; Chang, H. C.; Kitagawa, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **2005**, 44, 2700.
- 52. Galan-Mascaros, J. R.; Dunbar, K. R. Chem. Commun. 2001, 217.
- 53. D'Alessandro, D. M.; Davies, M. S.; Keene, F. R. Inorg. Chem. 2006, 45, 1656.
- 54. Herrera, J.-M.; Ward, M. D.; Adams, H.; Pope, S. J. A.; Faulkner, S. Chem. Commun. 2006, 1851.
- 55. Bu, X.-H.; Biradha, K.; Yamaguchi, T.; Nishimura, M.; Ito, T.; Tanaka, K.; Shionoya, M. *Chem. Commun.* **2000**, 1953.
- 56. Rademacher, J. T.; Czarnik, A. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 3018.
- 57. Pieterse, K.; van Hal, P. A.; Kleppinger, R.; Vekemans, J. A. J. M.; Janssen, R. A. J.; Meijer, E. W. *Chem. Mater.* **2001**, *13*, 2675.
- Chang, T.-H.; Wu, B.-R.; Chiang, M. Y.; Liao, S.-C.; Ong, C. W.; Hsu, H.-F.; Lin, S.-Y. Org. Lett.
 2005, 7, 4075.
- Roussel, O.; Kestemont, G.; Tant, J.; de Halleux, V.; Aspe, R. G.; Levin, J.; Remacle, A.; Gearba,
 I. R.; Ivanov, D.; Lehmann, M.; Geerts, Y. *Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst.* 2003, 396, 35.

- Gearba, R. I.; Lehmann, M.; Levin, J.; Ivanov, D. A.; Koch, M. H. J.; Barbera, J.; Debije, M. G.;
 Piris, J.; Geerts, Y. H. Adv. Mater. 2003, 15, 1614.
- 61. Kanakarajan, K.; Czarnik, A. W. J. Heterocycl. Chem.. 1988, 25, 1869.
- Palma, M.; Levin, J.; Debever, O.; Geerts, Y.; Lehmann, M.; Samori, P. Soft Matter 2008, 4,303.
- 63. Palma, M.; Levin, J.; Lemaur, V.; Liscio, A.; Palermo, V.; Cornil, J.; Geerts, Y.; Lehmann, M.; Samorì, P. *Adv. Mater.* **2006**, 18, 3313.
- 64. Ishi-i, T.; Hirayama, T.; Murakami, K.-i.; Tashiro, H.; Thiemann, T.; Kubo, K.; Mori, A.; Yamasaki, S.; Akao, T.; Tsuboyama, A.; Mukaide, T.; Ueno, K.; Mataka, S. *Langmuir* **2005**, *21*, 1261.
- 65. Buess, C. M.; Lawson, D. D. Chem. Rev. 1960, 60, 313.
- 66. Billard, J.; Dubois, J. C.; Tinh, N. H.; Zann, A. J. Chim. 1978, 2, 535.
- 67. Kumar, S. Liq. Cryst. 2004, 31, 1037.
- 68. Kumar, S. Liq. Cryst. 2005, 32, 1089.
- 69. Astruc, D. Modern arene chemistry; Wiley-VCH, 2002.
- 70. Percec, V.; Okita, S.; Wang, J. H. Macromolecules 1992, 25, 64.
- 71. Krebs, F. C.; Schiødt, N. C.; Batsberg, W.; Bechgaard, K. Synthesis 1997, 1285.
- 72. Bengs, H.; Karthaus, O.; Ringsdorf, H.; Baehr, C.; Ebert, M.; Wendorff, J. H. *Liq. Cryst.* **1991**, *10*, 161.
- 73. Naarmann, H.; Hanack, M.; Mattmer, R. Synthesis 1994, 477.
- 74. Boden, N.; Borner, R. C.; Bushby, R. J.; Cammidge, A. N.; Jesudason, M. V. *Liq. Cryst.* **1993**, *15*, 851.
- 75. Berresheim, A. J.; Müller, M.; Müllen, K. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 1747.
- 76. Borner, R. C.; Boden, N.; Bushby, R. J.; Cammidge, A. N.; Jesudason, M. V. *Liq. Cryst.* **2006**, *33*, 1439.
- 77. Kumar, S.; Manickam, M. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1615.
- 78. Kumar, S.; Varshney, S. K. Synthesis 2001, 0305.
- Mahoney, S. J.; Ahmida, M. M.; Kayal, H.; Fox, N.; Shimizu, Y.; Eichhorn, S. H. J. Mater. Chem.
 2009, 19, 9221.
- 80. Kumar, S.; Manickam, M. Synthesis 1998, 1998, 1119.

- Paraschiv, I.; de Lange, K.; Giesbers, M.; van Lagen, B.; Grozema, F. C.; Abellon, R. D.;
 Siebbeles, L. D. A.; Sudholter, E. J. R.; Zuilhof, H.; Marcelis, A. T. M. J. Mater. Chem. 2008, 18, 5475.
- 82. Kumar, S.; Lakshminarayanan, V. Chem. Commun. 2004, 1600.
- 83. Kumar, S.; Pal, S. K.; Kumar, P. S.; Lakshminarayanan, V. Soft Matter 2007, 3, 896.
- 84. Kumar, S. Synth. React. Inorg., Met.-Org., Nano-Met. Chem. 2007, 37, 327.
- 85. Holt, L. A.; Bushby, R. J.; Evans, S. D.; Burgess, A.; Seeley, G. J. Appl. Phys. 2008, 103, 063712.
- 86. Kumar, S.; Bisoyi, H. K. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 1501.
- 87. Kumar, S.; Manickam, M. Synthesis 1998, 1998, 1119.
- 88. Pal, S. K.; Bisoyi, H. K.; Kumar, S. *Tetrahedron* **2007**, *63*, 6874.
- 89. Li, H. S. (**2004**). *Synthesis of Octa-acids and -amines of Phthalocyanines and Tetraazaporphyrins* (Master's thesis), University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario.
- 90. Dufour, S. R. (**2006**). *Synthesis of Polyionic Tetraazaporphyrins and their Langmuir-Blodgett Properties,* (Master's thesis), University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario.
- Paraschiv, I.; Giesbers, M.; van Lagen, B.; Grozema, F. C.; Abellon, R. D.; Siebbeles, L. D. A.; Marcelis, A. T. M.; Zuilhof, H.; Sudhölter, E. J. R. *Chem. Mater.* 2006, *18*, 968.
- 92. Ding, Y. S.; Shiue, C. Y.; Fowler, J. S.; Wolf, A. P.; Plenevaux, A. J. Fluorine Chem. 1990, 48, 189.
- 93. Yamaguchi, S.; Swager, T. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 12087.
- 94. Yatabe, T.; Harbison, M. A.; Brand, J. D.; Wagner, M.; Mullen, K.; Samori, P.; Rabe, J. P. J. Mater. Chem. 2000, 10, 1519.
- Cross, S. J.; Goodby, J. W.; Hall, A. W.; Hird, M.; Kelly, S. M.; Toyne, K. J.; Wu, C. Liq. Cryst.
 1998, 25, 1.
- 96. Stewart, D.; S. Mchattie, G.; T. Imrie, C. J. Mater. Chem. 1998, 8, 47.
- 97. Schultz, A.; Laschat, S.; Saipa, A.; Gießelmann, F.; Nimtz, M.; Schulte, J. L.; Baro, A.; Miehlich,
 B. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2004, 14, 163.
- 98. Kumar, S.; Naidu, J. J. Liq. Cryst. 2001, 28, 1435.
- 99. Ma, L.; White, P. S.; Lin, W. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 7577.
- 100. Ma, L.; White, P. S.; Lin, W. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 7577.

- 101. Cook, L. E.; Spangelo, R. C. *Anal. Chem.* **1974**, *46*, 122.
- 102. Kreuder, W.; Ringsdorf, H.; Herrmann-Schönherr, O.; Wendorff, J. H. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **1987**, *26*, 1249.
- 103. Kanakarajan, K.; Czarnik, A. W. J. Org. Chem. **1986**, *51*, 5241.

3 Chapter 3: Inverted Discotic Liquid Crystals

3.1 Introduction

The classical design of a discotic liquid crystal is based on a more or less spherical polyaromatic core that is surrounded by flexible, usually aliphatic, side-chains.¹⁻⁶ Side-chains are mainly attached to lower the melting points of these compounds and to support columnar stacking due to microphase segregation between the aromatic cores and the side-chains.



Figure 3-1: Known star-like substituted hexaarylbenzene-based DLCs 28a-f,¹¹ 29a-d,¹¹ 30a-c¹² and 31a-c.¹²

This design, however, has some disadvantages for applications of these materials as organic semiconductors because they function as an insulating sheath that lowers charge carrier mobility orthogonal to the columnar stacks by several orders of magnitude ⁷⁻⁹ and they often occupy 50% or more of the volume. Previous work has shown that star-shaped structures, such as **28** and **29** in Fig. **3.1**,¹¹ with conformationally more flexible cores require fewer and shorter side-chains for the formation of columnar mesophases than rigid cores of comparative size. Another unusual feature of compounds **29** is their non-planar structure which also applies to the extended core examples **30** and **31** reported by Müllen and co-workers.¹² Note here that while all compounds **30** and **31** display mesophases of various order only compound **30c** displays a hexagonal columnar mesophase over a wide temperature range. However, all four examples illustrate that both internal flexible spacer chains and non-planar conformationally flexible cores are tolerated for the formation of columnar mesophases.



Figure 3-2: Reported inverted discotic liquid crystals 32 and 33. Cartoon of a conventional macrocycle A that is unfavoured because of the large cavity within the macrocycle and the inverted macrocyclic structure B.^{6, 13-16}

All the aforementioned compounds **28** to **31** contain aliphatic side-chains pointing outwards. Macrocyclic structures **32**^{15, 16} and **33**^{6, 13, 14} demonstrate that side-chains can also point inwards and still promote columnar mesomorphism (Fig. 3.2). These compounds have been termed inverted discotic liquid crystal because of their inverted orientation of the side-chains. The authors of compound **32** noted that the electronic communication between aromatic parts in neighboring columns should increase because the insulating side-chains point inwards but I do not expect them to be good organic semiconductors because the actual area occupied by the aromatic units is rather small in comparison to the area occupied by the insulating aliphatic side-chains. In fact, compounds **32** and **33** are both unlikely to show high charge carrier mobility along their stacks and have probably been intended to generate tubular columnar stacks rather than organic semiconductors.¹³⁻¹⁶

3.2 Objective

Objective of this project is to develop a new design for discotic molecules as organic semiconductors that avoids the attachment of peripheral side-chains. Instead, we envisage new discotic molecules that have aromatic groups linked together by short flexible spacers. Softening of the core by the spacer group is expected to sufficiently lower melting points and not interfere with the columnar stacking as long as a disc-shaped structure can be adopted. These structures may also be called inverted discotic liquid crystals because the spacer chains can be described as internal flexible side-chains. This chapter will focus on hexa(thiophen-2-yl)alkyl)benzene derivatives as our first target structures (Figure. 3.3).

Control of the self-organization and transition temperatures is possible by varying the length of the attached internal alkyl spacers and potentially the substitution position at the thiophene. Compounds **24** are unprecedented, to the best of our knowledge, but hexathiophenylbenzene has been prepared and is expectedly not liquid crystalline.¹⁰



Figure 3-3: Proposed inverted discotic liquid crystals based on hexathiophenylalkyl substituted benzenes 24.

3.3 Synthesis of hexa(thiophenylalkyl)benzenes

Two different approaches to hexa(thiophenylalkyl)benzenes **24** have been pursued here. The first approach relies on the [2+2+2] cylcotrimerization of di(thiophenylalkyl) substituted acetylenes **8** as final step whereas the second approach requires a hexa-Sonogashira reaction as key and final step (Scheme 3.1). Both approaches have their shortcomings and compounds **24** have not yet been successfully prepared. In the following I will describe the different synthetic pathways I have tested and conclude with possible alternative pathways that may be more successful but could not be tested because of time constrains.



65

Scheme 3.1: Typical synthetic route to prepare hexa(thiophenylalkyl) substituted benzene derivatives 24a-e. a) [2+2+2] cylcotrimerization of di(thiophenylalkyl) substituted acetylenes 8a-e and b) hexa-Sonogashira reaction followed by hydrogenation of alkyne groups to generate the final products 24a-e.

3.4 Approach via [2+2+2] cylcotrimerization of di(thiophenylalkyl) substituted acetylenes 8

Synthesis of the di(thiophenylalkyl) substituted acetylenes **8** was not as straightforward as expected and several different approaches have been explored (Schemes 3.2-9). The first attempt was based on a dialkylation of acetylene with bromoalkyl thiophenes. Bromoalkyl thiophenes **5** with alkyl spacers of 3-5 methylene groups were prepared in 3 steps and overall yields of about 55% as outlined in Scheme **1**. Bromothiophene **1** was reacted to compounds **3** by Sonogashira coupling with commercially available terminal alkynols **2** in excellent yields, which were subsequently hydrogenated to the hydoxyalkyl thiophenes **4** in quantitative yields. Lower yielding was the final conversion of the alkyl alcohol to the alkyl bromide with PBr₃ in about 70% yield after purification. Conversion to the bromide could also be performed with the crude hydrogenation products in 63% yield overall. In fact, only compound **4c** was obtained as analytically pure sample to determine the yield of this step.



Scheme 3.2: Synthesis of bromoalkyl thiophenes 5. Reaction conditions: a. PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂, CuI, [CH₃ (CH₂)₁₅]₄NCl, aq. 2-ethanolamine, THF, 60 °C, 14 hrs.⁵ b. H₂, 10% Pd/C, MeOH, rt, 4 days; ⁵ c. PBr₃, THF, 0°C-rt, 5 hrs. Yields for 5a and 5b are based on two reactions.

Compound **5a** was used for testing the dialkylation of acetylene to generate 1,8-di(thiophen-2-yl)oct-4yne **8a**, the required precursor for the final [2+2+2] cyclotrimerization. Dilithi

um acetylene was chosen as nucleophilic acetylene species and generated in situ by the reaction of 1,1,2-trichloroethene with *n*BuLi (Scheme 3).¹⁸ The formation of dilithium acetylene was confirmed by trapping it with dimethyldichlorosilane to form acetylenic dimethylchlorosilane (ADCS).¹⁸ However, addition of **5a** did not generate **8a** but unreacted **5a** was recovered after quenching although different solvents and reaction temperatures were tested (Table 3.1).



Scheme 3.3: Confirmation of the formation of dilithium acetylene by trapping it with dimethyldichlorosilane to generate acetylenic dimethylchlorosilane (ADCS) and reaction scheme to prepare 1, 8-di(thiophen-2-yl)oct-4-yne 8a *via* dilithium acetylide reaction with 2.2 eq. of 5a.; Reaction conditions: a. 3 equiv. *n*BuLi, 1:1 Et₂O : THF, - 78°C-rt, 12 hrs. b. 4 equiv. Me₂SiCl₂, Et₂O, 0 °C- rt, 8 hrs .¹⁸

		а			b				
entry	nBuLi (equiv.)	Temp (°C)	Solvent	Time(hrs)	5a (equiv.)	HMPA (equiv.)	Temp (°C)	Time (hrs)	outcome
1	3	-78 - rt	THF	12	2.2	0	0-rt	8	Recovered 5a
2	3	0 - rt	THF	8	2.2	0	0-rt	15	Recovered 5a
3	3	rt	THF	12	2.2	2.2	0-rt	15	Decomposition of 5a
4	3	10	THF	12	2.2	2.2	10-rt	15	Recovered 5a
5	3	-78	1:1 Et ₂ O/THF	12	2.2	0	0-rt	15	Recovered 5a
6	3	0	1:1 Et ₂ O/THF	10	2.2	2.2	0-rt	15	Decomposition of 5a
7	3	rt	1:1 Et ₂ O/THF	8	2.2	2.2	0-rt	15	Decomposition of 5a
8	3	-78 - rt	1:1 Et ₂ O/THF	12	2.2	2.2	0-rt	15	Decomposition of 5a
9	3	0 - rt	1:1 Et ₂ O/THF	8	2.2	0	0-rt	15	Recovered 5a
10	3	rt	1:1 Et ₂ O/THF	12	2.2	0	rt	8	Recovered 5a
11	3	10	1:1 Et ₂ O/THF	12	2.2	2.2	10-rt	8	Decomposition of 5a

Table 3.1: Different conditions that were tested for the	e synthesis of 1,8-di(thiophen-2-yl)oct-4-yne
--	---

The second approach to convert compounds **5** to **8** involved the substitution of the bromide with propynyllithium and subsequent (${}^{t}BuO$)₃W≡CCMe₃ catalyzed alkyne metathesis of the products.^{19,20} Again 2-(3-bromopropyl)thiophene **5a** was used for testing the feasibility of this approach (Scheme 3.4).



Scheme 3.4: Attempted conversion of 2-(3-bromopropyl)thiophene 5a with in situ formed propynyllithium 10 and subsequent alkyne metathesis. Reaction conditions: a. nBuLi 2.2 equiv., THF, -78 °C, 2 hrs; b. (1) CeCl₃, -78 °C, 1 h; (2) 1 h, -78-20 °C; (3) aqueous saturated NH₄Cl; c. (1) aldehyde or Weinreb amide, 1 h, -78-20 °C; (2) aqueous saturated NH₄Cl; d. (1) ZnCl₂, -20 °C, 15 min; (2) 5 mol % Pd(PPh₃)₄, 0 °C, 30 mins; (3) aqueous saturated NH₄Cl.¹⁹ f. 10 mol% (^tBuO)₃W≡CCMe₃, toluene, 100 °C, 10 hrs.²⁰

Propynyllithium **10** was prepared in situ by reacting 1-bromoprop-1-ene with nBuLi and the successful formation of **10** was confirmed by trapping it with benzaldehyde. Unfortunately, no reaction occurred with **5a** under the tested reaction conditions (Table 3.2). Successful reactions of propynyllithium with benzoyl chloride and cinnamoyl chloride have been reported if conducted in presence of zinc chloride and 5 mol % tetrakis(triphenylphosphine)palladium in THF at 0 °C.¹⁹

Table 3.2: Different conditions tested for the conversion of 5a with propynyllithium to form compound 11a.

a							С*			
Entry	1- bromoprop- 1-ene (equiv.)	nBuLi (equiv.)	Temp (°C)	Solvent	Time (hrs)	5a (equiv.)	HMPA (equiv.)	Temp (°C)	Time (hrs)	outcome
1	1.55	2.2	-78	THF	2	1	0	-78 - rt	5	Decomposition of 5a
2	1.55	2.2	0	THF	2	1	0	0 - rt	15	Recovered 5a
3	1.55	2.2	rt	THF	2	1	0	rt	15	Recovered 5a
4	1.55	2.2	-78	THF	2	1	1	-78 - rt	15	Decomposition of 5a
5	1.55	2.2	0	THF	2	1	1	0 - rt	15	Decomposition of 5a
6	1.55	2.2	rt	THF	2	1	1	rt	15	Decomposition of 5a
7	1.55 2.2 -78 THF 2 d						Decomposition of 5a			
8	1.55 2.2 0 THF 2 d					Decomposition of 5a				

* reaction mixture was quenched with aqueous saturated NH₄Cl after completion; d. (1) ZnCl₂, -20 °C, 15
 min; (2) 5 mol % Pd(PPh₃)₄, 5a (1 equiv.), 0 °C, 30 min; (3) aqueous saturated NH₄Cl.

My next attempt involved the alkylation of thiophene as the last step. This possible pathway was tested with 2-methylthiophene to block the second reactive site of thiophene (Scheme 3.5). 2-Methylthiophene was converted into its magnesium bromide salt **19** and in situ reacted with 1,4dibromobut-2-yne that was obtained from but-2-yne-1,4-diol by conversion with PBr₃ in 80% yield. The product **8**g, 1,4-bis(5-methylthiophen-2-yl)but-2-yne, was obtained albeit in low yields of 30-35% after purification. Reaction of the lithium salt of 2-methylthiophene with 1,4-dibromobut-2-yne generated **8**g in less than 20% yield. One should note here that both reactions (scheme 3.5) required extensive chromatographic separations for purification of **8**g from the crude reaction mixture.



Scheme 3.5: Synthesis of 1, 4-bis(5-methylthiophen-2-yl)but-2-yne by substitution of 1,4-dibromobut-2-yne with thiophene metal salts.

Despite the relatively low yields of the final step I also attempted the synthesis of all other compounds **8**, which required the synthesis of the adequate dibromoalkynes (Scheme 3.6). The approach starts with the protection of the hydroxyl groups of commercially available alkynyl aclohols **2** and bromo alcohols **13** with *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl chloride. *tert*-Butyldimethylsilyl ether protected compounds **14a** and **12a** are coupled *via* the lithium acetylide to form the dialkylated acetylenes **15a**. Unfortunately, this coupling step generated compounds **15a** in less than 20% yield and required tedious chromatographic separations for purification. Thus, this approach was also dismissed and the following deprotection of the hydroxyl groups and their substitution with bromide were not conducted.



Scheme 3.6: Reaction conditions: a,b. TBDMSCl, imidazole, N,N-4-dimethylaminopyridine, DCM, rt., 3 hrs; c. BuLi, HMPA, 0 °C, d. TBAF, THF, rt.; e. PBr₃,THF, rt.; f. thiophene, nBuLi, Et₃N, MgBr₂, -78 °C.



Scheme 3.7: Reaction conditions: a. Trimethylsilylacetylene, *n*BuLi, HMPA, THF, -78 °C; e. K₂CO₃, MeOH, rt, 24 hrs f. *n*BuLi, HMPA, 0 °C, 2.5 days

8c

5c

22c

Finally, the best working approach I found is presented in Scheme 9. Compounds **5a-c** were reacted with in-situ generated lithium trimethylsilyl acetylide to give compounds **21a-c** that were isolated as crude products and deprotected in methanolic potassium carbonate to afford compounds **22a-c** in fair yields. Coupling was tested only for compounds **21c** and **5c** to generate **8c** in 60% yield. One should note here that slightly less than one equivalent of *n*BuLi with respect to **21c** was used to avoid unreacted *n*BuLi that would react with thiophene and cause the formation of side products.



Scheme 3.8: Some representative examples of [2+2+2] cyclotrimerization of acetylene derivatives. Reaction conditions: a. Me₃SiCl, 10% Pd/C, THF, refl. 96 hrs;²¹ b. 5 mol% PdCl₂, 3 equiv. CuCl₂, MeCN, rt, 10 hrs;²² c. 5 mol% PdCl₂, 2 equiv. CuCl₂, 2 equiv. NaOAc, benzene/nBuOH (50:3), 40°C, 4 hrs;²³ d. 3 mol% PdCl₂(PhCN)₂, DME, 0°C - rt , 6 hrs;²⁴ e. 5 mol% Co₂(CO)₈, dioxane, reflux;¹² f. 8 mol% RhCl₃ 3H₂O, 30 mol % iPr₂NEt₃ , isopropanol, refl., 24 hrs.¹⁴

With sufficient amounts of compounds **8c** and **8g** in hand the final [2+2+2] cyclotrimerization to the hexa(thiophenylalkyl) substituted benzene derivatives was explored. Several different catalysts and conditions are known from the literature but many [2+2+2] cyclotrimerization were conducted with diaryl acetylenes and only a few with dialkyl acetylenes. Examples of previously reported [2+2+2] cyclotrimerization of acetylene derivatives are given in Scheme 3.8.

Unfortunately, all cyclization conditions I tested were unsuccessful for the trimerization of compounds **8c** or **8g**.



Figure 3-4: General reaction mechanism for metal catalyzed [2+2+2] cycloadditions of substituted acetylenes.³¹

A summary of the tested reactions is given in Table 3.3. Starting materials were recovered in about 85% yields for entries 1 to 4 while the starting material completely decomposed in entries 5 and 6 after 120 hrs. Products **24** were not identified by proton and carbon NMR in any of the crude reaction mixtures.



Scheme 3.9: Attempted cyclizations of 8c and 8g.

			Temp	Reaction
Entry	reagent	solvent	°C	time(hrs)
1 ²¹	Me ₃ SiCl, 10% Pd/C	THF	refl.	120
2 ²²	5 mol% PdCl ₂ , 3 eq. CuCl ₂	MeCN	rt	120
3 ²³	5 mol % PdCl ₂ , 2eq.CuCl ₂ , 2 eq. NaOAc	benzene:nBuOH (50:3)	40	120
4 ²⁴	3 mol% PdCl ₂ (PhCN) ₂	DME	rt	120
512	5 mol% Co ₂ (CO) ₈	dioxane	refl.	120
6 ¹⁰	$RhCl_3$ [·] $3H_2O$, iPr_2NEt_3	isopropanol	refl.	120

Table 3.3: Tested reaction conditions for the trimerization of compounds 8c and 8g.

The second approach to compounds **24** is based on a hexa Sonogashira coupling involving the 2-(alkyn-1-yl)thiophene derivatives **22** prepared in Scheme 10 followed by hydrogenation of the six acetylene groups (Scheme 3.10). Hexa Sonogashira reactions with hexabromo benzene have been reported but the yields were only 30%.²⁶⁻²⁹ Since a separation of the hexa-substituted product from penta- and tetra-substituted side products is expected to be very tedious the viability of this approach was tested by coupling 4-pentyne to hexabromo benzene. Three different reaction conditions were tested for the hexa Sonogashira couplings and reaction times up to 10 days. All conversions generated product mixtures that contained the hexa-substituted product in less than 10% yield. Typical sideproducts were penta- and tetra-subtituted benzene derivatives that had the remaining bromine atoms replaced by H. Optimization of the reaction conditions may increase the product yield to 30% but the required complex chromatographic purification discouraged us from continuing this path.



Scheme 3.10: Hexa Sonogashira reactions of hexabromo benzene with 4pentyne or 22a. Reaction conditions: a: PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂, Cul, [CH₃ (CH₂)₁₅]₄NCl, aq. 2-ethanolamine, THF, 60 °C , b: Pd (PPh₃)₄ , Et₃N, Cul, THF, refl.; c: PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂, Cul, (*i*Pr)₂NH, THF:toluene, refl. d: H₂, 10% Pd/C, EtOAc, rt.^{17, 26-29}

3.5 Outlook and Conclusions

The main road blocks for the preparation of hexa(thiophenylalkyl)benzenes **24** are the [2+2+2] cyclotrimerization of the first approach and the hexa Sonogoshira coupling to hexabromo benzene in the second approach. Initial difficulties with the synthesis of the precursor di(thiophenylalkyl)acetylenes **8** have been overcome but the yields of some of the steps must certainly be improved if larger scale preparations are necessary.

Many other catalysts (e. g. CpCo- η^4 -cyclooctadiene complex)²⁵ could be tested for the [2+2+2] cyclotrimerization but it is unclear to us what changes to the catalyst system may be most promising. In

contrast, not all reported cross-coupling conditions for the hexa Sonogashira reaction with hexabromo benzene have yet been tested by us because of time constrains. For example the catalyst system 4 mol% PdCl₂(CH₃CN)₂ and 8 mol% X-Phos has been successfully employed in hexa Sonogoshira coupling reactions.²⁷



Scheme 3.11: Proposed synthesis of 24d Reaction conditions: a. nBuLi, ZnCl₂; b. Pd(PPh₃)₄, Et₃N, Cul, THF, refl. c. H₂, 10% Pd/C, EtOAc, rt. ; d. 4 mol % PdCl₂(CH₃CN)₂, 8 mol % X-Phos, 3 mol Cul , (*i*Pr)₂ HN, dioxane, 80°C.

Another reported synthetic route to hexa-alkynyl substituted benzenes uses the zinc chloride salts of acetylenes and their $Pd(PPh_3)_4$ catalyzed cross-coupling to hexabromo benzene generates the hexa-substituted product in a reasonable yield of 60%.²⁹ An example synthetic pathway for the preparation of **24d** is given in Scheme 3.11

3.6 Experimental

3.6.1 Preparation of (thiophen-2-yl) alkyn-1-ols (3a-f)

To a 50 mL of round bottom flask equipped with a magnetic stirring bar, 2-bromothiophene (0.3 mL, 490 mg, 3 mmol), $PdCl_2$ (PPh_3)₂ (70 mg, 0.1 mmol), Cul (38 mg, 0.2 mmol) and hexadecyltrimethylammonium chloride (64 mg, 0.2 mmol) were added in 15 mL of THF under nitrogen atmosphere. To this mixture the alkynyl alcohol (2 mmol) and 0.5 M aqueous solution of 2-ethanolamine (8 mL) were added. The resulting mixture was heated at 60 °C for 20 hrs. This reaction mixture was cooled to room temperature and 50 mL water was added. The aqueous layer was extracted with dichloromethane (3 x 50 mL) and the combined organic layer was dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate. Evaporation of the organic layer under vacuum gave the crude product that was purified by column chromatography on silica gel using 1:4 ethyl acetate:hexanes as eluent to yield compounds **3a** as viscous yellow liquid.



3-(thiophen-2-yl) prop-2-yn-1-ol **3a** (234 mg, 85%) as a viscous yellow liquid ¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.8 (br, 1H), 4.51 (s, 1H), 6.96-6.99 (m, 1H), 7.21-7.27 (m, 2H)

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 61.10, 76.1, 85.88, 123.87, 125.31, 127.20, 129.87.



4-(thiophen-2-yl)but-3-yn-1-ol (**3b**) (274 mg, 90%) was prepared in a similar fashion to the synthesis of 3a using 3-butyn-1-ol (0.15 mL, 140 mg, 2 mmol).

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.7 (br, 1H), 2.72 (t, J=6.23 Hz, 2H), 3.82 (t, J=6.23 Hz, 2H), 6.94-6.97 (m, 1H), 7.16-7.22 (m, 2H)

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 23.23, 61.13, 76, 85.88, 123.87, 125.31, 127.20, 129.87.



5-(thiophen-2-yl) pent-4-yn-1-ol (3c) (300 mg, 90%) was prepared in a similar fashion to the synthesis of 3a using 4-pentyn-1-ol (0.1 mL, 168 mg, 2 mmol).

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.66 (br, 1H), 1.86 (p, J=3.87 Hz, 2H), 2.56 (t, J=4.18 Hz, 2H), 3.81(t, J=3.69 Hz, 2H), 6.93-6.95 (m, 1H), 7.06 (dd, J = 3.05 & 13.53 Hz, 2H).

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 16.30, 16.73, 31.29, 61, 76, 93.51, 123.93, 126.18, 126.90, 131.22.



3-(5-methylthiophen-2-yl)prop-2-yn-1-ol(3d) (260 mg , 86%) was prepared in a similar fashion to the synthesis of 3a using 2-bromo-5-methylthiophene (0.34 mL,533 mg ,3 mmol) and propargylic alcohol (0.11 mL,112 mg,2 mmol) .

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.61 (br, 1H), 2.46 (s, 3H), 4.5(s, 2H), 6.63 (s, 1H), 7.02 (d, J=3.3 Hz, 1H).

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 16.37, 31.38, 61.89, 74.72, 92.54, 121.46, 125.10, 131.43, 140.90.



79

5-(5-methylthiophen-2-yl) pent-4-yn-1-ol (3e) (320 mg, 89%) was prepared in a similar fashion to the synthesis of 3a using 2-bromo-5-methylthiophene (0.34 mL, 533 mg, 3 mmol).

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.86 (p, J=6.58 Hz, 2H), 2.44 (s, 3H), 2.56 (t, J= 3.46 Hz, 2H), 3.80 (t, J=3.53 Hz, 2H), 6.58 (d, J=3.40 Hz, 1H), 6.92 (d, J=3.45 Hz, 1H).

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 15.45, 16.37, 31.38, 61.89, 74.72, 92.54, 121.46, 125.10, 131.43, 140.90.



5-(thiophen-3-yl) pent-4-yn-1-ol (3f) (302 mg, 91%) was prepared in a similar fashion to the synthesis of 3a using 3-bromothiphene (0.3 mL, 326 mg, 3 mmol).

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.7 (br, 1H), 1.85 (t, J=3.59 Hz, 2H), 2.52 (t, J= 3.49 Hz, 2H), 3.80 (t, J= 1.33 Hz, 2H), 7.06 (d, J=2.97 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (t, J=1.278 Hz, 1H), 7.35 (d, J= 1.60 Hz, 1H)

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 15.85, 16.23, 31.23, 61.58, 75.81, 88.81, 122.39, 122.98, 128.14, 129.84.

3.6.2 Synthesis of 5-(thiophen-2-yl) alkane-1-ol (4c)

To a solution of 5-(thiophen-2-yl) pent-4-yn-1-ol 3c (664 mg, 4 mmol) in 100 mL MeOH, 10 wt% Pd/C was added. Then this solution was kept stirring for 4 days under hydrogen atmosphere. The reaction mixture was passed through a Celite pad and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was further purified by column of silica gel using 1:5 (Ethyl acetate: Hexanes) as an eluent to afford 5-(thiophen-2-yl) pentan-1-ol as yellow liquid (647 mg, 95%).



¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.41-1.49 (m, 3H), 1.57-1.64 (m, 2H), 1.67-1.75 (m, 2H), 2.85 (t, J=7.62 Hz, 2H), 3.65 (t, J=6.53 Hz, 2H), 6.78 (d, J=2.78 Hz, 1H), 6.92 (t, J= 4.92 Hz, 1H), 7.11 (d, J=5.03, 1H)

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 25.45, 30.23, 30.35, 32.60, 62.93, 119.94, 125.18, 128.24, 142.89.

3.6.3 Synthesis of 2-(5-bromopentyl)thiophene(5c)

To a 100mL dichloromethane solution of 5-(thiophen-2-yl)pentan-1-ol (680 mg, 4 mmol), PBr₃ (0.6 mL, 1.624 g, 6 mmol) was added at 0°C in drop wise manner under nitrogen atmosphere. The reaction mixture was allowed to reach room temperate slowly and kept stirring for 5 hrs under nitrogen atmosphere. This mixture was slowly poured into 100 mL ice cold water and 5(M) sodium bicarbonate solution added to neutralize it, finally extracted with dichloromethane (3 X 75 mL). The combined organic layer was dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate and dried under reduced pressure. The residue was further purified by column of silica gel using 1:5 (Ethyl acetate: Hexanes) as an eluent to afford 2-(5-bromopentyl)thiophene as yellow liquid (653 mg, 70%).



¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.44-1.57 (m, 2H), 1.72 (p, J= 7.22 Hz, 2H), 1.9 (p, J= 6.80 Hz, 2H), 2.85 (t, J= 7.59 Hz, 2H), 3.44 (t, J= 6.80 Hz, 2H), 6.79-6.80 (m, 1H), 6.91-6.94 (m, 1H), 7.11-7.13(m, 1H).

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 27.71, 29.79, 31, 32.61, 33.74, 123.02, 124.20, 126.79, 145.20.

3.6.4 Synthesis of 2-(4-bromobutyl)thiophene (5b) and 2-(3-bromopropyl)thiophene (5a)

To a solution of 4-(thiophen-2-yl)but-3-yn-1-ol (609 mg, 4 mmol) in 100 mL MeOH, 10 wt% Pd/C was added. Then this solution was kept stirring for 4 days under hydrogen atmosphere. The reaction mixture was passed through a Celite pad and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was used for bromination without purification .To the 100 mL dichloromethane solution of the residue, PBr₃ (0.6 mL, 1.624 g, 6 mmol) was added at 0 °C in drop wise manner under nitrogen atmosphere. The reaction mixture was allowed to reach room temperate slowly and kept stirring for 5 hrs under nitrogen atmosphere. This mixture was slowly poured into 100 mL ice cold water and 5 M sodium bicarbonate solution added to neutralize it, finally extracted with dichloromethane (3 X 75 mL).The combined organic layer was dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate and dried under reduced pressure. The residue was further purified by column of silica gel using 1:4 (Ethyl acetate: Hexanes) as an eluent to afford 2-(4-bromobutyl)thiophene (543 mg, 62%).



¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.8-1.94 (m, 4H), 2.88 (t, J= 7.12 Hz, 2H), 3.42 (t, J= 2.65 Hz, 2H), 6.80 (s, 1H), 6.91-6.94 (m, 1H), 7.13 (d, J= 4.08, 1H).

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 29.07, 30.24, 32.09, 33.39, 123.18, 126.84, 144.63.



2-(3-bromopropyl)thiophene (**5a**) (517 mg, 63%) was prepared in similar fashion to the synthesis of 5b using 3-(thiophen-2-yl)prop-2-yn-1-ol 3a (553 mg, 4 mmol).

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 2.23 (p, J=6.5 Hz, 2H), 3.03 (t, J= 7.22 Hz, 2H), 3.43 (t, J= 6.8 Hz, 2H), 6.8 (d, J= 3.1 Hz, 1H), 6.90-6.93 (m, 1H), 7.15 (d, J= 4 Hz, 1H).

 13 C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 31.04, 32.61, 34.38, 123.56, 125,126.97, 143.08.

3.6.5 Synthesis of 2-(alkyn-1-yl)thiophene (22a-c)

To a stirred solution of trimethylsilylacetylene (0.47 mL, 323 mg, 3.3 mmol) in 50 mL THF, 1.6 (M) nBuLi in hexanes (1.87 mL, 3 mmol) was added in dropwise manner at -78°C under nitrogen atmosphere. The mixture was kept stirring at -78°C for 1.5 hrs under nitrogen atmosphere .To it the solution of 5a (615 mg, 3 mmol) in hexamethylphosphoramide (0.6 mL, 537 mg, 3 mmol) was added drop wise at -78°C under nitrogen atmosphere. The mixture was then allowed to warm up to room temperature slowly and kept stirring for 6 hrs. The solvent was removed from the reaction mixture under reduced pressure. To the 50 mL methanolic solution of residue, Potassium carbonate (553 mg, 4mmol) was added and stirred for 2hrs under nitrogen atmosphere at room temperature. The reaction mixture was passed through a Celite pad and 100 mL water was added. Finally the mixture was extracted with diethyl ether (3 X 75 mL).The combined organic layer was dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate and dried under reduced pressure. The residue was further purified by column of silica gel using 1:4 (ethyl acetate / hexanes) as an eluent to afford 2-(pent-4-yn-1-yl)thiophene (270 mg, 60%).



¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 17.78, 28.71, 30.38, 68.98, 83.87, 123.27, 124.63, 126.87, 144.23.



2-(hex-5-yn-1-yl)thiophene (**22b**) (300 mg, 61%) was prepared in a similar fashion to the synthesis of **22a** using 5b (657 mg, 3 mmol).

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.55-1.66 (m, 2H), 1.79-1.84 (m, 2H), 1.96 (t, J=2.47 Hz, 1H), 2.23 (dt, J=2.51 & 6.99 Hz, 2H), 2.86 (t, J=7.32 Hz, 2H), 6.8 (s, 1H), 6.92 (t, J=3.44 Hz, 1H), 7.12 (d, J=5.11 Hz, 1H).

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 18.37, 28.23, 29.79, 31.29, 68.269, 84.53, 122.85, 124.04, 126.69, 145.47.



2-(hept-6-yn-1-yl)thiophene (**22c**) (331 mg, 65%) was prepared in a similar fashion to the synthesis of 7a using 5c (700 mg, 3 mmol).

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.44-1.60 (m, 4H), 1.66-1.73 (m, 2H), 1.95 (t, J=1.74 Hz, 1H), 2.20 (dt, J=2.38 & 6.81 Hz, 2H), 2.84 (t, J=7.65 Hz, 2H), 6.79 (d, J=2.67 Hz, 1H), 6.92 (t, J=3.58 Hz, 1H), 7.11 (d, J=5.10 Hz, 1H).

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 18.42, 25.98, 28.30, 29.85, 31.37, 68.34, 84.60, 122.92, 124.11, 126.76, 145.54.

3.6.6 Synthesis of 1, 12-di(thiophen-2-yl)dodec-6-yne (8c)

To stirred solution of 22c (588mg, 3.3 mmol) in 50 mL THF, 1.6 (M) nBuLi in hexanes (1.87 mL, 3 mmol) was added in dropwise manner at -78°C under nitrogen atmosphere. The mixture was kept stirring at -78°C for 1.5 hrs under nitrogen atmosphere .To it the solution of 5c (700 mg, 3 mmol) in Hexamethylphosphoramide (0.6 mL, 537 mg, 3 mmol) was added drop wise at -78°C under nitrogen atmosphere. The mixture was then allowed to warm up to room temperature slowly and kept stirring for 6 hrs. 100 mL water was added and the mixture was extracted with diethyl ether (3 X 75 mL).The
combined organic layer was dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate and dried under reduced pressure. The residue was further purified by column of silica gel using 1:4 (Ethyl acetate: Hexanes) as an eluent to afford 8c (594 mg, 60%).



¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.44-1.55 (m, 12H), 1.70 (p, J=7.2 Hz, 4H), 2.17 (t, J=4.8 Hz, 2H), 2.84 (t, J=7.5 Hz, 4H), 6.78 (d, J=3Hz, 1H), 6.92 (d, J=3.3Hz, 1H), 7.11 (dd , J=1.2 & 5.1 Hz, 1H).

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 18.78, 28.41, 28.93, 29.91, 31.42, 80.27, 122.89, 124.07, 126.75, 145.70.

3.6.7 Synthesis of 1, 4-dibromobut-2-yne



To a stirred solution of but-2-yne-1, 4-diol (860 mg, 10 mmol) in 100mL diethyl ether, PBr₃ (2.1 mL, 5.955 g, 22 mmol) was added drop wise at 0°C under nitrogen atmosphere. The reaction mixture was allowed to reach room temperature and stirred for 5 hrs. Then the mixture was slowly poured into 100 mL ice cold water and 5(M) sodium bicarbonate solution added to neutralize it, finally extracted with dichloromethane (3 X 75 mL). The combined organic layer was dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate and dried under reduced pressure. The residue was further purified by column of silica gel using 1:4 (dichloromethane: Hexanes) as an eluent to afford 1, 4-dibromobut-2-yne (6) (1.695 g, 80%).

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 3.86 (s, 4H) which consistent with the reported value³⁰

3.6.8 1, 4-bis (5-methylthiophen-2-yl) but-2-yne (8g)

To a stirred solution of 2-methylthiophene (1 mL, 982 mg, 10 mmol) in 50 mL of THF, 1.6 M nBuLi in hexanes was added drop-wise (7.5 mL, 12 mmol) at 0°C under nitrogen atmosphere. The mixture was allowed to reach room temperature and kept stirring for 2 hrs under nitrogen atmosphere. Then anhydrous magnesium dibromide (1.841 g, 10 mmol) was added to the reaction mixture portion wise at 0°C under nitrogen atmosphere and kept stirring for another 12 hrs after it reached room temperature. Finally reaction mixture was cooled to 0°C and 1, 4-dibromobut-2-yne (890 mg, 4.4 mmol) was added portion-wise. After stirring the reaction mixture for 15 hrs at room temperature, it was poured over 100 mL of water and extracted with dichloromethane (3 X 75 mL).The combined organic layer was dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate and dried under reduced pressure. The residue was further purified by column of silica gel using 1:5 (dichloromethane: Hexanes) as an eluent to afford 8g (739 mg, 30%).



¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 2.45 (s, 6H), 3.71 (s, 4H), 6.57 (s, 2H), 6.74 (d, J=1.71 Hz, 2H)

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 15.432, 20.25, 79.16, 124.731, 124.804, 137.552, 138.542.

References

- 1. Kaafarani, B. R. Chem. Mater. 2010, 23, 378.
- 2. Bisoyi, H. K.; Kumar, S. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2010, 39, 264.
- 3. Boden, N.; Bushby, R. J.; Headdock, G.; Lozman, O. R.; Wood, A. Liq. Cryst. 2001, 28, 139.
- 4. Boden, N.; J. Bushby, R.; Clements, J.; Movaghar, B. J. Mater. Chem. 1999, 9, 2081.
- 5. Kumar, S. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2006, 35, 83.
- Laschat, S.; Baro, A.; Steinke, N.; Giesselmann, F.; Hägele, C.; Scalia, G.; Judele, R.; Kapatsina, E.;
 Sauer, S.; Schreivogel, A.; Tosoni, M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 4832.
- Yatabe, T.; Harbison, M. A.; Brand, J. D.; Wagner, M.; Mullen, K.; Samori, P.; Rabe, J. P. J. Mater. Chem. 2000, 10, 1519.
- 8. Berresheim, A. J.; Müller, M.; Müllen, K. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 1747.
- 9. Wu, J.; Pisula, W.; Müllen, K. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 718.
- 10. Yoshida, K.; Morimoto, I.; Mitsudo, K.; Tanaka, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 2008, 49, 2363.
- 11. Pugh, C.; Percec, V. J. Mater. Chem. 1991, 1, 765.
- 12. Geng, Y.; Fechtenkotter, A.; Mullen, K. J. Mater. Chem. 2001, 11, 1634.
- Fischer, M.; Lieser, G.; Rapp, A.; Schnell, I.; Mamdouh, W.; De Feyter, S.; De Schryver, F. C.;
 Höger, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 126, 214.
- 14. Höger, S. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 3806.
- Jung, S.-H.; Pisula, W.; Rouhanipour, A.; Räder, H. J.; Jacob, J.; Müllen, K. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.
 2006, 45, 4527.
- Jung, S.-H.; Pisula, W.; Rouhanipour, A.; Räder, H. J.; Jacob, J.; Müllen, K. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.
 2006, 45, 4685.

- 17. Takahashi, M.; Masui, K.; Sekiguchi, H.; Kobayashi, N.; Mori, A.; Funahashi, M.; Tamaoki, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 10930.
- 18. Hu, J. D.; Zheng, Z. M.; Liu, L. H.; Zhan, Z. J.; Gao, W.; Xie, Z. M. Chin. Chem. Lett. 2004, 15, 29.
- 19. Suffert, J.; Toussaint, D. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 3550.
- 20. Fürstner, A.; Dierkes, T. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 2463.
- 21. Jhingan, A. K.; Maier, W. F. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 1161.
- 22. Li, J.-H.; Liang, Y.; Xie, Y.-X. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 8125.
- 23. Li, J.; Jiang, H.; Chen, M. J. Org. Chem. 2001, 66, 3627.
- 24. Thadani, A. N.; Rawal, V. H. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 4321.
- 25. Sigman, M. S.; Fatland, A. W.; Eaton, B. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 5130.
- Narita, T.; Takase, M.; Nishinaga, T.; Iyoda, M.; Kamada, K.; Ohta, K. Chemistry A European Journal 2010, 16, 12108.
- 27. Ehlers, P.; Neubauer, A.; Lochbrunner, S.; Villinger, A.; Langer, P. Org. Lett. 2011, 13, 1618.
- 28. Pappenfus, T. M.; Mann, K. R. Org. Lett. 2002, 4, 3043.
- 29. Sonoda, M.; Inaba, A.; Itahashi, K.; Tobe, Y. Org. Lett. **2001**, *3*, 2419.
- 30. Blond, G.; Bour, C.; Salem, B.; Suffert, J. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 1075.
- 31. Chopade, P. R.; Louie, J. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2006, 348, 2307.

4 Chapter 4: Cross-Linking of Tetraazaporphyrins in Mesophases and at the Air-Water Interface by Click Chemistry

4.1 Background

Huisgen and his co-workers were the first to realize the thermal 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition of azides and terminal or internal alkyne to 1,2,3-triazole derivatives.⁶ However, the high activation energy of this reaction requires a high reaction temperature for longer periods of time to be synthetically useful and both 1,4- and 1,5-regioisomers are formed. In 2001 the groups of Medal⁷ and Sharpless⁸ independently reported the first examples of copper catalyzed azide alkyne cycloaddition (CuAAC) reactions that occur at substantially lower temperatures and faster rate and produce predominantly 1,4-adducts.

A. 1,3-Diploar cycloaddition of azides and alkynes

$$R^{1}-N_{3} + R^{2} = R^{3} \xrightarrow{>100^{\circ}C} R^{1}-N \xrightarrow{N=N} R^{3} + R^{1}-N \xrightarrow{N=N} R^{2}$$

reactions are faster when R², R³ are electron withdrawing gropus

B. Copper catalylzed cycloaddition of azides and alkynes (CuAAC)

$$R^1-N_3 + = R^2$$
 $R^1-N_3 = R^2$ $R^1-N_3 = R^2$

C. Ruthenium catalylzed cycloaddition of azides and alkynes (RuAAC)

$$R^{1}-N_{3} + (H, R^{3}) \longrightarrow R^{2} \xrightarrow{[Cp^{*}RuCI]} R^{1}-N \xrightarrow{N=N} (H, R^{3})$$

Figure 4-1 :Uncatalyzed and catalyzed 1,3-dipolar cycloadditions of azides and alkynes.¹²

CuAAC reactions are tolerant to most functional groups, proceed in high yields with few possible side-reactions, and form stable 1,2,3-triazole rings as linkers.¹⁻³ Their application in the synthesis and processing of self-organizing and self-assembling materials, however, has been limited to the synthesis of molecular building blocks and the modification of self-assembled monolayers⁴ and Langmuir-Blodgett films.⁵

4.1.1 Mechanism of CuAAC based on DFT calculation

The mechanism of CuAAC reactions given in the Figure 4.2 was proposed by Sharpless *et al.* and is based on experimental studies and calculations at the Density Functional Theory (DFT) level. ⁹⁻¹¹ The reaction cycle is initiated by the conversion of alkyne **1** to Cu(I) acetylide **2** by the displacement of a ligand (such as acetonitrile or water). In the following step exchange of one of the ligands with azide takes place to form copper-azide-acetylide complex **3** where azide attaches to the copper through the nitrogen next to the carbon. Cyclization to an unusual sixmembered copper (III) metallacycle intermediate **4** occurs in the next step when the remote nitrogen of the azide in intermediate **3** is linked to the C-2 carbon of the alkyne.



Figure 4-2: Proposed mechanism of Cu mediated azide-alkyne 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition (CuAAC).⁹

Five membered ring intermediate **5** is produced to release the distorted ring strain of complex **4** *via* TS **1**. The reaction cycle completes with the protonation of complex **5** to give the desired triazole product.

4.1.2: Applications of CuAAC

CuAAC is a particularly powerful reaction for the assembly of complex building blocks such as the attachment of large dendrons to a rotaxane core,¹³ the synthesis of oligomeric phthalocyanines,¹⁴⁻¹⁶ and the attachment of dyes to polymers and carbon nanotubes.¹⁷ The 1,2,3-triazole rings that result from the CuAAC may also benefit supramolecular properties, selforganization, and electronic properties of the product because 1,2,3-triazoles have a strong dipole and aromatic character and the ability to accept H-bonds. Calamitic, ¹⁸⁻²⁰ polymeric,²¹ and discotic ²²⁻²⁴ liquid crystals containing the 1,2,3-triazole motive have recently been reported.

Reviewed in the following is the application of 1, 3-dipolar cycloaddition of azides and alkynes, especially CuAAC, in the synthesis of complex dyes, the attachment of dyes to surfaces, polymers, and nanostructures, as well as the synthesis of liquid crystals. Current work by various research groups have established that CuAAC is a straightforward coupling reaction method to append a large selection of molecules (proteins, sugars, porphyrins, phthalocyanine, DNA) onto a diverse range of surfaces such as gold, graphite, and silicon.²⁵⁻⁴⁰

Yilmaz *et al.* prepared first of a kind tetratriazole-functionalized phthalocyanines quantitatively and efficiently using click chemistry.⁴¹ Ikawa and his co-workers have prepared a water-soluble N-fused porphyrin-nona-arginine peptide conjugate (NFP-R9) *via* CuAAC method which has an enhanced ability to penetrate cells.⁴²



Figure 4-3: Alteration of symmetrically substituted phthalocyanines via multi click chemistry.⁴⁶

CuAAC technique was also used to synthesize octatriazole-functionalized phthalocyanines in excellent yields, which are demonstrated to generate well-defined supramolecular structures when doped with zinc(II) triflate.⁴³ Yoshiyama and co-workers successfully used a double CuAAC methodology to prepare covalently connected binuclear phthalocyanines with both sterically demanding *tert*-Bu substituents or trifluoroethoxy groups with click spacers and investigated their clamshell properties.^{44,45} Chen *et al.* functionally modified octaalkynyl Pc using click chemistry to prepare several Pc derivatives **28a-d** (Fig. 4.3) with different peripheral units on the macrocycle. These Pcs have been successfully used to fabricate solvent resistant Pc nanostructures *via* recently developed nano-imprint by melt processing (NIMP) technique.⁴⁶ was reported by Bourgoin's group, which were applied as photoactive substances on ITO to generate photo-anodes.⁴⁷

4.2 Synthesis of Tetraazaporphyrins (TAPs)

Tetraazaporphyrins (TAPs) belong to the general class of porphyrazines that are derivatives of porphyrins with methine bridges substituted by aza bridges. TAPs have all four methine bridges substitute by aza bridges similar to the more prominent phthalocyanines (Pcs) that also have benzene rings annelated to each of the four pyrrole groups of the porphyrin ring (Fig 4.4). Their opto-electronic and chemical properties are also similar to those of phtalocyanines because they are dominated by the meso-nitrogens in the macrocycle. In contrast, TAPs aggregate much less than phtalocyanines but similarly to porphyrins because of their smaller πelectron systems. TAPs have been tested as active materials in photoconductors,⁵³ gas sensors,⁵⁵ photovoltaic cells,⁵³ photodynamic therapeutics,⁵⁴ optical data storage devices,⁵⁵ and other commercially relevant applications. They are attractive compounds not only because of their high absorption coefficients in the visible range but also because of their often high thermal, chemical, and photochemical stability.⁴⁸⁻⁵²



Figure 4-4: General structures of phthalocyanine, porphyrin and tetraazaporphyrin cores.

In 1937, Linstead and Cook first synthesized tetraazaporphyrins (TAPs) by reacting diphenylmaleodinitrile and anhydrous magnesium powder at 275 °C for 10 minutes to obtain the octaphenyl magnesium TAP almost quantitatively.⁵⁶ The same research group later found that maleodinitriles and their derivatives generate TAPs at substantially lower temperatures (90 °C) when refluxed in presence of magnesium *n*-propanolate in *n*-propanol. This procedure produces TAPs in yields of nearly 55% with respect to the maleodinitrile derivative. Removal of the Mg ion from the TAP core under acidic conditions (e.g. acetic acid or dilute hydrochloric acid) ⁵⁷ gives access to the corresponding metal free TAPs, which can be subsequently metallated with many other metal ions. Linear polynitrile oligomers are the main side products of the magnesium *n*-propanolate method, ^{57,58,59} which agrees with the mechanism proposed by Oliver and Smith (Fig. 4.5). Formation of TAPs from maleodinitriles proceeds *via* reactive precursors that form oligomeric intermediates that subsequently condense to the magnesium ion templated cyclotetramer. The Mg(II) complex with two dimers is the proposed key intermediate.

Metal free TAPs are obtained by removing the Mg(II) ion in acidic solution and can be chelated with a wide variety of metal ions by exposing them to the desired metal salt solution. Several different elements, most commonly Cu, Zn, Co, and Ni, have been inserted into the central cavity of TAPs to fine tune their mesomorphism as well as the optoelectronic properties. The types of metals inserted in the cavity of TAPs also have tremendous impact on the liquid crystalline properties of the TAPs, in contrast to PCs where mesomorphism is little affected by the metallation.⁵⁶



Figure 4-5: Proposed reaction mechanism for the formation of TAPs from maleodinitriles in the presence of magnesium *n*-propanolate.⁵⁹

Metal-metal interactions significantly add to the co-facial interactions between mesomorphic TAPs and Pcs but the clearing temperatures (transition from liquid crystal to isotropic liquid phase) of the metal-free Pcs are often already above their decomposition temperatures so that the stabilizing influence of a metal ion cannot be studied based on transition temperatures. Most metal-free TAPs are not mesomorphic but their metallated analogues display columnar mesophases over wide temperature ranges. Pcs have a higher propensity to form columnar mesomorphism than TAPs because their π -electron system is larger, which increases π - π stacking interactions. However, the less strongly stacking and aggregating TAPs are better suited for studying the influences of metal ions and different functionalized side-chains on columnar mesomorphism.^{58,60.} In 1990 Doppelt and co-workers reported the first mesogenic TAPs and studied the mesomorphism of a series of metallated octakis(octylthio)tetraazaporphyrins. All of them exhibit hexagonal columnar mesophases,⁶¹ which was later confirmed by Morelli's studies on copper TAPs.⁶² The octathioether derivatives of TAPs appeared to be versatile core structures for discotics as the large polarizable sulfur atoms near the core enhance intra-columnar and intermolecular stacking interactions^{63,64} and the thioether linkage provided flexibility for the attachment of different side-chains.

Different examples of reported octakis(alkylthio)tetraazaporphyrin derivatives are shown in the Fig. 4.6. Studies on octakis(alkylthio)tetraazaporphyrins **18**⁶³ reveal that all metallated TAPs show mesomorphism whereas most metal-free TAPs do not except for the homologues with butyl and hexyl chains. The most stable columnar mesophases are formed by the copper and cobalt complexes. Vibrational and electronic spectral studies suggest that axial interactions between metal ions and sulfur atoms of neighboring macrocycles may alos contribute to intermolecular stacking interactions espeically in the solid phase.⁶⁵ Unexpectedly, compounds **18** form monolayer and multilayer Langmuir-Blodgett (LB) films although their amphiphilic character is weak.⁶⁶



Figure 4-6:Examples of different octakis(octylthio)tetraazaporphyrins.

96

Our group studied the mesomorphism and Langmuir-Blodgett properties of octathioether TAPs containing oligo(oxyethylene) side-chains **19**.⁶⁷ Their mesomorphism is comparable to their alkyl chain analogues but compounds **19** form more stable Langmuir and Langmuir-Blodgett films. All metal-free and Zn(II) complexes are not mesomorphic while all other TAPs **19** display hexagonal columnar mesophases. In alkenyl(sulfanyl)TAPs **20**⁶⁸ introduction of terminal double bonds lessens the thermal range in which they exhibit mesomorphism compared to their saturated chain analogues. This trend is prominent in metal free, Cu, and Ni complexes and weaker in cobalt complex.



Figure 4-7: Preparation of unsymmetrically substituted TAPs 21a-b, 22a-b and 23a-e and tetrapyrazino TAPs 24a-e. Reaction conditions: a.CrCl₂, trichlorobenzene, n-BuOH, 190 °C, 7 hrs; b. NBS, rt., CHCl₃, 15 mins; c. Pd(PPh₃)₄, toluene, DMF, K₂CO₃; d. AcOH; e. MX₂, DBU, n-C₅H₁₁OH.

Several unsymmetrical TAPs **21a-b**, **22a-b** and **23a-e**⁶⁹ where one thioether group is substituted by hydrogen, bromide, or aryl groups, respectively, have been reported to exhibit

mesomorphism except for **23e**. Ohta *et al.* prepared octaaza PCs **24a-e**⁷⁰ that form rectangular columnar mesophases as well as their octaphenyl derivatives **25a-k**, which can be converted to tetra-diazatriphenylene annulated TAPs **26a-f** that display tetragonal columnar mesophases (Fig.4.7 and 4.8).⁷¹⁻⁷³



25a $R = OC_{10}H_{21}$, R' = H M = Cu, **25g** $R = OC_{8}H_{17}$, $R' = OC_{8}H_{17} M = Ni$ **25b** $R = OC_{12}H_{25}$, R' = H M = Cu, **25h** $R = OC_{10}H_{21}$, $R' = OC_{10}H_{21}$ M = Cu **25c** $R = OC_{10}H_{21}$, R' = H M = Ni, **25i** $R = OC_{10}H_{21}$, $R' = OC_{10}H_{21} M = Ni$ **25d** $R = OC_{12}H_{25}$, R' = H M = Ni, **25i** $R = OC_{12}H_{25}$, $R' = OC_{12}H_{25} M = Cu$ **25e** $R = OC_{10}H_{21}$, R' = H M = Cu, **25k** $R = OC_{12}H_{25}$, $R' = OC_{12}H_{25} M = Ni$ **25f** $R = OC_{8}H_{17}$, $R' = OC_{8}H_{17} M = Cu$

 $\begin{array}{l} \textbf{26a} \ R = R' = C_8 H_{17} \ M = Cu \\ \textbf{26b} \ R = R' = O C_{10} H_{21} \ M = Cu \\ \textbf{26c} \ R = R' = O C_{12} H_{25} \ M = Cu \\ \textbf{26d} \ R = R' = O C_{10} H_{21} \ M = Ni \\ \textbf{26e} \ R = R' = O C_{12} H_{25} \ M = Cu \\ \textbf{26f} \ R = R' = O C_{14} H_{29} \ M = Cu \end{array}$

Figure 4-8: Preparation of octaphenyl tetrapyrazino TAPs 25 and triphenylene TAPs 26. Reaction conditions: a. AcOH; b. MX₂, DBU, n-C₅H₁₁OH; c. VOF₃, BF₃/ Et₂O, CH₂Cl₂, rt., 45 mins; d. MCl₂, DBU, 2 methylbutan-2-ol, 72 hrs.

4.3 UV/VIS studies of TAPs

Metal free and metallated TAPs can be easily differentiated by their characteristic UV/VIS spectra. The metallated TAPs have a higher symmetry (D_{4h} symmetry) than their metal-free counterparts (D_{2h} symmetry) and exhibit one weak and one intense absorption at around 670 nm denoted as "Q-Bands". "Q-Bands" of metal-free TAPs split into two weak and two intense peaks at about710 nm and 650 nm because of their lower symmetry. ⁶¹





Absorptions common to metal-free and metallated TAPs are their Soret-Bands at 350 nm and a weaker absorption at 530 nm that is characteristic of all octathio-substituted TAPs (Fig. 4.9). Schaeffer and Gouterman used extended Hückel calculations to determine in detail what orbitals are involved in the electronic transitions of TAPs.^{74,75}

4.4 Cross-linking of Discotic Tetraazaporphyrin Dyes in Two and Three Dimensions by "click" Chemistry

Reported here is the synthesis and mesomorphism of discotic tetraazaporphyrins (TAPs) that are octa-substituted with either terminal alkylazide or terminal alkynyl groups. 1:1 Mixtures of these compounds could be cross-linked by thermally activated [3+2] cycloaddition in a hexagonal columnar mesophase and in Langmuir monolayers *via* CuAAC. The Langmuir and Langmuir-Blodgett work was performed by Mohamed Ahmida and Hi Taing and only a few results are presented here to complete the description of the properties of these compounds. Both, CuAAC in Langmuir films and AAC in mesophases are unprecedented to the best of our knowledge. We also show for the first time that azide groups withstand the reaction conditions for the preparation of TAPs.



Α



16aH : M = H; R = (CH ₂) ₃ N ₃	16aCu : M = Cu; R = (CH ₂) ₃ N ₃
16bH : M = H; R = (CH ₂) ₆ N ₃	16bCu : M = Cu; R = (CH ₂) ₆ N ₃
16cH : M = H; R = (CH ₂) ₉ N ₃	16cCu : M = Cu; R = (CH ₂) ₉ N ₃
17aH : M = H; R = (CH ₂) ₃ -===	17aCu : M = Cu; R = (CH ₂) ₃ -===
17bH : M = H; R = (CH ₂) ₆ -===	17bCu : M = Cu; R = (CH ₂) ₆ -===
17cH : M = H; R =(CH ₂) ₉	17cCu : M = Cu; R = (CH ₂) ₉

Figure 4-10: Cross-linking of TAPs 16 and 17 by CuAAC in two dimensions (A) and structures of all synthesized TAPs.

4.5 Synthesis of TAPs

4.5.1 Synthesis of Maleodinitrile Derivatives

The starting material, disodium 1,2-dicyanoethylene-1,2-dithiolate **1** was synthesized from sodium cyanide and carbon disulfide in DMF following a literature procedure by Davidson and Holm. Its formation in 65% yield is in line with previously reported yields and verified by ¹³C-NMR and IR spectroscopy.



Scheme 4.1: Synthesis of Maleodinitrile Derivatives 9a-c.

Adequate purification of **1** by several recrystalizations from water was indispensable to extend its shelf life to several months. Samples of **1** are best stored in a freezer under inert atmosphere in an amber container because it is temperature and light sensitive.

In order to prepare the required side chains we have followed different methodologies that are discussed in the following. Alkanes with terminal bromine and azide groups were prepared in one step from commercially available bromoalkanols **2**. The Mitsunobu-type reaction conditions generate the bromo-alkyl azides **3** in 60-65% yield.

We also tested a 2-step approach that uses less expensive reagents, may give higher yields overall, and introduces more reactive leaving groups for the subsequent S_N2 reaction with

compound **1**. The same bromoalkanols **2** are first converted to azidoalkanols **4** by applying Sharpless conditions⁷⁶ and then the alcohol is converted into a leaving group by tosylation and mesylation. Chromatographic separation of tosyl alkyl azide **6** from excess tosyl chloride and tosyl alkyl azide mixture was found to be tedious. On the contrary purification of corresponding Mesyl derivative was easier. We have also tried another interesting method where dibromo alkyls **7** were subjected to react with sodium azide to generate the corresponding mono-azide **3** and di-azide **8** derivatives in high yields but the separation of mono-azides from di-azides was difficult because of their surprisingly similar physical properties (similar R_f values).

All alkyl azides react with **1** at room temperature to give thio alkyl substituted maleodinitriles **9** in yields of 60%. Bromo alkyl azides **3** reacted best with maleodinitrile **1** in methanolic solution and in presence of a catalytic amount of potassium iodide. Tosyl or mesyl alkyl azides **5** or **6** reacted faster with maleodinitrile **1** than their bromo analogues **3** and did not require potassium iodide as catalyst.

Side-chains with terminal acetylene groups and their maleodinitriles were also prepared by different approaches depending on the spacer length. Commercially available 4-pentyn-1-ol **10a** was converted to corresponding mesylate derivative **11a** using mesyl chloride. Subsequently, compound **11a** was reacted with maleodinitrile in MeOH to generate dialkylated maleodinitrile derivative **12a**.



a= K₂CO₃ or Na₂CO₃ or NaOH or TBAF

Scheme 4.2: Synthesis of Maleodinitrile Derivatives 12a-c.

Di-bromononane and di-bromohexane were used as starting materials for the corresponding maleodinitriles **12b,c**. Dibromoalkanes were reacted with 1.5 equivalents of trimethylsilyl acetylene (TMSA) to generate both mono- and di-trimethylsilylacetylene (TMSA) substituted derivatives **13** and **14**. The relative amounts of **13** and **14** were calculated based on proton NMR data. Separation of compound **14** was not necessary as it does not react with disodium 1,2-dicyanoethylene-1,2-dithiolate **1** and the reaction of the mixture **13b/14b** with **1** cleanly forms **15b** except for unreacted **14b**. Surprisingly, the subsequent cleavage of the

trimethyl silyl groups of **15b** was unsuccessful with commonly used methodologies, such as potassium carbonate, sodium carbonate, sodium hydroxide, and tetrabutyl ammonium fluoride, but resulted in decomposition of compound **15b**. Consequently, cleavage of the trimethyl silyl groups was conducted on mono- and di-trimethylsilylacetylene (TMSA) substituted derivative mixtures **13b,c** and **14b,c** to generate **17b,c** and **18b,c**. This mixture of **17** and **18** was reacted with maleoditrile to generate compounds **12b** or **12c** and unreacted **18b** or **18c**. Diacetylene derivatives **18b** or **18c** are easily removed from the mixture by evaporation in vacuum.

4.5.2 Synthesis of TAPs

Crude Mg chelated TAPs **16a-cMg** and **17a-cMg** were synthesized in typical yields of 60%-70% from maleodinitriles **9** and **12** by the Mg *n*-propanolate method described earlier (Scheme 4.3). Remarkably, neither the azide nor the acetylene groups are affected by the reaction conditions.

The generation of the TAP macrocycle was verified by UV/VIS spectroscopy and the presence of azide and acetylene functional groups was confirmed by IR spectroscopy of the crude reaction mixtures.

However, the Mg chelated TAPs were not further purified because of their high propensity to axially co-ordinate solvents and other Lewis bases to the central Mg²⁺ ion. Coordinated axial ligands obstruct π - π stacking and increase solubility but complicate purification and characterization, which is why the crude compounds were first dematellated before being purified and fully characterized.



Scheme 4.3: Synthesis of TAPs with azide and acetylene end-groups.

Demetallation of Mg chelated TAPs **16a-cMg** and **17a-cMg** was performed by heating them in methanolic acetic acid (5:1 acetic acid /MeOH) at 80 °C for about 8 hours. Progress of demetallation was monitored by UV/VIS absorption spectroscopy following the typical changes of the Q-bands (Fig. 4. 9). Purification of the crude products were acomplished by precipitation from acetone solutions by slow addition of methanol: water (2:1). Finally, chromatographic purification on silica gel gave analytically pure samples in overall yields of 30-35% starting from **9** and **12** respectively. Compounds **16a-cH** and **17a-cH** were characterized by ¹H-NMR, ¹³C-NMR, EA and IR spectroscopy.

Incorporation of Cu²⁺ ion into the metal-free TAP was performed by exposing compounds **16a-cH** and **17a-cH** to methanolic solutions of copper acetate or copper chloride. Again UV/VIS 106 spectroscopy was used to monitor the progress of the metallation to compounds **16a-cCu** and **17a-cCu** by following the change of their characteristic Q band absorptions. The paramagnetic character of the Cu²⁺ ion did not allow for NMR studies on these samples but they were characterized by IR, UV/VIS spectroscopy and HRMS.

4.6 Mesomorphism and Click Chemistry studies of 16 and 17 TAPs.

The thermal stability of TAPs **16** and **17** is limited by the stability of their alkynyl and alkylazide chains and was studied by thermal gravimetric analysis under He. Least stable are TAPs **16aH** and **16aCu** containing azide groups and propyl spacers that decompose between 100-120 °C (onset temperature). All other azid and alkynyl substituted TAPs decompose between 140-160 °C, which is still significantly lower than the reported 240 °C for analogous octa-alkenyl substituted TAPs.⁶⁸ Only small and non-systematic differences in thermal stability are observed between metal-free and copper containing TAPs.All twelve TAPs were studied by polarized optical microscopy (POM), differential scanning calorimetry (DSC), and X-ray diffraction (XRD) to probe their mesomorphism (Figure 4.12). TAPs **16aCu**, **16bCu**, **17aH**, and **17aCu** display columnar liquid crystal phases.



Figure 4-11:TGA graph of TAPs 16a-cCu.

All other TAPs form crystalline or columnar soft crystal phases, except for **16cH**, **16cCu** and **17bCu** that are amorphous soft solids and **17cH** and **17cCu** which are isotropic liquid. Clearly, the more stable mesophases are obtained with the shorter propyl rather than the hexyl or nonyl spacers.



17cH & 17cCu isotropic liquid

Figure 4-12: Phase behaviour of TAPs as determined by POM, DSC, and XRD. Transition temperatures are given in °C and enthalpies in kJ/mol. (POM) indicates that transition temperatures are obtained by POM and are not observed by DSC. Col_h and Col_r are columnar mesophases of hexagonal and rectangular symmetry, respectively, and soft crystal phase of columnar structure are designated as Col_{sc}.

A comparison with the reported mesomorphism of octa-alkenyl substituted TAPs⁶⁷ suggests that terminal alkyne and azide groups destabilize columnar mesophases more than terminal alkenes. Mesophases of azide TAPs **16** have the lowest temperature ranges, which is mainly a result of their higher propensity for crystallization and, for propyl spacers, their lower thermal stability in comparison to TAPs **17**. However, the obtained data do not conclusively determine whether columnar mesophases of TAPs are more destabilized by azide or alkyne groups.

Langmuir films (L-films) of a 1:1 mixture of TAPs **16bH** and **17aH** were chosen for the crosslinking by CuAAC because the macrocycles seem to adopt a more face-on orientation at low surface pressures based on the calculated area per molecule of about 240 Å². A face-on orientation of the macrocycle is expected to bring more azide and alkyne groups in contact with the catalyst in the aqueous subphase than an edge-on orientation.

L-films of the 1:1 mixture on an aqueous solution of copper(II) acetate and sodium ascorbate became insoluble in organic solvents after about 1 hour. Progress of the cross-linking is monitored by the decrease in surface pressure at a constant area and the point at which the surface pressure remained constant was interpreted as the completion of the CuAAC reaction (after about 190 min).



Figure 4-13: IR (film on KBr) of a 1:1 mixture of TAPs 16bH and 17aH (black) and of the same mixture as Langmuir film after cross-linking by CuAAC (0.638 x 10⁻³ M copper (II) acetate and 1.92 x 10⁻³ M sodium ascorbate) for 200 minutes (red) and transfer onto a KBr disk. The progress of CuAAC is monitored by the decrease of the N₃ and C≡C stretching absorptions at 2100 cm⁻¹ (arrow) and no further change was observed for reaction times long than 200 minutes. All L film work was performed by Mohamed M. Ahmida

The occurrence of CuAAC and its completion is independently confirmed by IR measurements of transferred L-films that show a large decrease of the overlapping azide/alkyne absorptions with time but not a complete disappearance (Fig. 4.13). A conversion of only a fraction of all azide and alkyne groups is reasonable because some azide and alkyne groups will not be able to reach each other once the molecules are locked into place after the first groups have reacted (Fig. 4.14). In fact, it is surprising that about 78% seem to react based on the relative integrations of the azide/alkyne absorptions at 2100 cm⁻¹ by using the C-H stretching absorptions as internal reference.



Figure 4-14: Cartoon of cross linking patterns of octa-azide and -acetylene TAPs in a Langmuir Film.

Solutions of any 1:1 mixture of azide TAPs **16** and alkyne TAPs **17** can be cross-linked by standard CuAAC to give amorphous dye polymers but more intriguing is their cross-linking in columnar mesophases without the use of a copper catalyst.

A 1:1 mixture of 1**6aCu** and **17aCu** displays a Col_h phase at 65 °C and was kept at that temperature for 3 days. IR spectroscopy is used to monitor the progress of azide-alkyne cycloaddition (Fig. 4.15)





while powder XRD measurements confirm the stability of the Col_h phase during the cross-linking process (Fig. 4.16).

Again the decrease of the combined azide/alkyne absorption peak was monitored by IR that continued for 40-48 hours until its area was reduced by about 60%. This was 18% less the reduction that was obtained for an L-film but solubility tests showed that the material is already rendered insoluble in organic solvents after 24 hours. Unexpectedly, the cross-linking process did not significantly affect the columnar mesophase, as evidenced by XRD, despite the formation of relatively bulky and polar triazole rings.



Figure 4-16: Powder XRD patterns of a 1:1 mixture of 16aCu and 17aCu at 65 °C over 44 hours. The yaxis has been shifted for clarity.

What is observed is a small decrease in intensity of the (10) reflection and its gradual shift to smaller lattice spacings by 0.2 Å over 44 hours. The former change indicates a small decrease in columnar packing order while the latter change is explained with the expected shrinkage of the intercolumnar packing distance during cross-linking.

4.7 Conclusions

Described are the synthesis and properties of two new sets of TAPs that contain either eight alkylazide or eight alkynyl groups. Their thermal stability is at least 80 °C lower than for analogous alkenyl substituted TAPs and decreases with decreasing spacer length. Only few of the TAPs with shorter alkyl spacers display columnar mesophases but, surprisingly, include the metal-free derivative **17aH**. Mixtures of azide and alkyne TAPs can be cross-linked *via* CuAAC in Langmuir films and as thin films to generate insoluble polymers. It is also shown that a 1:1 mixture of a discotic TAPs **16aCu** and **17aCu** can be cross-linked by thermally activated azidealkyne cycloaddition in their columnar mesophases and without significantly affecting the hexagonal columnar mesophase. However, more systematic studies are required to probe the full scopes of thermally activated and CuAAC catalyzed cross-linking of these materials in thin films and mesophases.

4.8 Experimental

4.8.1 Synthesis of 1-bromoalkylazides 3a, 3b and 3c

	PPh ₃ , DIAD, DPPA	Br(CHa) Na
Br(CH ₂) _n OH	0	Br(Ori2)nin3
2a n= 3 2b n= 6 2c n =9	THF, 0 C,12hrs	3a n=3 60% 3b n=6 60% 3c n=9 65%

PPh₃ (7.2 g, 27.5 mmol) were added to a stirred solution of 3-bromo-1-propanol (2.26 mL, 3.475 g, 25 mmol) or 6-bromo-1-hexanol (3.27 mL, 4.527 g, 25 mmol) or 9-bromo-1-nonanol (5.578 g, 25 mmol) in 100 mL of THF under nitrogen. The solution was stirred for 15 minutes at 0°C before diisopropylazodicarboxylate (DIAD) (6 mL, 5.560 g, 27.5 mmol) was added dropwise followed by dropwise addition of diphenylphosphorylazide (DPPA) (6.53 mL, 7.568 g, 27 mmol). The yellowish reaction mixture was allowed to warm up to room temperature and stirred for another 15 hrs. The mixture was concentrated to half of its volume before 40 mL of a 2:1 mixture of diethyl ether/hexane was added and the solution was kept at -8°C for an hour to precipitate out excess PPh₃ and generated OPPh₃. Removal of the precipitate by filtration was followed by a concentration of the organic layer in vacuum until a yellow viscous oil is obtained, which was further purified by flash chromatography on silica gel using ethyl acetate/hexane 1:4 as eluent to generate the pure product as a yellow oil.

1-Azido-3-bromo-propane (3a): (2.45 g, 60%);

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 2.10 (tt, J = 6.33 Hz, J = 6.20 Hz, 2H), 3.48 (m, 4H) ;

IR (cm⁻¹): 2932, 2856 (m,v(C-H)), 2091 (s,v(N₃));

MS [HR-CI]: Theoretical: 162.9745; Found: 162.9748.

1-Azido-6-bromo-hexane (3b): (3.08 g, 60%);

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.44 (m, 4H) , 1.61 (m, 2H), 1.86 (m, 2H), 3.27 (t, J = 6.6 Hz, 2H), 3.40 (t, J = 6.6 Hz, 2H);

IR (cm⁻¹): 2935, 2871 (v(C-H)), 2094 (v(N₃));

MS [HR-CI]: Theoretical: 177.0153 [M - N₂]; Found: 177.0153 [M - N₂]⁺.

1-Azido-9-bromononane (3c): (4.032g, 65%)

¹H-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.30-1.41 (m, 10H), 1.55-1.58 (m, 2H), 1.84(p, J=5.1Hz, 2H), 3.25(t,

J=3.6Hz, 2H), 3.40 (t, J=3.9Hz, 2H)

¹³C-NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 26.78, 28.21, 28.75, 28.92, 29.14, 29.37, 32.88, 34.12, 51.57.

MS [HR-CI]: Theoretical: 205.0592 [M - N₂]; Found: 205.0587 [M - N₂]⁺.

4.8.2 Synthesis of 1,2-dicyano-1,2-bis(azido-alkylthio)ethylene (9a, 9b and 9c)



Compounds **3a** (2.445 g, 15 mmol) or **3b** (3.09 g, 15 mmol) or **3c** (3.72 g, 15 mmol) were added to a stirred solution of maleodinitrile **1** (1.3 g, 7 mmol) and NaI (105 mg, 0.7 mmol) in 50 mL of methanol at room temperature under nitrogen and the solution was stirred for 24 hrs. Methanol was evaporated under vacuum and the residue was extracted with dichloromethane (3 x 50 mL). The combined organic layers were concentrated under vacuum and passed through a short column of silica gel using a 1:1 mixture of DCM/Hexanes as an eluent to generate the pure product as a viscous orange liquid.

cis-1,2-dicyano-1,2-bis(3-azido-propylthio)ethylene (9a): (1.51 g, 70%);

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.99 (p, J = 6.74Hz, 4H), 3.21 (t, J = 7.07 Hz, 4H), 3.48 (t, J = 6.34 Hz, 4H);

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 29.11, 32.02, 49.39, 111.82, 121.15;

IR (cm⁻¹): 2928, 2855 (m, v(C-H)), 2251 (m, v(CN)), 2095 (s, v(N₃)), 1647 (m, v(C=C));

HR-MS (m/z) [CI]: Theoretical: 308.0628; Found: 308.0626.

cis-1,2-dicyano-1,2-bis(6-azido-hexylthio)ethylene (9b): (1.92 g, 65%);

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ):1.36 (m, 8H), 1.53 (m, 4H), 1.67 (m, 4 H), 3.05 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 4H), 3.20 (t, J = 6.90 Hz, 4H);

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 27.49, 27.55, 28.81, 29.57, 34.69, 51.26, 112.05, 120.24;
IR (cm⁻¹): 2928, 2855 (m, v (C-H)), 2259 (m, v (CN)), 2095 (s, v (N₃)), 1643 (m, v (C=C);
HR-MS (m/z) [Cl]: Theoretical: 392.1561; Found: 392.1565.

cis-1, 2-dicyano-1, 2-bis (9-azido-nonylthio) ethylene (9c): (2.068 g, 62%);

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ):1.35- 1.48 (m, 24H), 1.75 (p, J=7.2 Hz, 4H), 3.14 (t, J=7.5 Hz, 4H), 3.29 (t, J=6.9 Hz, 4H);

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 26.76, 28.88, 29.01, 29.20, 29.31, 29.49, 30.59, 35.37, 51.50, 140.71, 153.22.

HR-MS (m/z) [CI]: Theoretical: 476.2504; Found: 476.2516.

4.8.3 Synthesis of pent-4-yn-1-yl methanesulfonate (11a)



Methane sulfonyl chloride (1.87 mL, 2.750 g, 24 mmol) was added dropwise to a stirred solution of 4-pentyne-1-ol (1.84 mL, 1.680 g, 20 mmol) in 50 mL of diethyl ether and 5 mL triethyl amine was add at 0 °C under nitrogen. The reaction mixture was then allowed to warm to room temperature and stirred for another 5 hrs. Water was added to quench the reaction and HCl (1 M) was added dropwise to establish and maintain a pH of 7. The reaction mixture was extracted with H₂CCl₂ (3 x 50 mL) and the combined organic layers were washed with water (3 x 50 mL) and dried over anhydrous MgSO₄. The solution was concentrated and the pure product was obtained as a viscous brown liquid by solid phase extraction from silica with H₂CCl₂.

(2.9 g, 90%);

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.95-1.99 (m, 3H), 2.35-2.39 (m, 2H), 3.04 (s, 3H), 4.37 (t, J= 6 Hz, 2H)

(consistent with reported values)⁷⁷

4.8.4 Synthesis of 2,3-bis(pent-4-yn-1-ylthio)maleonitrile (12a)



Pent-4-yn-1-yl methanesulfonate **11a** (2.6 g, 16 mmol) was added to a stirred solution of maleodinitrile **1** (1.3 g, 7 mmol) in 50 mL anhydrous methanol at room temperature and stirred for 24 hrs under nitrogen. MeOH was evaporated under vacuum and the residue was extracted with H_2CCl_2 (3 x 50 mL). The combined organic layers were concentrated under vacuum and passed through a column of silica gel using a 1:1 mixture of H_2CCl_2 /hexanes) as eluent to generate the pure product as a viscous orange liquid.(1.25 g, 65 %);

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.95 (p, J=3.3Hz, 4H), 2.024 (t, J= 2.7 Hz, 2H), 2.368 (dt, J= 3Hz, J= 6.75 Hz, 4H), 3.26 (t, J= 6Hz, 4H);

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 17.20, 28.44, 33.70, 70.18, 81.95, 111.95, 121.26.

HR-MS (m/z) [CI]: Theoretical: 274.0598; Found: 274.0591.



4.8.5 Synthesis of a mixture of (8-bromooct-1-yn-1-yl)trimethylsilane (13a) and 1,10-bis(trimethylsilyl)deca-1,9-diyne

*n*BuLi in hexane (1.6 M, 7.65 mL, 12.24 mmol) was added dropwise over a period of 5 min to a stirred solution of trimethyl silyl acetylene (1.44 mL, 1 g, 10.2 mmol) in 100 mL of THF at -78 °C under nitrogen. The resulting solution was stirred at -78 °C for 45 min before a solution of 1, 6-dibromohexane (1.07 mL, 1.7 g, 6.8 mmol) in hexamethyl phosphoramide (1.2 mL, 1.219 g, 6.8 mmol) was added dropwise at -78 °C.

The mixture was allowed to warm up to room temperature and stirred for another 5 hrs. It was then poured into 250 mL of water and extracted with H_2CCI_2 (3 x 100 mL) and the combined organic layers were dried over anhydrous MgSO₄ and finally passed through a short column of silica gel by using hexane as eluent.

The product is obtained in a 4:1 mixture of (8-bromooct-1-yn-1-yl)trimethylsilane **13a** and 1,10bis(trimethylsilyl)deca-1,9-diyne based on ¹H-NMR analysis and was used for the next step without separation.(combined 1.260 g, 70%); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 0.130 (s), 1.36-1.47 (m), 1.86-1.88 (m), 2.18-2.24 (m, 6H), 3.39 (t, J= 6.9 Hz, 4H);

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 0.28, 18.43, 19.87, 27.40, 27.73, 27.95, 28.32, 28.44, 28.55, 32.61,
32.72, 33.76, 33.92, 84.47, 84.66, 107.42, 107.66.

4.8.6 Synthesis of 2,3-bis(oct-7-yn-1-ylthio)maleonitrile (12b)

А 4:1 mixture (8-bromooct-1-yn-1-yl)trimethylsilane 1,10of 13a and bis(trimethylsilyl)deca-1,9-diyne (1.191 g, 4.5 mmol) in 100 mL MeOH was treated with K_2CO_3 (1.105 g, 8 mmol) at room temperature and stirred for 5 hrs to remove the trimethylsilane groups. Excess of K₂CO₃ was precipitated at 0 °C and filtered off before a solution of maleodinitrile (280 mg, 1.5 mmol) and NaI (24 mg, 0.15 mmol) was added. The reaction mixture was stirred for another 24 hrs at room temperature, MeOH was evaporated, and the residue was suspended in 100 mL of H₂CCl₂. Precipitates were removed by filtration before the organic layer was concentrated and passed through a column of silica gel using a 4:1 mixture of H_2CCl_2 /hexanes) as an eluent to generate pure **12b** as a yellow liquid.

12b (774 mg, 60%)

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.46-1.47 (m, 12H), 1.74 (t, J=6. 6 Hz, 4H), 1.94 (t, J=2.7 Hz, 2H), 2.17-2.21 (m, 4H), 3.12 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 4H),

¹³C-NMR (CDCl₃) δ: 18.38, 28.01, 28.11, 28.21, 29.83, 35.08, 68.56, 84.39, 112.18, 121.12.

HR-MS (m/z) [CI]: Theoretical: 358.1537; Found: 358.1543.

4.8.7 Synthesis of a mixture of 11-bromoundec-1-yne (15b) and trideca-1,12diyne (18b)
*n*BuLi in hexane (1.6 M, 7.65 mL, 12.24 mmol) was added dropwise over a period of 5 min to a stirred solution of trimethyl silyl acetylene (1.44 mL, 1 g, 10.2 mmol) in 100 mL of THF at -78 °C under nitrogen. The resulting solution was stirred at -78 °C for 45 min before a solution of 1, 9-dibromononane (1.3 mL, 1.94 g, 6.8 mmol) in hexamethyl phosphoramide (1.2 mL, 1.219 g, 6.8 mmol) was added dropwise at -78 °C.

The mixture was allowed to warm up to room temperature and stirred for another 5 hrs. It was then poured into 250 mL of water and extracted with H_2CCl_2 (3 x 100 mL) and the combined organic layers were dried over anhydrous MgSO₄ and finally passed through a short column of silica gel by using hexane as eluent. Finally the crude liquid was dissolved in 100 mL MeOH and added K₂CO₃ (1.105 g, 8 mmol). The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 5 hrs to remove the trimethylsilane groups. Excess of K₂CO₃ was precipitated at 0 °C and solvent was evaprated to get 2:1 mixture of **15b** and **18b.** (combined 1.101 g, 70%)

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.30 (broad), 1.39 (broad), 1.47- 1.54 (m) 1.85 (q, J= 6.9 Hz), 1.93 (t, J= 2.7 Hz), 2.17 (dt, J= 2.4 Hz & J= 6.6 Hz, 10H), 3.40 (t, J= 6.9 Hz, 4H);

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 18.43, 26.15, 28.18, 28.51, 28.74, 29.01, 29.06, 29.30, 29.36, 29.46, 29.68, 32.86, 33.98, 58.56, 68.08, 72.99, 84.79

4.8.8 Synthesis of 2,3-bis(undec-10-yn-1-ylthio)maleonitrile (12c)

2:1 mixture of **15b** and **18b** (1 g, 4.3 mmol) was added to a stirred solution of maleodinitrile **1** (240 mg, 1.3 mmol) and Nal (30 mg, 0.2 mmol) in 50 mL anhydrous methanol at room temperature and stirred for 24 hrs under nitrogen. MeOH was evaporated under vacuum and the residue was extracted with H_2CCl_2 (3 x 50 mL). The combined organic layers were concentrated under vacuum and passed through a column of silica gel using a 1:1 mixture of

H₂CCl₂/hexanes) as eluent to generate the pure product as a viscous orange liquid. (345 mg, 60 %);

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.29-1.45 (m, 24H), 1.75 (p, J= 6.9 Hz, 4H), 1.97 (t, J= 2.4 Hz, 2H), 2.12 (dt, J=2 Hz and J= 6.9 Hz, 4H), 3.14 (t, J= 7.2 Hz, 4H);

¹³C-NMR (CDCl₃) δ: 18.43, 28.46, 28.70, 28.95, 29.00, 29.27, 29.76, 29.88, 35.11, 68.28, 84.75, 112.15, 121.05.

HR-MS (m/z) [CI]: Theoretical: 442.2476; Found: 442.2485.

4.8.9 Synthesis of octa-azide and octa-acetylene TAPs (16aH, 16bH, 16cH, 17aH, 17bH and 17cH)

Mg powder (24.6 mg, 1 mmol) and 5 mg of iodine crystals were refluxed overnight in 50 mL of dry propan-1-ol under nitrogen until all Mg is reacted to Mg(II) propanolate. Maleodinitrile **9a** (1.54 g, 5 mmol) or **9b** (1.96 g, 5 mmol) or **9c** (2.383 g, 5 mmol) **12a** (1.372 g, 5 mmol) or **12b** (1.793 g, 5 mmol) or **12c** (2.213 g, 5 mmol) was added and the suspension was heated at reflux for another 24 hrs. The resulting greenish-blue suspension was cooled to room temperature, filtered and the filter residue was washed with methanol.

All alcohol extracts were combined, evaporated, and the residue Mg containing crude TAP was stirred in a mixture of 50 mL acetic acid and 10 mL methanol at 80 °C for 8 hrs to generate the metal-free TAP. Progress and completion of the demetallation was monitored by UV-VIS spectroscopy.



About 100 mL of water was added to the now purple solution and the product was extracted with H₂CCl₂ (3 x 100 mL), the combined organic layers were dried over anhydrous MgSO₄, and finally concentrated in vacuum. A partial purification was achieved by precipitation of the crude product from acetone solution by slow addition of a 2:1 mixture of methanol and water. The precipitated TAP was further purified by flash chromatography on silica gel using a 1:2 mixture of H₂CCl₂/hexane as eluent to generate the metal-free TAP as a deep purple solid.

2,3,7,8,12,13,17,18-octakis(azidopropylthio)-5,10,15,20-tetraazaporphyrin (**16aH**) (925 mg, 75%):

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): -1.45 (s, 2H, NH), 2.18 (tt, J = 6.5 Hz, J = 7.0 Hz, 16H), 3.67 (t, J = 6.3 Hz, 16H), 4.19 (t, J = 6.6 Hz, 16H);

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ):29.21, 34.42, 49.21, 139.82, 151.15;

IR (cm⁻¹): 3290 (m,v(N-H)), 2930 (m, v(C-H)), 2098 (s, v(N₃));

UV/VIS (λ max in nm) THF, (ϵ / dm³ mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 344 (44 300), 513 (20 600), 651 (26 100), 712 (34200);

EA(C₄₀H₄₈N₃₂S₈), Theoretical: 38.88 %C, 36.28 %N, 4.08 %H; Found: 39.22 %C, 36.00 %N 4.15 %H.

2,3,7,8,12,13,17,18-octakis(azidohexylthio)-5,10,15,20-tetraazaporphyrin (16bH) (1.255 g, 80%):

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): -1.12 (s, 2H, NH), 1.31-1.45 (m, 16H), 1.47-1.71 (m, 32H), 1.88 (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 16H), 3.19 (t, J = 6.6 Hz, 16H), 4.09 (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 16H),

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 26.12, 28.63, 28.81, 29.72, 34.89, 49.86, 138.01, 149.93;

IR (cm⁻¹): 3285 (m, v(N-H), inner core NH), 2932 (m, v(C-H), CH₂), 2095 (s, v(N₃), azide);

UV/VIS (λ max in nm) THF, (ε / dm³ mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 342 (44 100), 515 (20 500), 655 (26 200),714 (34 200);

EA (C₆₄H₉₆N₃₂S₈), Theoretical: 49.08 %C, 28.62 %N, 5.92 %H; Found: 48.80 %C, 28.30 %N, 6.24 %H.

2,3,7,8,12,13,17,18-octakis(azidononylthio)-5,10,15,20-tetraazaporphyrin (16cH) (1.545 g, 81%)

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): -1.06 (s, 2H, NH), 1.28 (br, 64H), 1.59(br, 32H), 1.97(br, 16H), 3.20(br, 16H), 4.12(br, 16H);

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 26.71, 28.84, 28.96, 29.15, 29.26, 29.44, 30.54, 35.32, 51.45, 140.63, 153.43.

IR (cm⁻¹): 3283 (m,v(N-H)), 2920 (m, v(C-H)), 2100 (s, v(N₃));

UV/VIS (λ max in nm) THF, (ϵ / dm³ mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 344 (44 300), 510 (21 000), 651 (25 900), 713 (34115)

MS [HRMALDI] (m/z): Theoretical: 1908.0252 [M+H]⁺; Found: 1908.0242.

2,3,7,8,12,13,17,18-octakis(pent-4-yn-1-ylthio)-5,10,15,20-tetraazaporphyrin (**17aH**) (770 mg, 70%):

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ):-1.30 (s, 2H, NH), 1.90 (s, 8H), 2.08 (p, J= 6.9 Hz, 16H), 2.52 (t, J = 2.1 Hz, 16H), 4.18 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 16H),

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 17.72, 29.28, 34.00, 69.33, 83.43, 140.59, 153.35.

IR (cm⁻¹): 3290 (s,v(C-H) alkyne), (w,v(N-H), inner core NH), 2850, 2917, 2934 (m, v(C-H), CH₂), 2115 (w, v(C≡C));

UV/VIS (λ max in nm) THF, (ε / dm³ mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 355 (43090), 565 (18940), 645 (26470), 710 (34200)

MS [HRMALDI] (m/z): Theoretical: 1099.2625 [M+H]⁺; Found: 1099.2646.

2,3,7,8,12,13,17,18-octakis(oct-7-yn-1-ylthio)-5,10,15,20-tetraazaporphyrin (**17bH**) (1.005 g, 70%):

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ):-1.13 (s, 2H), 1.38-1.72 (m, 48H), 1.79-1.96 (m, 24H), 2.04-2.19 (m 16H), 4.08 (t, J=7.2 Hz, 16H);

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ):18.37, 28.39, 28.45, 29.75, 30.41, 35.24, 68.26, 84.49, 140.63, 153.2;

IR (cm⁻¹): 3290 (s, v(C-H) alkyne), v(N-H), inner core NH), 2854, 2930 (m, v(C-H), CH₂), 2115 (w, v(C≡C))

UV/VIS (λ max in nm) THF, (ε / dm³ mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 355 (43030), 562 (19091), 642 (26060), 710 (33333)

MS [HRMALDI] (m/z): Theoretical: 1435.6384 [M+H]⁺; Found: 1435.6380.

2,3,7,8,12,13,17,18-octakis(undeca-10-yn-1-ylthio)-5,10,15,20-tetraazaporphyrin (**17cH**) (1.241 g, 70%)

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): -1.09 (s, 2H), 1.28 -1.62 (m, 96H), 1.91 (br, 24H), 2.13 (br, 16H), 4.12 (br, 16H)

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 18.44, 23.03, 23.81, 28.13, 28.76, 29.07, 29.25, 30.42, 33.58, 68.2,
84.81, 132.52, 167.78.

IR (cm⁻¹): 3300 (s,v(C-H) alkyne), (w,v(N-H), inner core NH), 2845, 2920, 2933 (m, v(C-H), CH₂), 2113 (w, v(C≡C));

UV/VIS (λ max in nm) THF, (ε / dm³ mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 360 (43100), 565 (18965), 645 (26500), 712 (34200).

4.8.10 Synthesis of octa-azide and octa-acetylene copper TAPs (16aCu, 16bCu, 16cCu 17aCu, 17bCu and 17cCu)

Metal-free TAP **16aH** (617 mg, 0.5 mmol) or **16bH** (785mg,0.5mmol),or 6c (954mg, 0.5 mmol) **17aH** (550mg, 0.5mmol), or **17bH** (718mg, 0.5mmol) or **17cH** (886mg, 0.5mmol) was stirred in a solution of anhydrous copper(II) chloride (108 mg, 0.8 mmol) in 50 mL methanol at reflux for 8 hrs. Progress and completion of copper metallation was monitored by UV-VIS spectroscopy. Aqueous 5% ammonium chloride (100mL) was added and the TAP was extracted with H_2CCl_2 (3 x 100mL). The combined organic layers were extracted with water (2 x 100mL), dried over anhydrous MgSO₄, and concentrated. The crude product was further purified by flash chromatography on silica gel using a 1:2 mixture of H_2CCl_2 /hexane as eluent to generate the copper TAP as a deep blue solid.

2,3,7,8,12,13,17,18-octakis(azidopropylthio)-5,10,15,20-tetraazaporphyrinato-copper(**16aCu**) (519 mg, 80%):

IR (cm⁻¹): 2849, 2917, 2957 (m, v(C-H), CH₂), 2093 (s, v(N₃), azide);

UV/VIS (λ max in nm) THF, (ε / dm³ mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 362 (21820), 500 (7576), 667 (30606);

2,3,7,8,12,13,17,18-octakis(azidohexylthio)-5,10,15,20-tetraazaporphyrinato-copper(**16bCu**) (653 mg, 81%),

IR (cm⁻¹): 2853, 2929, (m, v(C-H), CH₂), 2094 (s, v(N₃), azide);

UV/VIS (λ max in nm) THF, (ε / dm³ mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 365 (21970), 505 (7758), 670 (30667);

MS [HRMALDI] (m/z): Theoretical: $1632.5635 [M+H]^+$; Found: 1632.5630.

2,3,7,8,12,13,17,18-octakis(azidononylthio)-5,10,15,20-tetraazaporphyrinato-copper(**16cCu**) (788 mg, 80%),

IR (cm⁻¹): 2851, 2915, 2960 (m, v(C-H), CH₂), 2090 (s, v(N₃), azide);

UV/VIS (λ max in nm) THF, (ϵ / dm³ mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 365 (24857), 504 (8354), 670 (30616);

MS [HRMALDI] (m/z): Theoretical: 1968.9391 [M+H]⁺; Found: 1968.9329.

2,3,7,8,12,13,17,18-octakis(pent-4-yn-1-ylthio)-5,10,15,20-tetraazaporphyrinato-copper (**17aCu**) (464 mg, 80%):

IR (cm⁻¹): 3295, 3353 (s,v(C-H) alkyne), 2853, 2930(s, v(C-H), CH₂), 2116 (w, v(C≡C));

UV/VIS (λ max in nm) THF, (ε / dm³ mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 360 (25151), 500 (8667), 665 (29090);

MS [HRMALDI] (m/z): Theoretical: 1160.1767 [M+H]⁺; Found: 1160.1754.

2,3,7,8,12,13,17,18-octakis(oct-7-yn-1-ylthio)-5,10,15,20-tetraazaporphyrinato-copper(**17bCu**) (600 mg, 80%):

IR (cm⁻¹): 3300, 3352 (s, v(C-H) alkyne), 2853, 2930(s, v(C-H), CH₂), 2117 (w, v(C≡C));

UV/VIS (λ max in nm) THF, (ϵ / dm³ mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 365 (24850), 503 (8364), 670 (30606);

MS [HRMALDI] (m/z): Theoretical: 1496.5523 [M+H]⁺; Found: 1496.5552.

2,3,7,8,12,13,17,18-octakis(undeca-10-yn-1-ylthio)-5,10,15,20-tetraazaporphyrinatocopper(**17cCu**) (726mg, 82%)

IR (cm⁻¹): 3300, 3350 (s, v(C-H) alkyne), 2850, 2928 (s, v(C-H), CH₂), 2110 (w, v(C≡C));

UV/VIS (λ max in nm) THF, (ε / dm³ mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 365 (21975), 505 (7760), 670 (30655)



Figure 4-17: 1 H-NMR of 16bH (in CDCl₃).



Figure 4-18: 13 C-NMR of 16bH (in CDCl₃).



Figure 4-19: ¹H-NMR of 16cH (in CDCl₃).



Figure 4-20: 13 C-NMR of 16cH (in CDCl₃).



Figure 4-22: ¹³C-NMR of 17aH (in CDCl₃).



Figure 4-23: ¹H-NMR of 17bH (in CDCl₃).



Figure 4-24: 13 C-NMR of 17bH (in CDCl₃).

References

- 1. Wu, P.; Fokin, V. V. Aldrichimica Acta 2007, 40, 7.
- 2. Hawker, C. J.; Fokin, V. V.; Finn, M. G.; Sharpless, K. B. Aust. J. Chem. 2007, 60, 381.
- 3. Johnson, J. A.; Finn, M. G.; Koberstein, J. T.; Turro, N. J. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.* **2008**, *29*, 1052.
- 4. Devaraj, N. K.; Collman, J. P. QSAR Comb. Sci. 2007, 26, 1253.
- 5. Niehaus, J. C.; Hirtz, M.; Brinks, M. K.; Studer, A.; Fuchs, H.; Chi, L. *Langmuir* **2010**, *26*, 15388.
- 6. Huisgen, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1963, 2, 565.
- 7. Tornøe, C. W.; Christensen, C.; Meldal, M. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 3057.
- 8. Kolb, H. C.; Finn, M. G.; Sharpless, K. B. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 2004.
- Himo, F.; Lovell, T.; Hilgraf, R.; Rostovtsev, V. V.; Noodleman, L.; Sharpless, K. B.; Fokin, V. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 127, 210.
- 10. Ahlquist, M.; Fokin, V. V. Organometallics 2007, 26, 4389.
- 11. Straub, B. F. Chem. Commun. 2007, 3868.
- 12. Hein, J. E.; Fokin, V. V. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2010, 39.
- Aprahamian, I.; Yasuda, T.; Ikeda, T.; Saha, S.; Dichtel, W. R.; Isoda, K.; Kato, T.; Stoddart, J. F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 4675.
- 14. Hahn, U.; Torres, T. J. Porphyrins Phthalocyanines **2011**, 15, 364.
- 15. Yoshiyama, H.; Shibata, N.; Sato, T.; Nakamura, S.; Toru, T. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2008**, *6*, 4498.
- 16. Diaz , D. D.; Cid, J. J.; Vazquez , P.; Torres, T. Chem.--Eur. J 2008, 14, 9261.
- Campidelli, S. p.; Ballesteros, B.; Filoramo, A.; Díaz, D. D. a.; de la Torre, G.; Torres, T. s.; Rahman, G. M. A.; Ehli, C.; Kiessling, D.; Werner, F.; Sgobba, V.; Guldi, D. M.; Cioffi, C.; Prato, M.; Bourgoin, J.-P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 11503.
- 18. Srividhya, D.; Manjunathan, S.; Thirumaran, S. E-J. Chem. 2009, 6, 928.
- 19. Gallardo, H.; Bortoluzzi, A. J.; De Oliveira Santos, D. M. P. Liq. Cryst. 2008, 35, 719.
- 20. Gallardo, H.; Ely, F.; Bortoluzzi, A. J.; Conte, G. Liq. Cryst. 2005, 32, 667.
- Srividhya, D.; Manjunathan, S.; Nithyanandan, S.; Balamurugan, S.; Senthil, S. Chin. J. Polym. Sci. 2009, 27, 761.

- 22. Ryu, M.-H.; Choi, J.-W.; Kim, H.-J.; Park, N.; Cho, B.-K. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2011**, 50, 5737.
- 23. Basak, D.; Christensen, S.; Surampudi, S. K.; Versek, C.; Toscano, D. T.; Tuominen, M. T.; Hayward, R. C.; Venkataraman, D. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 5566.
- 24. Ryu, M.-H.; Choi, J.-W.; Cho, B.-K. J. Mater. Chem. 2010, 20, 1806.
- 25. Collman, J. P.; Devaraj, N. K.; Chidsey, C. E. D. Langmuir 2004, 20, 1051.
- Collman, J. P.; Devaraj, N. K.; Decréau, R. A.; Yang, Y.; Yan, Y.-L.; Ebina, W.; Eberspacher, T. A.; Chidsey, C. E. D. *Science* 2007, *315*, 1565.
- 27. Zhang, Y.; Luo, S.; Tang, Y.; Yu, L.; Hou, K.-Y.; Cheng, J.-P.; Zeng, X.; Wang, P. G. Anal. *Chem.* **2006**, *78*, 2001.
- 28. Zirbs, R.; Kienberger, F.; Hinterdorfer, P.; Binder, W. H. Langmuir 2005, 21, 8414.
- 29. Porter, M. D.; Bright, T. B.; Allara, D. L.; Chidsey, C. E. D. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1987**, *109*, 3559.
- 30. Ulman, A. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 1533.
- 31. Lummerstorfer, T.; Hoffmann, H. J. Phys. Chem. B 2004, 108, 3963.
- 32. Guo, Z.; Lei, A.; Zhang, Y.; Xu, Q.; Xue, X.; Zhang, F.; Liang, X. *Chem. Commun.* **2007**, 2491.
- 33. Meng, J.-c.; Siuzdak, G.; Finn, M. G. Chem. Commun. 2004, 2108.
- 34. Li, H.; Cheng, F.; Duft, A. M.; Adronov, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 14518.
- 35. Devadoss, A.; Chidsey, C. E. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 5370.
- Rohde, R. D.; Agnew, H. D.; Yeo, W.-S.; Bailey, R. C.; Heath, J. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 9518.
- Ciampi, S.; Böcking, T.; Kilian, K. A.; James, M.; Harper, J. B.; Gooding, J. J. Langmuir 2007, 23, 9320.
- 38. White, M. A.; Johnson, J. A.; Koberstein, J. T.; Turro, N. J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2006**, *128*, 11356.
- 39. Lin, P.-C.; Ueng, S.-H.; Yu, S.-C.; Jan, M.-D.; Adak, A. K.; Yu, C.-C.; Lin, C.-C. *Org. Lett.* **2007**, *9*, 2131.
- 40. Binder, W. H.; Sachsenhofer, R.; Straif, C. J.; Zirbs, R. J. Mater. Chem. 2007, 17, 2131.
- 41. Yılmaz, Y.; Kasım Şener, M.; Erden, İ.; Avcıata, U. Polyhedron 2009, 28, 3419.

- 42. Ikawa, Y.; Harada, H.; Toganoh, M.; Furuta, H. *Bioorg. Medicinal Chem. Lett.* **2009**, *19*, 2448.
- 43. Juríček, M.; Kouwer, P. H. J.; Rehák, J.; Sly, J.; Rowan, A. E. J. Org. Chem. 2008, 74, 21.
- 44. Yoshiyama, H.; Shibata, N.; Sato, T.; Nakamura, S.; Toru, T. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2008**, *6*, 4498.
- 45. Yoshiyama, H.; Shibata, N.; Sato, T.; Nakamura, S.; Toru, T. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2009**, *7*, 2265.
- 46. Chen, X.; Thomas, J.; Gangopadhyay, P.; Norwood, R. A.; Peyghambarian, N.; McGrath, D. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 13840.
- Campidelli, S. p.; Ballesteros, B.; Filoramo, A.; Díaz, D. D. a.; de la Torre, G.; Torres, T. s.; Rahman, G. M. A.; Ehli, C.; Kiessling, D.; Werner, F.; Sgobba, V.; Guldi, D. M.; Cioffi, C.; Prato, M.; Bourgoin, J.-P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 11503.
- 48. Kumar, S.; Pal, S. K. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 4127.
- 49. Keller-Griffith, R.; Ringsdorf, H.; Vierengel, A. Colloid Polym. Sci. 1986, 264, 924.
- 50. Van Nostrum, C. F.; Nolte, R. J. M. Chem. Commun. 1996, 2385.
- 51. Prasad, R.; Kumar, A. Transition Met. Chem. 2004, 29, 714.
- Belviso, S.; Giugliano, A.; Amati, M.; Ricciardi, G.; Lelj, F.; Monsu Scolaro, L. Dalton Trans.
 2004, 305.
- 53. Imamura, T.; Fukushima, K. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2000, 198, 133.
- 54. Nagao, K. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2002, 227, 129.
- 55. Purrello, R.; Gurrieri, S.; Lauceri, R. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1999, 190-192, 683.
- 56. Cook, A. H.; Linstead, R. P. J. Chem. Soc. 1937, 929.
- 57. Linstead, R. P.; Whalley, M. J. Chem. Soc. 1952, 4839.
- 58. Kobayashi, N. In *Phthalocyanines: Properties and Application.* Lever, A. B. P., Ed. VCH Publishers: NY, **1993**, 2, pp 97-195.
- 59. Oliver, S. W.; Smith, T. D. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1987, 1579.
- 60. Snow, A. W.; Barger, W. R., In *Pthalocyanines :Properties and Applications*, Lenzoff, C. C.; Lever, A. B. P., Ed. VCH Publishers: NY, **1989**, p 341.
- 61. Doppelt, P.; Huille, S. New J. Chem. 1990, 14, 607.
- 62. Morelli, G.; Ricciardi, G.; Roviello, A. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1991, 185, 468.
- 63. Lelj, F.; Morelli, G.; Ricciardi, G.; Roviello, A.; Sirigu, A. Liq. Cryst. 1992, 12, 941.

- 64. Schramm, C. J.; Hoffman, B. M. Inorg. Chem. 1980, 19, 383.
- 65. Dye, D. F.; Raghavachari, K.; Zaleski, J. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 2008, 361, 1177.
- 66. Bonosi, F.; Ricciardi, G.; Lelj, F.; Martini, G. Thin Solid Films 1994, 243, 335.
- 67. Eichhorn, S. H.; Bruce, D. W.; Guillon, D.; Gallani, J.-L.; Fischer, T.; Stumpe, J.; Geue, T. J. *Mater. Chem.* **2001**, *11*, 1576.
- 68. Belviso, S.; Ricciardi, G.; Lelj, F. J. Mater. Chem. 2000, 10, 297.
- 69. Belviso, S.; Amati, M.; Bonis, M. D.; Lelj, F. Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst. 2008, 481, 56.
- 70. Ohta, K.; Watanabe, T.; Hasebe, H.; Morizumi, Y.; Fujimoto, T.; Yamamoto, I.; Lelièvre, D.; Simon, J. *Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst.* 1991, 196, 13.
- 71. Ohta, K.; Azumane, S.; Kawahara, W.; Kobayashi, N.; Yamamoto, I. *J. Mater. Chem.* **1999**, *9*, 2313.
- 72. Ichihara, M.; Miida, M.; Mohr, B.; Ohta, K. J. Porphyrins Phthalocyanines 2006, 10, 1145.
- 73. Fernández, O.; de la Torre, G.; Fernández-Lázaro, F.; Barberá, J.; Torres, T. *Chem. Mater.* **1997**, *9*, 3017.
- 74. Gouterman, M.; Holten, D.; Lieberman, E. Chem. Phys. 1977, 25, 139.
- 75. Schaffer, A. M.; Gouterman, M.; Davidson, E. R. Theor. Chim. Acta. 1973, 30, 9.
- 76. Demko, Z. P.; Sharpless, K. B. Org. Lett. 2001, 3, 4091.
- 77. Bundy, G. L.; Lin, C. H.; Sih, J. C. Tetrahedron 1981, 37, 4419.

5 Chapter 5: Chromonics and Ionic Discotic Liquid Crystals

5.1 Overview

Most known discotic liquid crystals (DLCs) are neutral compounds that show thermotropic mesomorphism and in some cases also lyotropic mesomorphism in organic solvents. The number of reported ionic discotic liquid crystals is small and most of them display conventional thermotropic columnar mesophases when substituted with aliphatic side-chains. However, a special class of these compounds only exhibit lyotropic mesomorphism and was given the name chromonics because their lyotropic mesophases differ from those of surfactants. Chromonics do not have a critical micelle concentration and do not form micellar, lamellar, cubic and cylindrical structures typically found in surfactant solutions depending on concentration and temperature.¹⁻⁵ Instead, chromonics aggregate into columnar stacks and the lengths of these stacks increases continuously with increasing concentration.



Figure 5-1: Examples of known chromonic molecules ⁵

Molecules that form chromonic phases have ionic or easily ionizable groups (e.g. sulfonic acid) directly attached to a rigid aromatic core (Fig. 5.1). The overall shape of chromonics is either plank- or disc-like and may consist of several linked rigid cores. Due to this unique structure they are effectively insoluble in water in one dimension, which drives the formation of face-to-face stacks. These stacks can have only orientational order to generate a nematic lyotropic phase (N-phase) or they self-organize into higher ordered hexagonal columnar phase (M-phase).^{3,4} Both, N- and M-phases are illustrated in Fig. 2 but more complex structures than shown in Fig. 5.2 have also been proposed for certain chromonic phases but many aspects of chromonics have remained little explored, mainly because a commercially important application for chromonic mesophases has not yet been found. Chromonics have been successfully tested in various biosensors, optical compensators, micro patterned polarizing elements, and photoinduced liquid crystalline gratings.¹⁻⁴



Figure 5-2: N and M phases of chromonics.³

Most chromonic molecules contain no flexible side-chains or an insufficient number and length of side-chains for the introduction of thermotropic mesophases but the formation of chromonic mesophases is not limited to charged compounds. Some neutral polyaromatics have also been reported to display chromonic phases.³ Hydrogen bonding and dipolar interactions seem to play a vital role in their self-organization but their chromonic mesomorphism has not been studied in much detail.

lonic DLCs that form thermotropic mesophases usually have ionic groups that are peripherally attached to the central aromatic core *via* aliphatic spacers or contain aliphatic side-chains in addition to ionic groups (Fig. 5.3). Molecules that contain more than one ionic group are generally denoted as polyionic DLCs. Incorporation of aliphatic spacers for the attachment of ionic groups and/or aliphatic side-chains significantly lowers the melting points of ionic DLCs, which is essential for the introduction of thermotropic mesomorphism. Ionic DLCs that show thermotropic columnar mesomorphism include compounds based on crown ethers,⁷ tricycloquinazoline,⁸ 3,5-diaryl-1,2-dithiolium,⁹ 2,4,6-triarylpyrylium,^{10,11} and 2,4,6-triarylpyridinium moieties. Some of these compounds also form lyotropic columnar mesophases in aqueous solutions, which appear to have the same properties as chromonic N and M mesophases. In general, the mesomorphism of ionic DLCs is controlled by the type of core structure, the type, number, and length of attached side- and spacer-chains, the types of ionic groups, and the types of counter ions. Only few of the many synthetic options have yet been explored.



Figure 5-3:Examples of ionic discotic liquid crystals: 16) triphenylene-substituted imidazolium salts; ⁶ 17) benzo-15-crown-5 benzoate(6,7,9,10,12,13,15,16-octahydro-1,4,7,10,13-pentaoxabenzocyclopentadecen-2-ylmethyl 3, 4, 5-tris(p-dodecyloxybenzyl-oxy)benzoate) is complexed with NaCF₃SO₃ to form a mesophase;⁷

A possible application of ionic DLCs is their use as ion conductors that are important components, for example, in living cells and in batteries. Especially Kato's group has developed novel ionic liquid crystals that display 1-dimensional ion transport upon uniaxial alignment.¹²⁻¹⁵ Some of their dendritic or

wedge shaped ionic liquid crystals are shown in Fig. 5.4. These compounds self-organize into helical columnar stacks because of their wedge shape and microphase segregation between ionic head groups and aliphatic side-chains. Consequently, they should not be categorized as ionic DLCs but as ionic liquid crystals that form columnar mesophases. Several examples on the incorporation of ionic DLCs into supramolecular structures dictated by electrostatic interactions have been reported.



Figure 5-4: Ionic liquid crystals that form thermotropic mesophases of columnar structure¹²⁻¹⁵ For example, Müllen and co-workers have processed ionic DLCs together with polyelectrolytes. They have also demonstrated that ionic DLCs are amenable to electrostatic layer-by-layer deposition.^{16, 17}

5.2 Objective

The objective of this project is the expansion of previous work by Scott Dufour (Eichhorn group) on tetraazaporphyrins (TAPs) containing eight carboxylic acid groups by preparing TAPs with eight basic or cationic groups and studying especially the properties of 1:1 mixtures of acidic and basic or anionic and cationic TAPs (Fig. 5.5). A combination of TAPs **15a** and **14a** or TAPs **14b** and **15b** is expected to enhance self-organization into novel lyotropic columnar mesophases in aqueous solution. The pure TAPs may also show thermotropic mesomorphism if the aliphatic spacer is sufficiently long. Other interesting

possibilities of processing these compounds is their surface coating by electrostatic layer-by-layer deposition or by alternating deposition of acidic and basic TAPs as LB monolayers.

We have chosen the TAP core because of its well documented attractive chemical and physical properties, which we have already discussed in Chapter 4. Shown here is the preparation of octasubstituted metallated and metal-free TAPs that contain imidazole or methyl imidazolium terminal groups, which are linked to the central TAP core *via* alkyl spacers of different chain lengths.



Figure 5-5: Electrostatic and LB Deposition of Polyionic TAPs. Cartoons of A. formation of monolayers B. alternating deposition of acidic and basic TAPs (15b and 14b) by LB monolayers. C. electrostatic layer-by-layer deposition by combination of TAPs 15a and 14a or TAPs 14b and 15b.

A weak base (imidazole) and weak acid (carboxylic acid) was deliberately chosen because the average number of attached charges per TAP molecule can be controlled by simply varying the pH, which can be beneficial for electrostatic depositions as well as LB deposition.

5.3 Synthesis of octaimidazolium TAPs

5.3.1 Synthesis of (Z)-3,3'-(((1,2-dicyanoethene-1,2-diyl)bis(sulfanediyl))bis(octane-8,1-diyl))bis(1-methyl-1H-imidazol-3-ium) bromide 6a and 2,3-bis((11-(1Himidazol-1-yl)undecyl)thio)maleonitrile 6b

To synthesize the required side chain, we refluxed the mixture of excess dibromooctane **1** and methyl imidazole in toluene but unfortunately this reaction yielded inseparable gelatinous liquid mixture of **2** and **3**.

Following a different synthetic route, a methanolic solution of maleodinitrile **4** was added drop wise to a solution of **1**,8-dibromooctane **3** in methanol to ensure an excess amount of **3** at all times (typically five equivalent with respect to maleodinitrile). Excess **3** was easily separated from product **5** by column chromatography using hexane as an eluent. Subsequently compound **5** was refluxed with 3.5 equivalent of methyl imidazole in toluene to give compound **6a**.

To prepare 2,3-bis((11-(1H-imidazol-1-yl)undecyl)thio)maleonitrile **6b**, the hydroxyl group of 11bromoundecan-1-ol **7** was converted to the corresponding tosylate derivative **8** and then substituted with imidazole in presence of sodium hydride in DMF to obtain compound **10**. Unfortunately, both the tosylate and the bromide appear to have similar reactivity towards the sodium imidazolate salt compounds **9** and **11** are generated as side products. (Scheme 5.1)



Scheme 5.1: Reaction of methyl imidazole with dibromo octane.

A better synthetic route starts with the alkylation of imidazole with 11-bromoundecan-1-ol **7** to afford compound **12** in 80% yield. The subsequent bromination of the hydxoyl group of **12** only afforded less than 10 % yield of the brominated derivative **9** but mesylation with 0.9 equivalents of methanesulfonyl chloride (MsCl) with respect to **12** generated compound **13** in 80% yield. Excess amount of MsCl was avoided to not mesylate the second N of imidazole. Finally, compound **13** was reacted with maleodinitrile **4** to give compound **6b** in 55% yield.

5.4 Synthesis of octa imidazole TAPs

Cyclo tetramerization of compounds **6a** and **6b** in magnesium propanolate/propanol successfully generated the corresponding MgTAP derivatives. Demetallation and metallation with Cu(II) were

conducted by following the same methods as described for octaazide and octaacetylene TAP derivatives in Chapter 4.



Scheme 5.2: Preparation of octa imidazole and imidazolium TAPs.

5.5 Conclusions and Future Work:

Cyclization to TAPs was successful for both maleodinitrile derivatives **6a** and **6b** containing methylimidazolium (cationic) and imidazolium (neutral) terminal groups, respectively. The formation of the TAP ring is unequivocally confirmed by its characteristic UV-VIS spectra but purification and characterization of these TAPs has not been completed. Chromatographic purification is complicated by

the low solubility of both **14a** and **14b** in common solvents and solution NMR spectra have not been conclusive because of substantial signal broadening due to strong aggregation at room temperature and at elevated temperature (60°C). Both, purification and characterization will have to be successfully completed before materials properties can be reasonably investigated.

5.6 Experimental

5.6.1 Synthesis of 2,3-bis((8-bromooctyl)thio)maleonitrile 5



To stirred solution of 1, 8-dibromooctane (4.95 mL, 7.304 g, 26.85 mmol) and NaI (402 mg, 2.65 mmol) in 100mL of MeOH, maleodinitrile (1 g, 5.37 mmol) in 10mL MeOH was added at 0.5 mL per minute at ambient temperature. After the addition of Maleodinitrile was complete, the reaction mixture was kept stirring at ambient temperature for 24 hrs. MeOH was removed under reduced pressure, 100mL dicholoromethane was added and mixture was filtered. Dichloromethane solution was concentrated and passed through silica gel column using dichloromethane: Hexanes (1:1) mixture as an eluent to give 2,3-bis((8-bromooctyl)thio)maleonitrile **5** (1.690 g, 60%) as a yellow liquid.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ):1.2-1.5 (m, 16H), 1.71 (p, J=7.8Hz, 4H), 1.86 (p, J=6.9Hz, 4H), 3.12 (p, J=6.9Hz, 4H), 3.41(t, J=6.9Hz, 4H)

 ^{13}C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 26.76, 28.88, 29.20, 29.31, 29.49, 30.59, 35.37, 51.50, 140.71, 153.22.

MS [HRCI] (m/z): Theoretical: 522.0374; Found: 522.0392.

5.6.2 Synthesis of (Z)-3,3'-(((1,2-dicyanoethene-1,2-diyl)bis(sulfanediyl))bis(octane-8,1-diyl))bis(1-methyl-4,5-dihydro-1H-imidazol-3-ium) bromide 6a



150

To stirred solution of 2, 3-bis ((8-bromooctyl)thio)maleonitrile (1.6 g, 2.86 mmol) in 100 mL toluene 1-methyl imidazole (0.8 mL, 822 mg, 10 mmol) was added and the mixture was refluxed under nitrogen atmosphere for 8 hrs. (Z)-3,3'-(((1,2-dicyanoethene-1,2-diyl)bis(sulfanediyl))bis(octane-8,1-diyl))bis(1-methyl-4,5-dihydro-1H-imidazol-3-ium) bromide was phase separated from the toluene solution. The toulene layer was decanted and crude **6** was washed with toluene (3 X 20 mL) to get pure (Z)-3,3'-(((1,2-dicyanoethene-1,2-diyl))bis(sulfanediyl)))bis(1-methyl-4,5-dihydro-1H-imidazol-3-ium) bromide solution. The toulene layer was decanted and crude **6** was washed with toluene (3 X 20 mL) to get pure (Z)-3,3'-(((1,2-dicyanoethene-1,2-diyl))bis(sulfanediyl)))bis(octane-8,1-diyl))bis(1-methyl-4,5-dihydro-1H-imidazol-3-ium) bromide **6a** (1.486 g, 70%) as a thick yellow liquid.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.10-1.34 (m, 20H), 1.61-1.63 (m, 4H), 1.76-1.78 (m, 4H), 3.84 (s, 6H), 4.14 (t , J=7.2Hz, 4H), 7.70 (s, 2H), 7.76 (s, 2H), 9.12 (s, 2H)

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 25.89, 28.21, 28.66, 29.68, 30.00, 29.83, 34.78, 36.27, 49.23, 112.89,
 121.34, 122.77, 124.12, 136.99.

MS [HR-MALDI] (m/z): Theoretical: 507.2249; Found: 507.2250.

5.6.3 Synthesis of 11-(1H-imidazol-1-yl)undecan-1-ol 12

To a stirred solution of imidazole (1 g, 14.69 mmol) in 100mL DMF, 60% NaH in mineral oil (588 mg, 14.69 mmol) was added at room temperature under nitrogen atmosphere. The mixture was kept stirring until it became clear. To this 11-bromoundecan-1-ol (3.015 g, 12mmol) in 10 mL DMF was added drop wise under nitrogen atmosphere and mixture was heated to 100° C for 8 hrs. The mixture was treated with 10% Na₂CO₃ (200 mL) and extracted with ethyl acetate (3 X 100 mL), combined organic layer was washed with water(3 X 100 mL), dried using anhydrous MgSO₄, concentrated under vacuum. Crude

product was passed through neutral alumina column using dicholormethane:hexanes (1:1) mixture to get pure 11-(1H-imidazol-1-yl)undecan-1-ol **12** (2.288 g, 80%) as a white solid.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.29-1.39 (m, 14H), 1.58 (t, J= 7.2 Hz, 1H), 1.77-1.81 (m, 4H), 3.66 (t, J= 6.6 Hz, 2H), 3.95 (t, J= 6.9 Hz, 2H), 6.93 (s, 1H), 7.08 (s, 1H), 7.49 (s, 1H).

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ):19.68, 25.80, 26.55, 29.04, 29.41, 29.54, 31.12, 32.90, 40.12, 47.15, 63.10, 118.90, 129.45, 137.22.

MS [HRCI] (m/z): Theoretical: 238.2045; Found: 238.2052.

5.6.4 Synthesis of 11-(1H-imidazol-1-yl)undecyl methanesulfonate 13



To a stirred solution of 11-(1H-imidazol-1-yl)undecan-1-ol (1.907 g, 8 mmol) and triethylamine (2.09 mL, 1.518 g, 15 mmol) in 100 mL diethyl ether at 0°C under nitrogen atmosphere, Methanesulfonyl chloride (0.56 mL, 823 mg, 7.2 mmol) was added drop wise. The mixture was kept stirring for 5hrs at 0°C. To this mixture 100 mL water was added followed by dropwise addition of 5(M) HCl solution to make pH~7. The mixture was extracted with ethylacetate (3 X 100 mL); combined organic layer was dried using MgSO₄, concentrated under reduced pressure. The crude product was purified by flash chromatography on neutral alumina using dichloromethane:hexanes (1:1) mixture to give 11-(1H-imidazol-1-yl)undecyl methanesulfonate **13** (2.051 g, 90%) as a white solid .

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.37-1.39 (m, 6H), 1.70-1.78 (m, 12H), 3.01 (s, 3H), 3.94 (t, J=6Hz, 2H), 4.22 (t, J=6.6Hz, 2H), 6.92 (s, 1H), 7.08 (s, 1H), 7.55 (s, 1H)

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 22.71, 25.83, 26.02, 28.91, 29.23, 29.70, 30.19, 30.19, 30.28, 39.61, 46.08,
62.62, 122.15, 122.47, 137.27.

5.6.5 Synthesis of 2,3-bis((11-(1H-imidazol-1-yl)undecyl)thio)maleonitrile 6b



To a stirred solution of 11-(1H-imidazol-1-yl)undecyl methanesulfonate (2 g, 6.32 mmol) in 100 mL of MeOH, maleodinitrile (558 mg, 3 mmol) was added under nitrogen atmosphere at room temperature. The mixture was kept stirring for 15 hrs. The MeOH was removed under vacuum; 100 mL dichloromethane was added and the mixture filtered and concentrated under vacuum. The crude product was purified column chromatography by on neutral alumina using dichloromethane:hexanes(1:1) mixture to give 2,3-bis((11-(1H-imidazol-1-yl)undecyl)thio)maleonitrile 6b (962 mg, 55%) as a thick yellow liquid.

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 1.1-2.20 (m, 28H), 2.22 (t, J =7.02 Hz, 4H), 3.27-3.49 (m, 4H), 3.27-3.49 (m, 4H), 4.16- 4.53 (m, 4H), 7.51-7.56 (m, 4H), 7.69- 7.74 (m, 2H)

¹³C NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃, δ): 26.45, 28.95, 29.17, 29.28, 29.38, 30.15, 30.99, 32.88, 35.03, 47.03, 62.28, 112.14, 118.84, 122.34, 129.12, 137.04.

MS [HR-MALDI] (m/z): Theoretical: 538.3616; Found: 583.3612.

5.6.6 Synthesis of TAPs



Mg powder (24.6 mg, 1 mmol) and 5 mg of iodine crystals were refluxed overnight in 50 mL of dry propan-1-ol under nitrogen until all Mg is reacted to Mg (II) propanolate. Maleodinitrile **6a** (2.754 g, 4 mmol) or **6b** (2.338 g, 4 mmol) was added and the suspension was heated at reflux for another 24 hrs. The resulting greenish-blue suspension was cooled to room temperature, filtered and the filter residue was washed with methanol. All alcohol extracts were combined, evaporated, and the residual Mg containing crude TAP was stirred in a mixture of 50 mL acetic acid and 10 mL methanol at 80 °C for 8 hrs to generate the metal-free TAP. Progress and completion of the demetallation was monitored by UV-VIS

spectroscopy. About 100 mL of water was added to the now purple solution and the product was extracted with H₂CCl₂ (3 x 100 mL), the combined organic layers were dried over anhydrous MgSO₄ and finally concentrated in vacuum. A partial purification was achieved by precipitation of the crude product from acetone solution by slow addition of a 2:1 mixture of methanol and water to obtain deep purple solid crude metal-free TAPs.

14aH (1.28g, 55%) UV/VIS (λ max in nm) MeOH, (ϵ / dm³ mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 355 (43000), 560 (20000), 640 (26010), 710 (31200).

14bH (1.65g, 60%) UV/VIS (λ max in nm) MeOH, (ϵ / dm³ mol⁻¹ cm⁻¹): 342 (44 000), 515 (19 500), 655 (26 560), 714 (33 210);

Crude ¹H NMR signals at 60 °C (300 MHz, D₂O, δ): 1.16 (br), 1.55 (br), 3.20 (s), 3.73(br), 7.31 (br), 8.30 (s).

Metal-free TAP **14aH** (1.378 g, 0.5mmol) or **14bH** (1.165 g, 0.5 mmol) was stirred in a solution of anhydrous copper(II) chloride (108 mg, 0.8 mmol) in 50 mL methanol at reflux for 5 hrs. Progress and completion of metallation was monitored by UV-VIS spectroscopy. Aqueous 5% ammonium chloride (100 mL) was added and the TAP was extracted with H₂CCl₂ (3 x 100 mL). The combined organic layers were extracted with water (2 x 100 mL), dried over anhydrous MgSO₄, and concentrated to obtain crude product as a deep blue solid.

14aCu Undecyl octa imidazolium tetraazaporphyrinato-copper (958 g, 80%), MS [HRMALDI] (m/z): Theoretical: 2393.3527 [M+H]⁺; Found: 2393.3533.

14bCu Octyl octa methyl imidazolium tetraazaporphyrinato-copper bromide (1.197 g, 85%)

References

- 1. Lydon, J. Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 2004, 8, 480.
- 2. Attwood, T. K.; Lydon, J. E.; Jones, F. Liq. Cryst. 1986, 1, 499.
- 3. Lydon, J. Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 1998, 3, 458.
- 4. de Melo Filho, A. A.; Laverde, A.; Fujiwara, F. Y. Langmuir 2003, 19, 1127.
- 5. Tam-Chang, S.-W.; Huang, L. Chem. Commun. 2008, 1957.
- 6. Kumar, S.; Pal, S. K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2005**, *46*, 4127.
- Percec, V.; Johansson, G.; Heck, J.; Ungarb, G.; Battyb, S. V. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1993, 1411.
- 8. Kadam, J.; Faul, C. F. J.; Scherf, U. Chem. Mater. 2004, 16, 3867.
- 9. Artzner, F.; Veber, M.; Clerc, M.; Levelut, A.-M. Liq. Cryst. 1997, 23, 27.
- 10. Veber, M.; Berruyer, G. Liq. Cryst. 2000, 27, 671.
- 11. Lagerwall, J. P. F.; Giesselmann, F. ChemPhysChem 2006, 7, 20.
- 12. Yoshio, M.; Ichikawa, T.; Shimura, H.; Kagata, T.; Hamasaki, A.; Mukai, T.; Ohno, H.; Kato, T. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **2007**, *80*, 1836.
- 13. Kato, T.; Mizoshita, N.; Kishimoto, K. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 38.
- 14. Yoshio, M.; Mukai, T.; Ohno, H.; Kato, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 994.
- 15. Kato, T.; Yasuda, T.; Kamikawa, Y.; Yoshio, M. Chem. Commun. 2009, 729.
- 16. Thunemann, A. F.; Ruppelt, D.; Burger, C.; Mullen, K. J. Mater. Chem. 2000, 10, 1325
- 17. F. Thunemann, A.; Ruppelt, D.; Ito, S.; Mullen, K. J. Mater. Chem. 1999, 9, 1055.
6 Chapter 6: Conclusions and Future Work

In this thesis several novel discotic molecules were prepared. A viable synthetic pathway to heptamer ester **18a** and heptamer amide **18b** has been developed but purification was successful only for the heptamer ester. Heptamer amide was more difficult to purify because of its H-bonding amide groups and decomposition products of triphenylene **25**. Most promising for further purification is the use of GPC stationary phases with smaller exclusion volumes while chromatographic separations on silica are limited by the strong aggregation of **18b**. Furthermore, the structures of **18a** and **18b** must be confirmed by MS and EA measurements before their mesomorphism is studied by polarized optical microscopy, thermal analysis, X-ray diffraction, and variable temperature UV-Vis and IR spectroscopy. (Chapter 2)

In chapter 3, two main synthetic route for the preparation of hexa(thiophenylalkyl)benzenes **24** were developed. First one is [2+2+2] cyclotrimerization of di(thiophenylalkyl)acetylenes **8** and second one is the hexa Sonogoshira coupling of **22** to hexabromo benzene. Initial difficulties with the synthesis of the precursor di(thiophenylalkyl)acetylenes **8** have been overcome but the yields of some of the steps must certainly be improved if larger scale preparations are necessary.

Many other catalysts (e. g. $CpCo-\eta^4$ -cyclooctadiene complex) could be tested for the [2+2+2] cyclotrimerization but it is unclear to us what modifications to the catalyst system may be most promising. In contrast, not all reported cross-coupling conditions for the hexa Sonogashira reaction with hexabromobenzene have yet been tested by us because of time constrains. For example the catalyst system 4 mol% PdCl₂(CH₃CN)₂ and 8 mol% X-Phos has been successfully employed in hexa Sonogoshira coupling reactions. Another reported synthetic route to hexa-alkynyl substituted benzenes uses the zinc chloride salts of acetylenes and their Pd(PPh₃)₄ catalyzed cross-coupling to hexabromobenzene

157

generates the hexa-substituted product in a reasonable yield of 60%. An example synthetic pathway for the preparation of **24d** is given in Scheme 6.1.



Scheme 6.1: Proposed synthesis of 24d Reaction conditions: a. nBuLi, ZnCl₂; b. Pd(PPh₃)₄, Et₃N, CuI, THF, refl. c. H₂, 10% Pd/C, EtOAc, rt. ; d. 4 mol % PdCl₂(CH₃CN)₂, 8 mol % X-Phos, 3 mol CuI , (*i*Pr)₂ HN, dioxane, 80°C.

Described in chapter 4 are the synthesis and properties of two new sets of TAPs that contain either eight alkyl azide or eight alkynyl groups. Their thermal stability was at least 80 °C lower than for analogous alkenyl substituted TAPs and decreases with decreasing spacer length. Only few of the TAPs with shorter alkyl spacers display columnar mesophases but, surprisingly, include the metal-free derivative **17aH**. Mixtures of azide and alkyne TAPs can be cross-linked *via* CuAAC in Langmuir films and as thin films to generate insoluble polymers. It was also shown that a 1:1 mixture of a discotic TAPs **16aCu** and **17aCu** can be cross-linked by thermally activated azide-alkyne cycloaddition in their columnar mesophases and without significantly affecting the hexagonal columnar mesophase. However, more systematic studies are required to probe the full scopes of thermally activated and CuAAC catalyzedcross-linking of these materials in thin films and mesophases.

In chapter 5, successful cyclization to TAPs for both maleodinitrile derivatives **6a** or **6b** containing methylimidazolium (cationic) or imidazolium (neutral) terminal groups was performed. The formation of the TAP ring was clearly established by its characteristic UV-VIS spectra but purification and 158

characterization of these TAPs has not been completed. Chromatographic purification was complicated by the low solubility of both **14a** and **14b** in common solvents and solution NMR spectra have not been conclusive because of substantial signal broadening due to strong aggregation at room temperature and at elevated temperature (60°C). Both purification and characterization will have to be successfully completed before materials properties can be reasonably investigated.

Appendix

Chemicals

All reagents and solvents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and Fluka Chemical Companies and used as purchased unless otherwise stated. Drying agents (MgSO₄ as well as 3 Å and 4 Å molecular sieves) were purchased from VWR. 1-Propanol and methanol were dried over 4 Å and 3 Å molecular sieves, resepctively. Tetrahydrofuran and diethyl ether were obtained from a solvent purification system (Innovative Technology Inc. MA, USA, Pure-Solv 400). Silica gel 60 (35-70mesh ASTM, from EM Science, Germany) was used for column chromatography and Silica Gel 60 aluminum backed sheets (EM Science, Germany) for thin layer chromatography.

Instrumentation

¹H-NMR & ¹³C-NMR spectra were obtained on Bruker NMR spectrometers (DRX 500 MHz,DPX 300 MHz and DPX 300 MHz with auto-tune). The residual proton signal of deuterated chloroform (CDCl₃) functioned as a reference signal. Multiplicities of the peaks are given as s = singlet, d = doublet, t = triplet, and m = multiplet. Coupling constants are given in Hz and only calculated for 1st-order systems. Data are presented in the following order (multiplicity, coupling constant, integration). Fourier Transform Infrared spectra (FT-IR) were obtained on a Bruker Vector 22. Relative peak intensities in IR are abbreviated as vs = very strong, s = strong, m= medium, w = weak, br = broad. Liquid samples were performed as films on potassium bromide plates and solid samples were run as potassium bromide pellets. Mass spectrometry measurements were performed by Kirk Green at the Regional Center for Mass Spectrometry (McMaster University) and Jiaxi Wang at the Mass Spectrometry and Proteomics Unit (Queen's University). UV/VIS absorption spectra were run on a Varian Cary 50 Conc UV-Visible Spectrophotometer.

Polarized light microscopy was performed on an Olympus TPM51 polarized light microscope that is equipped with a Linkam variable temperature stage HCS410 and digital photographic imaging system (DITO1). Calorimetric studies were conducted on a Mettler Toledo DSC 822^e and thermal gravimetric analysis was performed on a Mettler Toledo TGA SDTA 851e. Helium (99.99%) was used to purge the system at a flow rate of 60 mL/min. Samples were held at 30 °C for 30 min before heated to 550 °C at a rate of 5 °C/min. All samples were run in aluminium crucibles. XRD measurements were run on a Bruker D8 Discover diffractometer equipped with a Hi-Star area detector and GADDS software package. The tube is operated at 40 kV and 40 mA and CuK α 1 radiation (λ =1.54187 Å) with an initial beam diameter of 0.5 mm is used. A modified Instec hot & cold stage HCS 402 operated *via* controllers STC 200 and LN2-P (for below ambient temperatures) was used for variable temperature XRD measurements.

Copyright Permissions



 Title:
 Self-organization of disc-like molecules: chemical aspects

 Author:
 Sandeep Kumar

 Publication:
 Chemical Society Reviews

 Publisher:
 Royal Society of Chemistry

 Date:
 Nov 21, 2005

 Copyright © 2005, Royal Society of Chemistry

Logged in as: Himadri Kaya Account #: 3000501986

LOGOUT

Review Order

Please review the order details and the associated terms and conditions.

Licensed content publisher	Royal Society of Chemistry
Licensed content publication	Chemical Society Reviews
Licensed content title	Self-organization of disc-like molecules: chemical aspects
Licensed content author	Sandeep Kumar
Licensed content date	Nov 21, 2005
Volume number	35
Issue number	1
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/educational
Portion	figures/tables/images
Number of figures/tables/images	2
Distribution quantity	1
Format	print and electronic
Will you be translating?	no
Order reference number	
Title of the thesis/dissertation	Design and Synthesis of Novel Discotic Liquid Crystals
Expected completion date	Mar 2012
Estimated size	160
Total	288.00 USD

22/02/2012 Rightslink® by Copyright Clearance Center Copyright RightsLink Account Info Clearance Home Help Center ACS Publications Title: Discotic Liquid Crystals for Logged in as: igh quality. High impact. Opto-Electronic Applications^{†‡} Himadri Kaya Author: Bilal R. Kaafarani* Account #: 3000501986 Publication: Chemistry of Materials LOGOUT Publisher: American Chemical Society Feb 1, 2011 Date: Copyright @ 2011, American Chemical Society

PERMISSION/LICENSE IS GRANTED FOR YOUR ORDER AT NO CHARGE

This type of permission/license, instead of the standard Terms & Conditions, is sent to you because no fee is being charged for your order. Please note the following:

- Permission is granted for your request in both print and electronic formats.
- If figures and/or tables were requested, they may be adapted or used in part.
- Please print this page for your records and send a copy of it to your publisher/graduate school.
- Appropriate credit for the requested material should be given as follows: "Reprinted (adapted)
 with permission from (COMPLETE REFERENCE CITATION). Copyright (YEAR) American
 Chemical Society." Insert appropriate information in place of the capitalized words.
- One-time permission is granted only for the use specified in your request. No additional uses are
 granted (such as derivative works or other editions). For any other uses, please submit a new
 request.



RightsLink





Title:	Chromonic liquid crystals: properties and applications as functional materials	
Author:	Suk-Wah Tam-Chang,Liming Huang	
Publication:	Chemical Communications (Cambridge)	
Publisher:	Royal Society of Chemistry	
Date:	Jan 7, 2008	
Copyright © 2008, Royal Society of Chemistry		

Logged in as: Himadri Kaya Account #: 3000501986

LOGOUT

Review Order

Please review the order details and the associated terms and conditions.

Licensed content publisher	Royal Society of Chemistry
Licensed content publication	Chemical Communications (Cambridge)
Licensed content title	Chromonic liquid crystals: properties and applications as functional materials
Licensed content author	Suk-Wah Tam-Chang,Liming Huang
Licensed content date	Jan 7, 2008
Issue number	17
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	non-commercial (non-profit)
Portion	figures/tables/images
Number of figures/tables/images	1
Distribution quantity	1
Format	print and electronic
Will you be translating?	no
Order reference number	
Title of the thesis/dissertation	Design and Synthesis of Nove Discotic Liquid Crysta s
Expected completion date	Mar 2012
Estimated size	170
Tota	144.00 USD

This is a License Agreement between Himadri Kayal ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the <u>payment terms</u> and <u>conditions</u>.

Get the printable license.

License Number	2854380855248
License date	Feb 22, 2012
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier
Licensed content publication	Current Opinion in Colloid & Interface Science
Licensed content title	Chromonic liquid crystal phases
Licensed content author	John Lydon
Licensed content date	October 1998
Licensed content volume number	3
Licensed content issue number	5
Number of pages	9
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Order reference number	
Title of your thesis/dissertation	Design and Synthesis of Novel Discotic Liquid Crystals
Expected completion date	Mar 2012
Estimated size (number of pages)	170
Elsevier VAT number	GB 494 6272 12
Permissions price	0.00 USD
VAT/Local Sales Tax	0.0 USD / 0.0 GBP
Total	0,00 USD
	ORDER MORE CLOSE WINDOW

Copyright © 2012 <u>Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.</u> All Rights Reserved. <u>Privacy statement</u>. Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at <u>customercare@copyright.com</u>

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Vita Auctoris

Name: Himadri Sekhar Kayal

Place of Birth: Kolkata, West Bengal, India.

Education:

Ph.D. Chemistry Dept of Chemistry & Biochemistry, University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario, Canada, 2012.

MSc Chemistry Indian institute of Technology-Guwahati (IIT-G), Assam, India, 2006.

B.Sc.(Honours) Chemistry

Jadavpur University, Kolkata, India, 2004.

Work Experience:

Research Assistant

Dept. of Chemistry and Biochemistry, University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario, Canada, Sep 2006-Feb 2012.

Graduate Assistant

Dept of Chemistry and Biochemistry, University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario, Canada, Sep 2006-Dec 2011.

Honors and Awards:

- Graduate Teaching and Research Fellowship, University of Windsor, Ontario (2006-2011).
- 5th rank in the M. Sc., Indian Institute of Technology, Guwahati, India (2006).
- University Of Windsor Doctoral Tuition Scholarship for excellent grades.

Publications:

Published Papers

 Synthesis, mesomorphism and electronic properties of nonaflate and cyano-substituted pentyloxy and 3-methylbutyloxy triphenylenes. S. J. Mahoney, M. M. Ahmida, H. Kayal, N. Fox, Y. Shimizu and S. H. Eichhorn, J. Mater. Chem. 2009 (19,48) 9221–32.

Manuscripts in Preparation

- Mesomorphism of a Star-Shaped Heteroheptamer containing Triphenylene Ligands and a Hexaazatriphenylene Core, Himadri Kayal, Nicholas Fox, Anupama Adavelli, Stuart Mahoney and S. Holger Eichhorn, In Preparation for Chem. Commun.
- Cross-linking of Discotic Tetraazaporphyrin Dyes in 2 and 3 Dimensions by "Click" Chemistry, Himadri Kayal, Mohamed M. Ahmida, Iqbal Muhammad, Scott Dufour and S. Holger Eichhorn, In Preparation for J. Mater. Chem.
- Face- and Edge-On Orientations of Octa-Acid and -Alcohol Substituted Tetraazaporphyrins in Land LB-Monolayers, Mohamed Ahmida, Himadri Kayal, Scott Dufour, Hui-Sheng Li, Rolf Schmidt, Christine E. DeWolf and S. Holger Eichhorn, In Preparation for J. Mater. Chem.

Conferences (presenter in bold face)

Poster Presentations

- Synthesis of Star-Shaped Heptamers Based on Hexathiophene Substituted Benzene.**H. Kayal**, R.Laroque, S.H.Eichhorn. 92nd Canadian Chemistry Conference (CSC) 2009, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, May 30-June 03
- Synthesis and Materials properties trisubstituted Benzotrithiophenes**H. Kayal**, A. Demenev, S.H. Eichhorn.92nd Canadian Chemistry Conference (CSC) 2009, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, May 30-June 03
- Synthesis of Star Shaped Heptamers Based on Hexathiophene Substituted Benzene.**H. Kayal**, S.H. Eichhorn. 91st Canadian Chemistry Conference (CSC) 2008, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada, May 24-28
- Synthesis of Benzotrithiophenes as Potential Cores for Discotic Liquid Crystals.**H. Kayal**, A. Demenev, S.H.Eichhorn. 91st Canadian Chemistry Conference (CSC) 2008, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada, May 24-28
- Mesomorphism of Star Shaped HeteroHeptamer Containing Triphenylene Ligands and Hexaazatriphenylene Core. **H.Kayal** and S.H.Eichhorn. 94th Canadian Chemistry Conference (CSC) 2011, Montréal, Quebec, Canada, June 5-9

Oral Presentations

- Synthesis, Mesomorphism and Polymerization of Novel Tetraazaporphyrins and Phtalocyanines.
 H.Kayal, M.M.Ahmida, S.R.Dufour, S.H.Eichhorn. 94th Canadian Chemistry Conference (CSC) 2011, Montréal, Quebec, Canada, June 5-9
- *Mesomorphism and Electronic properties of Discotic Triphenylene andPhthalocyanine Derivatives.* M.M.Ahmida, S.Mahoney, H.Kayal, **S.H.Eichhorn**, B.Donnio,D.Guillon ,Y.Shimizu . 93rd Canadian Chemistry Conference (CSC) 2010, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, May 29-June 02

- Langmuir and Langmuir Blodgett Monolayers of Amphiphilic Tetraazaporphyrin Derivatives and Their Cross-linking. M.M.Ahmida, H.Kayal, S.Dufour, S.H.Eichhorn, R.Schmidt, C.Dewolf.94th Canadian Chemistry Conference (CSC) 2011, Montréal, Quebec, Canada, June 5-9
- A Combined Study of Mesomorphism,Optical and Electronic Properties of Donor-acceptor Columnar Liquid Crystals. S.H.Eichhorn, M.Ahmida, H.Kayal, **C.Shuai**, F.S. Raad, B. R. Kaafarani, S.Patwardhan , F.C.Grozema, L.D.A.Siebbleles. 94th Canadian Chemistry Conference **(CSC) 2011**, Montréal, Quebec, Canada, June 5-9
- A Combined Study of Mesomorphism, Optical, and Electronic Properties of Donor-Acceptor Columnar Liquid Crystals S. Holger Eichhorn, Shuai Chen, Mohamed Ahmida, Andrey Demenev, and Himadri Kayal, Farah S. Raad, Bilal R. Kaafarani, Sameer Patwardhan, Ferdinand C. Grozema, Laurens D. A. Siebbeles, Tyler Taerum, Dmitrii F. Perepichka, Richard Klenkler.Proc. SPIE 8114, 811402 (2011); doi:10.1117/12.893149